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Chairman’s Statement
TR EE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board") of directors (the “Director(s)") of Hailan
Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “Hailan Holdings”, together with its
subsidiaries, collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
audited financial results for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting
Period’).

In 2022, the international environment was tumultuous in the midst of the
pandemic and tremendous changes. The global economy faced an increasing
risk of stagnation, compounded by unexpected domestic factors such as
shrinking demand, supply shocks, pandemic resurgences, high temperatures,
and droughts, further intensifying downward pressure on the PRC economy. In
the real estate industry, the sector has peaked in size and profits continued to
decline, leading to sluggish performance with plummeting land and sales
markets. Property enterprises, facing high leverage ratios and approaching
debt maturities, were forced to lower prices to promote sales, which further
accelerated the decline in property prices. Consequently, market confidence
remained low. At a regional level, the Hainan Free Trade Port continued to
optimize its economic structure, achieving significant progress in economic
and social development. The expedited construction of the Hainan Free Trade
Port has also supported the steady improvement in the quality of economic
development.

During the Reporting Period, the contracted sales of the Group amounted to
RMB1,839.5 million, representing an increase of approximately 22.6% as
compared to 2021. The contracted saleable gross floor area ("GFA") was
approximately 121,326.6 square metres (“sq.m.”), representing an increase of
approximately 21.3% from 2021. The contracted average selling price ("“ASP”)
was about RMB15,161.6 per sq.m., representing an increase of approximately
1.1% over 2021. The increase in contracted sales and contracted saleable GFA
was mainly due to an increase in the Group's properties available for sale in
2022.

EHRBRR

RABRREBELBRABR A ([ERQT|R[E
BEER EREMBARSAE I AEEDE
F(EEN2((EEE ) RARREEHZ 2022
F1ANBILEFER|EYB ) 2 EFZHB

02%  HAARIBRAFERIM - HRERER
RERE - EREFEBRRER A - BAFER
Wie  HeEE  RERELES 28RS
BEMEAEZERAR  RELE NTEDM
Ko fI%TE  BHETRMEETE  FERE
BT TEINEERGREDS - LTSN
EMSHEATE FEEFNERXES
EFHREN - B iHE O R R B -
MEFEE T mHEMITE - RETHE -
BEEEARERAERERL KELERR
HUSEARRRR - BEBEHEZEINRER @ &
BRREEIRPIRTT

RMEHR > AEEAYNHEBEEARY
1,8395 F 85 7T BI2021 FE I AN 49226% ° & £
HEZEmE((BEEED N A1213266F
KFAK]) - 82021 FIBINLI213% © &4
HENE(HEYMED BT RHOARE
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Chairman’s Statement
TR EE

In 2023, the National People’s Congress and Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference have signaled a positive outlook by announcing a
series of measures aimed at further opening up, attracting foreign investment,
stimulating domestic demand, and promoting economic development. To this
end, a gross domestic product ("“GDP") growth target of 5% has been set for
2023. The Group will continue to concentrate on projects in Hainan Province
while actively preparing to achieve the objective of establishing a closed
operation system in Hainan by the end of 2025. The Group will take advantage
of the favorable policies to strive for high-quality development.

To further foster the continuous development of the Group, we will operate
steadily by leveraging our existing advantages to enhance our product and
service capabilities and improve our brand competitiveness. While continuing
to cultivate the expanded regions, we are actively seeking to enter into new
regions nationwide, optimizing our metropolitan portfolio and focusing on
mainstream cities.

The management has formulated our future development plan. By establishing
our foothold in Hong Kong, delving into the PRC market, expanding the North
American market and spreading global footprints, the Group will further
promote its business development and create the best return for the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Finally, | would like to express my sincere gratitude on behalf of the Board to all

of our staff for their hard work, and my heartfelt thanks to investors, customers
and business partners for their strong and continuous support to the Group.

Zhou Li
Chairperson

31 March 2023
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Management Discussion and-Analysis

S A LA T

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall Performance

For the Reporting Period, the revenue and gross profit of the Group were

SE 15 ]
Bk

approximately RMB1,391.7 million and RMB436.7 million, representing an

increase of approximately 1.5 times and 45.7% as compared with 2021,

respectively. Loss attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company was

approximately RMB631.6 million as compared with profit attributable to the

MEBE - AEBNREREFS
130 7EB8 TR ARB4367EETT * 7
2021 FHINA 1565 K 457% ©
REGBEONAARKI6BEL MEAF

RIS A R REERRENENARK 1548

DRI B ANR
sl
PN/NEI L F g

X

equity shareholders of the Company of RMB15.4 million last year. Basic losses 7T « EABEAETRARE 2115 (2021 F -
were RMB211 cents per share (2021: basic earnings of RMB5 cents per share). EREABFBARESS) -
As at 31 December
M12A31H
Performance Highlights RERE 2022 2021 Changes
2022 F 20214 &
Contracted sales (RMB million)’ AHHEE(AREFTE L) 1,839.5 1,500.6 22.6%
Contracted saleable GFA (sq.m.)'? BHHEEEMB (FHK) 2 121,326.6 100,016.2 213%
Contracted ASP (RMB/sg.m.)'2 BRTFHEB(ARE TFHK)» 15,161.6 15,0035 1.1%
Revenue' (RMB million) W (ARBEHET) 1.5times
1,391.7 5576 1515
Among which: sales of properties Hep: % HE
— Revenue from properties delivered —ERMWERE(AREBETL) 1.5 times
(RMB million)’ 1,387.0 5529 1575
— GFA of properties delivered (sq.m.) — ERMNWEREERE(FHK) 7.2 times
114,657.3 139739 721E
— ASP of properties delivered (RMB/sq.m.) —BERNYMETIEE
(AR FHK) 11,510.8 39,566.6 -70.9%
Rental income (RMB million)® HEBMAAREBEL)® 4.7 46 22%
Losses on changes in fair value of REMERATEEHER

investment properties (RMB million) (AREBET) (31.6) (30.0) 5.3%
Impairment of net realisable value of properties  Z¢E R ¥ ¥ Al SIS ERE

under development (RMB million) (AREBET) (693.0) N/A 78
Gross profit (RMB million) ENAREEET) 436.7 299.7 457%
(Loss) Profit for the year FE(FHE)EH
— Attributable to owners (RMB million) —BEANEEAREGERL) (631.6) 154 N/A T8
— Attributable to non-controlling interests — R EREN (AREEET)

(RMB million) 3.8 (572)  NADERA
Total assets (RMB million) rEE(ANRBAET) 8,698.5 89257 -2.5%
Cash and bank balances (including cash and RehBITHE#(BEREMESE

cash equivalents and restricted cash) EY  UERRRHES)

(RMB million) (AR¥EBET) 1,078.1 907.8 18.8%
Total equity (RMB million) wREs(ARERET) 1,036.6 1,656.5 -264%
Key financial ratios TEHKLLE
Gross profit margin® ESp 31.4% 53.8% -224pp.

RAEABEDE
Gearing ratio® BEBEBR 175.2% 99.1% 76.1 p.p.

i HE P BT PR )

76.1 8 & D B

20224k
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Notes:

Pursuant to the agreement between the shareholders of Danzhou Shuanglian Property
Development Company Limited (‘Danzhou Shuanglian”), one of the former shareholders of
Danzhou Shuanglian shall continue to manage, develop and undertake fully the risk and
reward of Danzhou Phase | project (‘“Danzhou Phase I"). The acquisition of Danzhou
Shuanglian has been accounted for as a business combination with Danzhou Shuanglian fully
consolidated into our Group's consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
As the Group does not share any risks and rewards relating to Danzhou Phase | pursuant to
the abovementioned agreement, the net profit or loss and net assets or liabilities arising from
Danzhou Phase | are wholly attributable to the non-controlling interests in the Group's
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the
consolidated statements of changes in equity. Contracted sales of Danzhou Phase | is
excluded in this analysis for discussion purpose.

The calculation excludes the GFA of car parking spaces.

Rental income represents the amount of income after deduction of sales related taxes.

Gross profit margin: Gross profit + Revenue x 100%

Gearing ratio: Total bank and other borrowings + Total equity x 100%
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Management Discussion and-Analysis

S A LA T

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Contracted sales

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded contracted sales of

approximately RMB1,839.5 million, representing an increase of approximately
22.6% as compared with 2021. The contracted saleable GFA was 121,326.6
sg.m. in the Reporting Period, representing an increase of approximately 21.3%
year-on-year. The ASP of contracted sales was RMB15,161.6 per sgq.m.,

representing an increase of approximately 1.1% year-on-year.

The increase in contracted sales and contracted saleable GFA was mainly due

to the Group undertaking development projects in San Jose City in the United
States of America ("USA” or the “United States”) and Sanya City and Haikou
City of Hainan Province, Zhanjiang City and Foshan City of Guangdong

Province and Nanjing City of Jiangsu Province in the Reporting Period.

Y ES ik

a R

RERE NEBHSENHENARKE
18395 H B JT * B2021 F 1 hN4922.6% ° B 7R
HHIfE - AXEEREEER1213266FH
KoRFEINL213% c BHIEHEFHEESR
B AHKAREE5161670 © HELILI1.1% °

AHHERANHEEREEBEENEEZHARA
EEMARE BEEENRS RE ([XRE]) B
EMAEREZmEREON  BREMIH
REBILTART#HE MR mETHREIER -

For the year ended 31 December

BEZN2ANABLEE

2022 2021
20225 2021

Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted

GFA sales GFA sales

BREEEER BRHEE ANRERRE AHEE

Project City sq.m. RMB'million sg.m. RMB'million

EH W ¥rK AR¥EER Frx AR®BER

Zhanjiang City Binjianghua Fu Zhanjiang, PRC 39,104.3 240.5 44,4999 3166
DB 5% FEET

Sanya Phoenix Aqua City South Shore Sanya, PRC 21,879.2 864.4 17,240.8 700.0
=EREKEER PR =

Hailan Zhongtang Nanjing, PRC 20,572.9 204.6 14,7244 165.6
BETER FEEE

Jingzhuya Court Foshan, PRC 14,880.3 171.2 16,765.6 217
REMRE Rl

Hailan Rongjing Yuxi, PRC 13,816.3 79.2 - -
BERE PEEEZ

Danzhou Phoenix Shores Yue Hai Bay Danzhou, PRC 8,632.2 88.8 3,409.5 384
EMBERER . 1182 R M

Hamilton Sierra Vista San Jose, USA 2,377.0 189.4 - -

AALHEHTES - 1L S EEEE

Sanya Phoenix Aqua City Left Shore Sanya, PRC 64.4 1.4 - -
—EREKBEE PR =

Haikou Phoenix Aqua City Phase | Haikou, PRC - - 3,376.0 584
g OB EIK I — 5 FEE N

121,326.6 1,839.5 100,016.2 1,500.6

WEEARA T 20224 9



Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI i BT

REVENUE FROM SALES OF PROPERTIES

For the Reporting Period, the GFA of delivered properties increased to
114,657.3 sgq.m.,
compared with 2021, which was mainly due to properties being delivered by
the projects in the cities of Sanya and Haikou, Zhanjiang, Foshan, Nanjing in
the PRC and San Jose in the United States. The revenue from sales of properties
was approximately RMB1,387.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 1.5 times as compared with 2021 and accounting for 99.7% of
total revenue, which continued to be the main source of revenue and growth
momentum for the Group.

representing an increase of approximately 7.2 times as

Completed projects held for sale

Completed projects held for sale represents completed GFA remaining
undelivered at the end of each reporting period. At the year end, 99.6% of all
the completed GFA remaining undelivered was located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had completed property projects which
amounted to RMB1,914.6 million, representing an increase of 3.8 times as
compared with 2021.

The following table sets out a summary of the 6 principal completed projects
and project phases by projects as at 31 December 2022:

ES CEIEN
RBEHE EXNHMEZERBEEZMNE

1146573 F 730K - 82021 3G Ay 721% - %
EmRBE=0m&kgAM - HIH - #BL

W ERmEEEBAEMRENSRXNYE
el - MEHERSENRARKI1387088

TT B2V F NS (AR EAEEN
99.7% » A AR AKX 75 AN 55 B B O Wi ARUIR Ko 08
R#h -

FfEsi 8 O REH

%—irf’Ef%i’i E‘“ﬁJZIE 5] ?bﬁxiﬁiﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁiﬁ

B ERIESR o AR » 99.6% HY 215 K
xﬁﬂ’qaiémi @%t@umq::o

R202F 128318 REEEEERYWEE
B EZARK19146BEIT - 82021 FHIN38

A
N
<
f& o

TREFP2022F12 831 H 2 6@iLER 2
PHEBCRTIER MIEBEEAOBE :

Rental
Held For
Project Type/ Site GFA Saleable/ Saleable GFA Property  Ownership
Project Existing Use Project Address Area  Completed  Rental GFA  NotYetSold  Investment Interests
BRI HE/HE  RAEN  WERE
L BEER /RERE  EANY HEER BEER 2 REER HEEEER FEEE  BAEER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) %
(FHX) (¥5%)  (F5K) (Fa%)  (FAK) %
Sanya Phoenix Aqua Residential, Commercial, ~ No.9, Shuicheng Road, Tianya District, 278,849 1220254 879582 458608 - 100
City South Shore Parking Space Sanya City, Hainan Province, China
BB AR iz #% 2E EEME =R RERIGHE 9%
Haikou Phoenix Aqua Residential Tianmei Road, No. 286, Binhai Avenue, 38,8021 45,9880 342166 9441 - 100
City Phase | Xixiu Town, Xiuying District, Haikou City,
Hainan Province, China
BOREKE—H iz PEEEEBITARERAR
BIERIE 286 HREH
Zhanjiang City Residential, Commercial 11, Binhenan Road, Suicheng Town, 334847 936356 936356 57182 - 532
Binjianghua Fu Suixi County, Zhanjiang City,
Guangdong Province, China
ELEI-% i #% PEEREBIMFEGENE

BTEE N
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Management Discussion and-Analysis

BRI i BT

Rental
Held For
Project Type/ Site GFA Saleable/ Saleable GFA Property  Ownership
Project Existing Use Project Address Area  Completed  Rental GFA  NotYetSold  Investment Interests
BRI HE/HE  AHEN  DERE
EH BRER/BERE  EAMY HEER BEER  BEER HEEEER  FRES  BAEER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) %
(F5K) (FHK) (F5K) (FHK) (FHK) %
Jingzhuya Court Residential, Commercial ~ Angle Lot and No. 2 Lot, Wenhua Road, 119496 31,5329 28497.7 223520 - 2805
Shibu Resident Committee,
Longjiang Town, Shunde District,
Foshan City, China
SERR e fm¥ mERLTIRERETE

HEERENERR AR IR

Hailan Zhongtang Residential, Commercial ~ East of Baota Park, South of Baota Road, 255101 535705 527256 439068 - 60
Chunxi Street, Gaochun District,
Nanjing City, China

BERZ e ¥ TEBRT R R EAE
EERIE  BERERA

Hamilton Sierra Vista Residential Hamilton, 410 Sierra Vista Ave, 1,59.0 23770 16039 1039 - 75
America, CA94043
R AL Tz S8 410 Sierra Vista Ave LU S, »
(CA94043
Total GFA 390,191.7 349,1294 2986376 1188858 -
AT

WERRARAF 20224 11



Management Discussion and Analysis

S AR LA T

Projects held for future development and projects under
development

Projects held for future development and projects under development are
intended to be held for sale after completion. As at 31 December 2022, the
Group had 8 property projects under development which amounted to
RMB4,393.6 million, representing a decrease of 36.2% as compared with 2021.

During the Reporting Period, certain projects under development in the PRC
with carrying amounts of RMB2,035.7 million were written down by RMB693.0
million to their net realisable values in view of the decline in the expected unit
selling price based on the recent property market in Danzhou and Haikou
regions. The net realisable value of the properties under development was
estimated based on recent pre-sale prices and residual valuation approach.

At the ended of the Reporting Period, one property under development
project with gross carrying amount of RMB331.0 million and accumulated
write-down of RMB153.8 million had been transferred to construction in
progress within projects held for future development which was classified as
properties, plant and equipment upon the change in use.

The following table sets out a summary of the principal properties under
development, properties held for future development and project phases by
projects as at 31 December 2022:

FAAER AR BRI H M 5% b 3

BIERRERBEE NEREFYERRE TEE
{ESHE - R2022F 12 A31 0 AEEH 8 fEE
BHYEEE  EARBIZNBEETL &
2021 R 4 36.2% o

MRS R - BN T B E IS A EME
BT BTRARBREMNEE DR 2 3EREF
Y578 B BREE A A R 2,0357 8 & T AR
22U R FEAARKBIEE T - B#RP
MENREIRFEDREOHEESER REH
HEEEESERT -

RREPLEEH B —EAEEPMEEE R
HEAAREDBIIESETLKEFSBREAAR
IS sAETERENERERESEAY
¥ BERZERNZIFERRERNIEERNE
EIRE-

TRHINR2022F 12831 B Z2REEE D
FTEHERYE BIERRERMERIEE R
BHBE -

Rental
Expected GFA Held For
Project Type/ Completion Under GFA Property  Ownership
Project Existing Use Project Address Date SiteArea Development Pre-sold  Investment Interest
BEER/ BRH BRE  NERE
L REAR BR it BHATIES #HEER BEER  BEER  FRES  BAEER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) %
(FA%)  (FK)  (FAK)  (FEK) %
Sanya Phoenix Aqua City Residential, Commercial, ~ No.9, Shuicheng Road, Tianya District, 2024.12.30 2788492 302810.1 64903 - 100
South Shore Parking Space Sanya City, Hainan Province, China
“HRRKEER T #% B8 PESHE=STRERKEEKIR
Haikou LongYuen Hotel Hotel Tianmei Road, No. 286, Binhai Avenue, 2025.1231 61,769.2 76,8350 - - 100
Xixiu Town, Xiuying District, Haikou City,
Hainan Province, China
BOERERE il MEEHLENTARBRAR

BEARE B FREE
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BRI i BT

Rental
Expected GFA Held For
Project Type/ Completion Under GFA Property  Ownership
Project Existing Use Project Address Date Site Area  Development Presold  Investment Interest
BRER/ BES BHE  NERE
EH RERAR 18 B b3t BHRIRE HEER 2 BEEE  RBEEE  fREE  RAEER
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) %
(FHK) (F5K) (FHK) (FHK) %
Zhanjiang City Residential, Commercial ~ No. 11, Binhenan Road, Suicheng Town, 2023.1230 36,3321 08,375.2 54.206.2 - 532
Binjianghua Fu Suixi County, Zhanjiang City,
Guangdong Province, China
ELEL -5 iz &% PEEREBINMEEGENE
115
Jingzhuya Court Residential, Commercial ~ Angle Lot and No. 2 Lot, Wenhua Road, 2023.1230 10,1596 404898 113276 - 2805
Shibu Resident Committee,
Longjiang Town, Shunde District,
Foshan City, China
SERR iz &% mERLTIEERE I EEZE
NERRAMBRIER-
Hailan Zhongtang Residential, Commercial,  East of Baota Park, South of Baota Road, 2024.06.30 78500 15,166.1 21810 - 60
Parking Space Chunxi Street, Gaochun District,
Nanjing City, China
BERZ iz #% 88  FEDRTRIRTL4E
EERIE  BELERA
Hailan Rongjing Residential, Commercial, 129 Fuxian Road, High-tech Zone, 2023.1230 223719 933857.5 13,8163 - 70
Parking Space Yuxi City, Yunnan Province, China
BERE % #% 88  HEERLIETATRENREI20%
Danzhou Phoenix Shores Planningand applying 65 Regulatory Plan for the First and Planning 4122003 7304292 86322 - 9945
Yue Hai Bay for construction Second Cluster Area, Binhai New District,
Danzhou City, China
ENBEER - tiEE RERBHERT hEENEEHES 54 T
BRERHR S
Total GFA 8295323 1357,9629 96,6536 -
SREER
WEERARAE 20224 13
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PROPERTY INVESTMENTS
Rental income

The rental income of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted to
approximately RMB4.7 million, representing the income from the leasing of the
serviced apartments and car parking spaces located at Sanya Phoenix Aqua
City Left Shore and the shops located at Danzhou Phase | and the apartments
located at Long Beach City of California, the United States.

Investment properties

The investment properties of the Group represent the car parking spaces and
apartments held by the Group for rental purpose. As at 31 December 2022, the
carrying amount of investment properties was approximately RMB505.2
million, representing an increase of approximately 5.7 times as compared with
2021, mainly due to the project at Long Beach with approximately RMB488
million being transferred from completed properties during the Reporting
Period and a decrease in fair value by approximately RMB31.6 million.

Financial Review
n Revenue

Revenue of the Group is mainly derived from property development and
property investment. During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB1,391.7 million, representing an
increase of approximately 1.5 times as compared with 2021, primarily
due to the increase in the total GFA of properties delivered in the
Reporting Period.

(I) Cost of sales and gross profit

The cost of sales and gross profit of the Group was approximately
RMB955.0 million and RMB436.7 million respectively, representing an
increase of approximately 2.7 times and 45.7% as compared with 2021
respectively, mainly due to the increase in total GFA delivered during the
Reporting Period.

The drop of gross profits margin from 53.8% as at 31 December 2021 to

31.4% as at 31 December 2022 due to more completed properties with a
lower gross profit margin were sold in the Reporting Period.
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(1)

(v)

(\)

(Vi)

Selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately RMB75.4 million (2021: approximately
RMB67.6 million), mainly due to an increase in the expenses on sales
agent commission and sale staff cost.

Administrative expenses decreased by 8.8% to RMB109.3 million, mainly
due to a decrease in administration staff cost and PRC tax surcharge.

Finance costs, net

The net finance costs of the Group for the Reporting Period amounted
to approximately RMB18.9 million (2021: RMB26.4 million). The decrease
in net finance costs was mainly due to the decrease in the interest
expenses on bank and other borrowings due to the repayment during
the Reporting Period and no more provision made on the interest cost
on financial component of contract liabilities after completion of the
properties.

Income tax expenses

The income tax expenses of the Group increased by 15.9% to
approximately RMB153.0 million. Among which, the CIT and the LAT
amounted to approximately RMB41.3 million and RMB142.9 million,
respectively. The increase was mainly attributable to more operating
profit of certain subsidiaries generated from the sales of completed
projects being recorded during 2022.

Loss/profit attributable to owners of the Company

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Reporting Period
amounted to approximately RMB631.6 million (2021: profit of RMB15.4
million). In 2022, the increase in properties delivered resulted in higher
overall gross profit, but loss was recorded due to write-down of the
carrying value of properties under development to net realisable value.
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(VIl) Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2022, total assets of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB8,698.5 million (2021: approximately RMB8,925.7
million), of which current assets amounted to approximately RMB7,884.0
million (2021: approximately RMB8,759.5 million). Total liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB7,662.0 million (2021: approximately
RMB7,269.2 million), of which non-current liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB1,852.1 million (2021: approximately RMB1,660.3
million). Total equity amounted to approximately RMB1,036.6 million
(2021: approximately RMB1,656.5 million). Total equity attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to RMB921.2 million (2021:
approximately RMB1,469.6 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances
(including restricted cash) of approximately RMB1,078.1 million (2021:
approximately RMB907.8 million); while bank and other borrowings was
in the amount of approximately RMB1,815.9 million (2021: RMB1,640.9
million).

(VIII) Commitments

16

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had capital commitments
outstanding but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements which amounted to approximately RMB2,236.0 million (2021:
approximately RMB1,966.9 million).
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS AND
SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

(i)

(ii)

Transfer of equity interest in Danzhou Shuanglian

On 10 November 2022, Hailan Shiye (Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd* (8 8 & %
(& M)A BR 2 7)) (‘Hailan Shiye Guangzhou") (an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as vendor and Sanya
Zhongzekai Shiye Co, Ltd* (= 8 2 gl B ¥ B R A 7)) (‘Sanya
Zhongzekai") (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as
purchaser entered into the equity transfer agreement in relation to the
transfer of 9.7% of equity interest in Danzhou Shuanglian from Hailan
Shiye Guangzhou to Sanya Zhongzekai. The total consideration of
RMB105,410,000 payable by Sanya Zhongzekai to Hailan Shiye
Guangzhou for 9.7% of the equity interest in Danzhou Shuanglian. The
consideration was payable by Sanya Zhongzekai to Hailan Shiye
Guangzhou by way of setting off debt owed by Hailan Shiye Guangzhou
to Sanya Zhongzekai.

Upon completion of the equity transfer, the effective interest in Danzhou
Shuanglian owned by the Group would be increased to 98.908%.
Danzhou Shuanglian would continue to be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11
November 2022.

Disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary

On 10 November 2022, Hailan Shiye Guangzhou, Hailan Haoyue
Holdings (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd.* (BB /& BIE AR ORI B BR 2 &) (‘Hailan
Haoyue"), Jiangxi Hailan Hongji Real Estate Development Co,, Ltd.* (JT
TS E B EE I ER AR A A]) (Jiangxi Hailan”) entered into the
equity transfer agreement with Guangdong Youming Enterprise
Management Co, Ltd.* (BER B> EEIE G R A 7)) (the “Purchaser’)
and Mr. Zhong Xunyong (§Z 7|58 52 4 ) (as guarantor) in relation to the
disposal of the sale equity (i.e. 65% of equity interest in Jiangxi Hailan) by
Hailan Shiye Guangzhou and the transfer of the sale loan in the amount
of RMB39,210,171 to the Purchaser for a total consideration of
RMB39,210,172.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11
November 2022.

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other material acquisitions,
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and significant

investments during the Reporting Period.
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GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio (calculated by total debt divided by
total equity; total debt includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings)
was 175.2% (2021: 99.3%).

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS

The Group will continue to invest in property development projects and
acquire suitable land parcels in the PRC, Hong Kong, Southeast Asia and North
America, if the management thinks fit. It is expected that internal resources and
bank borrowings will be sufficient to meet the necessary funding requirements.
Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any future plans for
material investments as at the date of this report.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, taking into account of Danzhou Phase |, the Group
had 222 employees (as at 31 December 2021: 328 employees). For the
Reporting Period, the Group incurred employee costs of approximately
RMB56.0 million. The remuneration of the employees generally includes salary
and performance-based bonuses. According to the applicable PRC laws and
regulations, the Group participates in various employee benefit plans of the
municipal and provincial governments, including housing provident funds,
pension, medical, maternity, occupational injury and unemployment benefit
plans.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the restricted cash in amount of approximately
RMB434.9 million (2021: RMB375.7 million) was pledged for properties under
development. In addition, the carrying amount of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale in the amount of
approximately RMB2,392.2 million and RMB435.8 million (2021: RMB1,941.8
million and RMB79.1 million) respectively was pledged for bank and other
borrowings.

Furthermore, as at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of investment

properties in the amount of approximately RMB461.4 million (2021: Nil) was
pledged for the bank borrowings.

18 HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ErEAER

R2022F 128318 EEGGBR (REEEKR
AR E  BESBEIET B RITREME
) A1752% (2021 4F : 99.3%) °

HERBCE R R AT B

HWERERBEY  AEEHSBERENE
FEOEE RKERE B8 REZTRIEED
A - AHNEERRBITHE RN RN
RUBENESER - BAREABEEES - R
RSB AEEYEAFARKEARET

g -

& B I 5B EUR

R2022F 128318 &P REM—H K&
B4 EB(HR2021F 128318 :328%
BE) ALEBERBEHBMELEEXADHA
REscOBETL - BEEFH—REFEFERE
MRS BIBERANPEERRER - A5E
SHBEMRARENSBREERBAE - 2
BEEAES Bk BF BE - IBEK
KERFIFE -

& L

R2022F 128318 ERTMEEBENT
RHIBESWARK43490B BT (2021F - AR
#3757 BETT) o WA BREED BIHARE
2322 BB TR ARKE4358F & 71 (2021 F ¢
ARBIONSEETLREARKOIBEETL)W
BRPYERBIELENE ENMEDFIRTT
K E A EFIEHA -

AN 72022912 A318  BREEOARE
461 4B ETTQONF  B)NEEMEERE
ITHEFERI -



Management Discussion and Analysis

B B L A

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. The Group's functional currency and the
currency in which the Group denominates and settles substantially all of its
transactions are Renminbi. The foreign currency denomination of commercial
transactions, assets and liabilities, and net investments in foreign operations
are mainly in US dollars. The Group is not subject to any significant foreign
currency risk as the revenue, expenses and borrowings of the Group's foreign
operating subsidiaries are denominated in the functional currency of those
operations. Any change in the exchange rate of the Renminbi would affect the
value of dividends that the Group pays to the shareholders of the Company
outside the PRC. The Group currently does not engage in any hedging activities
designed or intended to manage foreign exchange rate risk.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Reporting Period (2021: Nil) to the Company’s shareholders.
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Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zhou Li (A #1) (“Ms. Zhou"), aged 41, was appointed as an executive
Director on 12 April 2016, a member of the remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company on 22 June 2016 and the chief
executive officer of the Company on 29 March 2017. Ms. Zhou is also a director
of Lian Yun Gang Long Ji Properties Limited GE Z BB KX B 2GR A 7))
(‘"Lian Yun Gang Long Ji Properties”) and the general manager of Sanya Hui
Xin Trading Company Limited (= 32 B ¥7 & 5 & [R 2 &) (‘Sanya Hui Xin
Trading"), and the deputy general manager of Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng
Industry Company Limited (= 25 Bl Bl ¥7 3% B % & R 2 7)) (‘Sanya
Fenghuang Xincheng"), Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun Property Development
Company Limited (= 25 Bl Bl 7K 8 5 b & [ 3% & R 2 &) (‘Sanya
Fenghuang Shuiyun”) and Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long Properties
Development Limited (/& 8 8 1 88 5 b E H % B R 2 7)) (‘Hainan

Nanhai Xiang Long"), all of which are subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Zhou attended a long-distance Graduate Training Program course in
Masters of Business Administration at the Sino-Dutch International Business
Center of Nanjing University from December 2005 to December 2008, and
obtained a Master of Business Administration degree from Maastricht School of
Management, Netherlands in December 2008. She was qualified as an engineer
by the Nanjing Municipal Construction Engineering Intermediate Professional
Technical Qualifications Social Assessment Committee (F R =% T2 A 4%
HERMERLS(LFFEZEZ B D) in December 2010 and was awarded the
practicing qualification for professional construction engineering category by
the Department of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of Jiangsu Province
in2012.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Zhou was appointed as deputy manager in
Zhonghui (Jiangsu) Decoration Park Engineering Co. Ltd. (FF 28 (T &k ) 2% & &
I 72 B BR A al) from March 2000 to September 2004. Ms. Zhou was the
chairperson of Zhonghui Engineering Group (/1 28 T 2 & 2 52 @) between
October 2004 to July 2007. Ms. Zhou Li cohabits with Mr. Yeung Man, a
controlling Shareholder, as a spouse. For the shareholding interest of Ms. Zhou
Li, please refer to the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive's
interests and short positions in shares and underlying shares or debentures” on
page 64 of the annual report.
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Ms. Fan Wenyi (52 X #%) (“Ms. Fan”), aged 46, was appointed as an executive
Director on 12 April 2016. Ms. Fan has been the chief operation officer and
deputy general manager of the Group since 3 September 2007. Ms. Fan is the
chairman of Sanya Fenghuang Xincheng, Sanya Fenghuang Shuiyun, Sanya
Zhongzekai and Danzhou Shuang Lian Properties Development Company
Limited (1& ) &8t EHER B A F) and the deputy general manager of
Lian Yun Gang Tai Sheng City Development Limited GEZEERE M T EES
fR/2 7)) (‘Lian Yun Gang Tai Sheng Development’), Lian Yun Gang Long Ji
Properties, Hainan Nanhai Xiang Long and Sanya Hui Xin Trading, all of which are
subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Fan graduated from Shaanxi External Services
Training Academy (BRFE % SMIR 555 911 E2BR) majoring in foreign oriented
secretary (¥N3CH4) in the PRC in 1996. Ms. Fan was accredited as an
intermediate accountant by MOF of the PRC (FF Bt F) in May 2005. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Fan worked as an assistant to general manager of Hainan
Xinjia Tourism Co., Ltd. (BRI ¥TERZER R 2 &) from November 2005 to
February 2007.

Mr. Chen Xiang (BR%¥), aged 40, served as an executive Director from 29 August
2017 to 31 October 2019 and was appointed as an executive Director on 15
October 2020. Mr. Chen Xiang currently serves as a director of both cost
procurement department and engineering design department in Sanya
Fenghuang Xincheng, which is a subsidiary of the Company. From 2006 to
2012, he was also a cost estimator (FEJR% 8 ) in Verdure International Holding
Company Limited (22 5 Bl B 25 I 5 BR /2 A)). Mr. Chen Xiang graduated from
the China University of Geosciences with a Bachelor of Civil Engineering degree
in July 2008. He was registered as a first class constructor (— #& £ & A) in
housing construction (& /& # %&) and in public utility (5 B2 ) and as a
cost controller (318 TH2RM).
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Mr. Jia Bin (EJ&) (“Mr. Jia”), aged 49, was appointed as an executive
Director on 1 December 2021, as the company secretary of the Company with
effect from 11 April 2023 and as the chief financial officer and authorized
representative of the Company with effect from 3 April 2023. Mr. Jia previously
served as the chief financial officer of the Company from 12 May 2017 to 4 June
2018 and from 14 September 2018 to 6 May 2020, respectively. Mr. Jia obtained
his Bachelor of Accounting degree from Nanjing Economic College (F 545
EBT) (currently known as Nanjing University of Finance and Economics (Fd 5%
B4 K E2)) in 1997 and received his Master of Business Administration degree
from Nanjing University (5 A£2) in 2015. He has been a non-practicing
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2003
and an associate member of the Association of International Accountants since
2016.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Jia had 20 years of experience in accounting and
financial management. He worked at Jiangsu Easthigh International Group Co.,
Limited* 0T %k 2R 18 B B & B A R 2 7)) and served consecutively as an
accountant in Jiangsu Province International Economic and Trading Industrial Head
Corporation* (/I & & B FR 4 & & 5 422 7)) from 1997 to 1999, as a financial
manager at Jiangsu Province International Economic and Trade Property
Management Company Limited* (T #k & B BR 48 E ¥ 2 B I2 G BR A al) from
2000 to 2003, as a general manager of the capital finance department of Jiangsu
Easthigh International Service and Trading Joint Stock Company Limited* (T &k 5
BB AR E 5 I& 15 B BR A A)) from 2003 to 2008, and as an assistant to the
general manager at the capital finance department of Jiangsu Easthigh
International Group Co,, Limited* ()T %k 52 18 B B & [E 5 BR 72 &) from 2006 to
2008. Subsequently, Mr. Jia worked at the finance department of Golden Eagle
International Group Co, Limited* (& & BB £ B B BR /2 &) as an deputy chief
financial officer from 2008 to 2009, as a chief financial officer from 2009 to 2011, as
an assistant to the president from 2011 to 2015. Subsequently, he also worked at
the finance cost center of Verdure International Holding Company Limited* (22 5% &
¥ i% A PR /2 &) as a general manager from April to Septemnber 2015 and at the
financial headquarters of Suning Estate Group Co, Ltd* (¥ 28 & 2 £ B AR A 7)) as
an assistant to the chief executive officer from October 2015 to March 2017.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Yong (ZE) (“Mr. Li”), aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the audit committee, the
remuneration committee, and nomination committee of the Company on 29
September 2017. Mr. Li is currently a general manager of Hainan Wanlong Real
Estate Development & Construction Co,, Ltd. (B & EERZEEREER
A]) and an independent director of Hainan HNA Infrastructure Investment
Group Co, Ltd. (BF/EMERE LR & £ BB BR2AR]) (stock code on
Shanghai Stock Exchange: 600515).

Mr. Li was an assistant to the general manager of China Baoan Group Hainan
Industry Co,, Lid* (FEIB L& E G EE X B R A F) from March 2003 to
January 2010. From January 2010 to January 2015, he acted as the director,
deputy general manager and secretary of the board of directors of Hai Nan
Yedao (Group) Co, Ltd, (/& 5 #F & (& E)i% 17 B BR 2 7]) (stock code on
Shanghai Stock Exchange: 600238) and as a general manager of Hainan
Danzhou Baoan Real Estate Investment Co,, Ltd* (B RIEINE & B E M 2
B R A7) from January 2015 to November 2015.

In July 1995 and August 2014, Mr. Li completed the economic management
diploma course at Xinxiang Municipal Committee Party School of Henan
Province of the Chinese Communist Party (FF A& FTE T & ER) and
the advanced Business Administration program for president at the Hainan
University, respectively.

Mr. Li obtained his qualification certificate as a secretary to the board of
directors and qualification certificate as an independent director issued by the
Shanghai Stock Exchange in 2010 and 2014, respectively. He was awarded the
Intermediate Title of Business Administration by the National Ministry of
Personnel in 2000.
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Dr. Zhao Guoqing (#E ) (“Dr. Zhao”), aged 43, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee,
and a member of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company on 31 December 2018. Dr. Zhao is currently the national
technical director and partner of Zhonghui Corporation* (FE£ ) and he
has extensive working experience in taxation in the PRC.

Dr. Zhao is a qualified certified public accountant in the PRC. Dr. Zhao
graduated from Yangzhou University with a bachelor’'s degree majoring in
taxation in July 2002, obtained his master's degree in Business Administration
from Nanjing University in March 2012 and obtained his doctorate degree in
Business Administration from Nanjing University in December 2018.

Prof. Fan Conglai (5& # &) (“Prof. Fan”), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 4 June 2021. Prof. Fan is also a member
of the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Prof. Fan obtained his doctorate degree in
Economics from Nanjing University in May 2000, and was awarded Changjiang
distinguished professorship by the Ministry of Education in 2006. Prof. Fan has
extensive experience in teaching and researching monetary finance, corporate
finance and capital markets. Prof. Fan has been the head of the economics
department of Nanjing University Business School from September 1995 to
April 2002, associate dean of Nanjing University Business School from February
2002 to December 2004, the secretary of the Communist Party Committee of
Nanjing University Business School from December 2004 to September 2007,
the head of the subject department of Nanjing University since July 2008, the
dean of Nanjing University School of Economics from November 2010 to July
2011, an executive associate dean of Nanjing University Business School from
July 2011 to December 2014, assistant principal of Nanjing University from
October 2014 to March 2019, and director of the Yangtze River Delta Economic
and Social Development Research Center, Nanjing University since March 2019.
Prof. Fan has been an independent director of Bank of Suzhou (&R/M R1TA% 1D
B R A A) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code:
002966) since April 2020.
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Mr. Yang Dong John (# ) (“Mr. Yang”), aged 48, was appointed as the
company secretary and chief financial officer of the Company respectively on 1
April 2019 and 6 May 2020, respectively. Mr. Yang resigned as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 11 April 2023 and as the chief
financial officer and authorized representative of the Company with effect from
3 April 2023. Mr. Yang served as the chief financial officer of Tsui Wah Holdings
Limited (“Tsui Wah") (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1314) from 4 June 2012 to 31 December 2015 and from
22 August 2016 to 31 March 2019 and was responsible for financial planning
and budgeting, overseeing the financial reporting functions and specific
financial projects as well as maintaining investors’ relations. He also assisted in
the listing of the shares of Tsui Wah on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Yang was
appointed as the chief executive officer for the PRC region of Tsui Wah from
March 2014 to March 2017, assisting the company in the management and
development of business in the PRC. He served as the company secretary and
an authorised representative of Tsui Wah from June 2012 to February 2015.

Mr. Yang has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 2003 and a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since 2011. Mr. Yang has accumulated over 18
years of experience in auditing, consolidated accounting, financial
management, due diligence investigation, compliance auditing and financial
auditing. Prior to joining Tsui Wah, he was the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Wedding Banquet Specialist (/& fiF & &= % P9 J§). He
spent over ten years at KPMG's Hong Kong and Beijing offices, having engaged
in numerous auditing projects involving listed companies on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yang graduated from the City University of Hong Kong in
November 1999 with a bachelor’'s degree in Business Administration
(Accountancy) and obtained his Master of Business Administration degree from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2015.

Mr. Jia Bin (& &) (“Mr. Jia”), an executive Director, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company with effect from 11 April 2023 and the
chief financial officer and authorized representative of the Company with effect
from 3 April 2023. For Mr. Jia's biographical details, please refer to his
biographical details above in this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance with a view to assure the conduct of management of the
Company and protect the interests of all shareholders. The Company is fully
aware that transparency and accountability in corporate governance are
crucially important to the shareholders and the Board considers that sound
corporate governance can maximise the shareholders’ interest.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of
corporate governance.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the Code
Provisions as set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from Code
Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as described below.

Under Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Under the current organisation structure of the Group, the function
of chief executive officer is performed by Ms. Zhou Li. The Board is of the
opinion that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in
Ms. Zhou Li has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
thus enabling more effective and efficient strategic planning for the Group.

Under this arrangement, the Board also believes that the balance of power and
authority will not be compromised and is adequately ensured by the existing
Board which comprises experienced and competent individuals with more
than one-third of the Board being independent non-executive directors.
Therefore, the Board considers that the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstances.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries with all the Directors, each of the
Directors confirmed that he/she had complied with the Model Code during
the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are likely to
be in possession of unpublished inside information of the Company. No
incident of non-compliance of the above written guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company.

In case when the Company is aware of any restricted period for dealings in the
Company’s securities, the Company will notify its Directors and relevant
employees in advance.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises the following
Directors:

Chairman of the Board and Executive Director
Ms. Zhou Li (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Executive Directors

Ms. Fan Wenyi
Mr. Chen Xiang
Mr. Jia Bin

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Yong
Dr. Zhao Guoging
Prof. Fan Conglai

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 25 of this annual report.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the principles
and Code Provisions as set out in the CG Code. During the Reporting Period, to
the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with all the
applicable Code Provisions set out in the CG Code, except for certain deviations
as specified with considered reasons for such deviations as explained below.

Under Code Provisions C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Since 29 March 2017, the Company has not separated the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer of the Company. Since 29 March 2017, Ms. Zhou has
been the chairman and also the chief executive officer of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the operations of the Group. In view of the fact that
Ms. Zhou has been operating and managing the Group since 2016, the Board
believes that it is in the best interests of the Group to have Ms. Zhou taking up
both roles for effective management and business development. The Board
also believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person has the benefit of ensuring the consistent leadership within
the Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic planning
for the Group. Although Ms. Zhou performs both roles of chairman and chief
executive officer, the division of responsibilities between the two roles is clearly
established. While the chairman provides leadership for the Board by ensuring
the board works efficiently and discharges her responsibilities in time, and is
responsible for supervising the functions and performance of the Board, the
chief executive officer is responsible for the management of the Group's
business. The Board considers that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired given the appropriate delegation of
the power of the Board to the senior management of the Company for the
day-to-day management of the Group, and the effective functions of the
independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-third of the
Board such that no one individual has unfettered power of decisions. This
structure will also enable the Company to make and implement decisions
promptly and effectively. The Board will continue to review and consider
splitting the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account
the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

With the support of executive Directors and the company secretary, the
chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at the Board meetings and receive adequate and reliable information in a
timely manner.
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Independent Non-executive Director

The Board at all times during the Reporting Period met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the three independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence and the Company considers each of them to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The chairman of the Board holds meetings with independent
non-executive Directors without executive Directors present at least once a
year.

Directors’ Re-election

Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director shall be
appointed for a specific term, subject to retirement by rotation at least every
three years.

Each of the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is
appointed for a specific term of three years and is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The articles of association of the
Company (the "Articles of Association”) requires that at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if the number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. The Board take decisions objectively in the interests
of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
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All Directors shall have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company as well as the services and advice from the company secretary and
senior management. The Directors may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances for discharging their duties to
the Company at the Company’s expense. The Board and each Director shall
have a separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respective of legal
action against its Directors.

Summary of work 2022/2023 of the Board in relation to corporate governance:

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, in addition to
determining the policy for corporate governance of the Company, the Board
also performed the following duties in relation to corporate governance:

(@) developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b)  reviewed and monitored the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(©  reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and

(e)  reviewed the Company's compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and adopted this corporate governance report.

To ensure that independent views and input are available to the Board, the
Company has established mechanisms including (i) strengthening the
independent non-executive Directors’ recruitment process to include criteria
such as each candidates’ available time commitments and qualification; (ii)
reviewing the number of independent non-executive Directors on an annual
basis; (iii) performing additional assessment or evaluation of independent non-
executive Directors’ contribution; and (iv) engage external independent
professional advisors to assist performance of directors’ duties. The Board
reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the above mechanisms on an
annual basis.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters,
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant operational
matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of
the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approvals has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by
the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

In accordance with Code Provision C.1.4 of the CG Code with regards to
continuous professional development, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors will be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics will be issued to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the Reporting Period, each individual Director has attended training KRB &EHIE > S @R ESCLX ME L HEE

courses or workshops or reading materials relevant to his/her professional and/ /8% R B = HERI 015 3 ZR AR sk TR ek
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assist the Directors to record the training that they have undertaken. A S MAEEH - Bk -

summary is as follows:

Attending in

Reading house training

materials relating to the

regarding ongoing

regulatory compliance

updates and obligations,

corporate governance and

governance other related

matters topics

HEER 2mEH

EEEHMK RFEEREK -
EEERER ERRH AR
Name of Directors EEsE &R FRENAEE
Executive Directors HITES

Ms. Zhou Li AR+ v 4

Ms. Fan Wenyi SBX it 4 4

Mr. Chen Xiang BRI & v v

Mr. Jia Bin BAEKE 4 v
Independent non-executive Directors BIAFHTES

Mr. Li Yong TELE v/ v

Dr. Zhao Guoging HEEE LT v/ v

Prof. Fan Conglai BRI 4 v
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BOARD MEETING

The Board intends to hold Board meetings regularly at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days will be
given for all reqgular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings.

For other Board meetings, reasonable notice will generally be given. All Board
committee meetings require a notice of at least seven (7) days to be given,
unless such notification is waived by all members of the respective Board
committees. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are dispatched to
the Directors or Board committee members at least three days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and be
adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors or Board committee
members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters
to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are recorded in
sufficient details to include the matters considered by the Board and the Board
committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting
are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held.
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Attenda

The following is the attendance record of the Directors at Board and

nce Records

R G 8%
NTRESNREHRBTHESEREES
committee meetings, and general meetings held during the Reporting Period: @EARKRE R FELEE

Attendance/Number of Meetings in 2022
2022 FHERE EHEAH

Annual

Audit Nomination Remuneration General

Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

Name of Director EEnE Exe ERZET RREEE FHZEE KRREFAS
Ms. Zhou Li AFz+ 5/5 - 11 11 1
Ms.Fan Wenyi et 55 . . : "
Mr. Chen Xiang BREETAE 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Jia Bin ERERE 5/5 - - - 11
Mr. Li Yong FEESE 5/5 33 1/1 1/1 1/1
Dr. Zhao Guoging HEEELT 5/5 3/3 %l 1/1 1/1
Prof. Fan Conglai SBRREIR 5/5 3/3 11 1/1 1/1

None of the meetings set out above was attended by any alternate Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “‘Remuneration
Committee’) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee’), for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All
Board committees of the Company are established with defined written terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted on
the Company's website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
Shareholders upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are independent non-
executive Directors and the list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under the section “Corporate Information” on page 2 of
this annual report.

Audit Committee

On 22 June 2016, the Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph C4 and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. During the Reporting Period,
the Audit Committee comprised three members, including Dr. Zhao Guoqing,
Mr. Li Yong and Prof. Fan Conglai. All members of the Audit Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee is
Dr. Zhao Guogqing, who holds the appropriate professional qualifications as
required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The main duties of
the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial
information and reporting process, internal control procedures and risk
management system, audit plan and relationship with external auditor, and
arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise, in confidence,
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters of the Company. The Audit Committee holds at least two
meetings per year.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Audit
Committee held four meetings on 31 March 2022, 29 April 2022, 31 August
2022 and 31 March 2023.
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Summary of work in 2022/2023:

36

reviewed the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 and 2022 and the related documents and made
recommendations to the Board for approval and discussed with the
management and the external auditor the accounting policies and
practices which may affect the Group, the report prepared by the
external auditor covering major findings in the course of the audit and
the accounting and financial reporting matters;

reviewed the interim financial statements of the Group for the six
months ended 30 June 2022 and the related documents, and the issues
noted by the Company's external auditors and made recommendations
to the Board for approval;

reviewed and monitored the Company’s financial reporting procedures,
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems as well as the Group's internal audit function;

reviewed the re-appointment, remuneration and engagement letter of
the Company's external auditors, its independence and objectivity, and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

reviewed the appointment of the internal control consultant;

reviewed the Audit Committee’s independence and effectiveness in
discharging its role and responsibilities, and its terms of reference; and

reviewed the composition of the Audit Committee.
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Nomination Committee

On 22 June 2016, the Company established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the CG Code. In
the beginning of the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee consisted
of four members, comprising Ms. Zhou Li, Mr. Li Yong, Dr. Zhao Guoging and
Prof. Fan Conglai. Besides Ms. Zhou Li who is an executive Director, all other
members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-executive
Directors. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Ms. Zhou Li. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures for the
nomination and appointment of Directors, making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and succession planning of Directors, in particular
the chairman and the chief executive and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would take
into account various aspects set out in the Board Diversity Policy adopted by
the Company (as defined below in the section headed “Board Diversity Policy”),
including but not limited to educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry experience. The Nomination
Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption. In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s qualifications,
experience, independence and other relevant criteria necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendations to the Board.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year to review the structure,
size and diversity of the Board and the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and to consider the qualifications of the retiring Directors
standing for election at annual general meetings.
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During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings on 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023, and the
major work performed by the Nomination Committee is summarized as
follows:

Summary of work in 2022/2023:

— reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board;

—  reviewed the implementation with measurable targets, progress and
effectiveness of the Company's policy on the Board Diversity Policy;

— assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
—  reviewed appointments or re-appointments of the Directors;
—  reviewed succession planning for Directors;

—  nominated Board candidates for election/re-election by Shareholders at
annual general meeting; and

—  the time required by the Directors and the evaluation of whether the
Directors have devoted enough time to fulfill their responsibilities.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy’) on 31 March 2022 in relation to the nomination, appointment, re-
appointment of new Directors and the nomination procedure of the Company,
which provides that in evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship,
the Nomination Committee shall consider the candidates’ range of diversity
perspectives, which would include but not be limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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Procedures of appointment of new and replacement Directors

If the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable
director candidates, including referral from Directors, shareholders,
management, advisors of the Company and external executive search firms.
Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential candidates, the
Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates and make recommendation
based on the selection criteria as set out above and such other factors that it
considers appropriate for consideration by the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall then recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship, as applicable. The Board has the final authority on
determining suitable director candidate for appointment. For any person that
is nominated by a shareholder for election as a director at the general meeting
of the Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 June 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.1 of the CG Code.
During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee consisted of four
members, comprising Mr. Li Yong, Ms. Zhou Li, Dr. Zhao Guoging and Prof. Fan
Conglai. Besides Ms. Zhou Li who is an executive Director, all other members of
the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee was Mr. Li Yong. The primary
functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, the remuneration policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her close associates will participate in deciding
his/her own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, and the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and
senior management and other related matters.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee held two meetings on 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2023, and the major work performed by the Remuneration Committee is
summarized as follows:

Summary of work in 2022/2023:

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the procedure for developing remuneration policy;

- reviewed the remuneration package of the executive Directors and
senior management;

- reviewed the remuneration of the independent non-executive Directors;
and

- assessed the performance of the Directors.

The Remuneration Committee adopted the model under E.1.2(c)(ii), under
which it makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 22 June 2016, the Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy ("Board
Diversity Policy”). Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and
give adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy when identifying
suitably qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The Board
regularly reviews the Board Diversity Policy and would make appropriate
revisions to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.
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The Board’s composition as at the date of this report under diversified
perspectives is summarised as follows:

~

Education background (up to): Doctorate
degrees 2 Directors, Master degrees 2
Directors, Bachelor degrees 1 Director, Other 2
Directors

HEER (&) BLB28EF B
TR 22EF BB 12EF  Hit
PES &5

O O
|

RARERH - ZoubtEE THEESHANE
s

~

Designation: 4 executive Directors and 3
independent non-executive Directors

Gender: 5 male Directors vs. 2 female Director

Bk ABHTEERIBBEUIFERITES
MRl sBRBEMEEH 2 RLNES

J

Age group (years old): 1 (between 31 and 40),
5 (between 41 and 50); 1 (between 51 and 60)

FEAR () 12BN F31240) ~ 5HOT
F41Z250) : 1% (NMF51E60)

J

& Directorship with the Company (years of

service): 2 Directors (0 to 2 years), 3 Directors (2
to 5 years), 2 Director (6 to 10 years)
ARRERBU(RBEFY) - 28EE(0
F2F) 3REFQESF) 2BEZE(6
E10%)

J

The Board achieved gender diversity as it currently has two female executive
Directors. The Board will maintain one or more female Director to be a member
of the Board. To develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to
achieve gender diversity, the Company has adopted relevant hiring policies for
considering candidates of senior management positions which would take into
account diversity perspectives including gender diversity.

As at 31 December 2022, the ratio of male and female in the workforce
(including the senior management) is 59% and 41%, respectively.

As such, the Company’s workforce (including the senior management) has
achieved gender diversity between males and females. The Company would
continue to take into account of diversity perspectives including gender
diversity in its hiring.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

A summary of the Dividend Policy is summarised as follows:

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account,
among other things, (i) the Company’s actual and expected financial
performance; (i) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group; (iii)
the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the relevant
financial covenants; and (iv) the general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business and other internal and external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of our Company.

Any final dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an
ordinary resolution of Shareholders at an annual general meeting and must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Dividend Policy shall be
reviewed periodically and submitted to the Board for approval if amendments
are required.

DIRECTORS” RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and information
as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before them for approval. The
management provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the
Company's performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 120 to 127 of this annual report.

AUDITORS” REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to the external auditors of the Company in
respect of audit services for the Reporting Period is as follows:
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Fees paid/payable

B ENER

RMB'000

Services rendered EHNRS AREFIT
Audit services ZE RIS 1,950
Non-audit services (review of interim report) IR BRTS (EH P HRE) 180

For the Reporting Period, the audit services fees paid and non-audit services
fees paid or payable to Mazars CPA Limited was RMB1,950,000 and
RMB180,000, respectively.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledge that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Main features of the risk management and internal control systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of the
members in the framework are described as follows:
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Member Main Responsibilities

RE FTEBE

The Board Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and extent of risk
4y acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;

Audit Committee
EBEzEaE

RIUEAREREKER HALECERBREEKIAINRREE RZE
Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal control systems;
and

BYNEEEEBRNRRERRAIZESHE &

Review the effectlveness of the risk management and internal control systems annually.

BEREAREIERARBES HIEABRIE

Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of the risk
management and internal control systems;

19 BhEE 5 & BE B R B 7k T LA R Ja e 8 B T PR D2 o 6 ) Rt SRR A TR

Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management, ensure the
management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective systems;

HERE S wmEREIERAEGGE  BREEECBITREEZAUNHE
Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and has a proper
position, review and supervise its performance;
BRABEABEAERENEREEIEENMA - FEEREEHN

Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk management status,
make decisions for effective risk control;

BHASEREENSAEARR KERERANR - ELBREREHERE

Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to the Board on a
regular basis;

THREFEREASENRRRAREFRIHTENME

Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant accountable persons to
implement risk assessment;

R R EE ML - ERREMEBAE AETRRGTE

Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the group level;
HEEDEEERMNEREIRERER

Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;
ELEEANARFERERSERARERRS

Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions made or actions
adopted by relevant organizations or individuals beyond the risk management system;
BEEEARREBEN - A ENEIEHE BAESSEARRRE IR RAIMERERE
HiTH

Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and projects to carry
out identification and assessment of significant risks at the group level, summarise and analyse
such information, submit risk assessment and various risk management reports; and
%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ/\ﬁ%ﬂiﬁﬁtﬁ%ﬁ ﬁBF'EJ)SZIE B ‘%“T% B e ERRERETHER R - 4R
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Carry out risk management for other major issues.
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Member Main Responsibilities

RE FTEBE

Management of Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment in compliance with the risk assessment
subsidiaries manual formulated by the Group;

MEAREEE TR M B & AR PR R B 1) 5 0 R B w Ak - T 77 R B AT A

Internal audit
department
NEBEET B

Review and approve the risk assessment results of the subsidiaries in respect of the business;
B M B AR PR A B R A R B AT Ak 45

Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk management;

R B AR EE M ERERE

Monitor the principal business risks confronted by the subsidiaries and the effectiveness of
relevant risk management measures; and

EEMBARERN EZXBER ERRRERERNBRE &

Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the subsidiaries for implementation of the risk
assessment projects.

AEAREEERERFGEAEENER  WEL  ANE -

Report directly to the Audit Committee, analyse and conduct independent assessment on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.
BEREAEZZBESWmE  HEAREERAIESHE TS ARG BIEEL 2T K&
L HHA -

The process used to identify, assess and management of principal risks FARBEE - FEREBREXABRNER
The risk management process of the Group is described as follows: REENRREREFSMINT

Risk Identification

[\ ez i )

Risk Analysis
2\ gz 3 A

Risk Response

JFE\ Ben i

Control Measures
PRI e

Risk Control

2 122 )

Risk Management Report

[\be B E

identify the current risks confronted

a5 B A e O L e

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of occurrence

HEERERBENA R IEETRR DN

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation strategy
RIS B R R 7 330 R S P 1R B ) SR

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process

FCEIIR B B M RBIE B 158 1 R BUR SRR

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal control measures to
ensure the effective operation of the risk response strategy

i 48 BRI B 235 B X T e A O PO B4R R 1 e R R L B 4 SR O B U AT

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit, formulate and report an
action plan

BERRFH DN RABESAOGR - BIEITEN R B INAE R
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The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems and to resolve material internal control
defects:

The Group establishes a risk management information and communication
channel that is functional within the whole basic risk control procedure,
connects different levels in the reporting system and different departments
and operation units, so as to ensure timely, accurate and complete
communication of information, laying a solid foundation for the monitoring
and improvement of risk management.

Different departments and business units of the Group regularly inspect and
examine their own risk management process in order to locate the
shortcomings and remedy the situation if possible. Their inspection and
examination reports are delivered to the Group’s risk management department
in time.

The internal audit department of the enterprise may regularly or irregularly
carry out supervision and evaluation in relevant departments and business
units to decide if they are capable of performing regular risk management tasks
and their related work performance. Internal control review of operational
cycles is conducted under rotational basis. Reports of supervision and
evaluation are delivered directly to the audit committee established by the
Board of Directors.

The Board reviewed the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems annually and is of the view that (i) there was no material issue relating
to the Group's risk management and internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of the
Group and considers these effective; and (i) that there were adequate staff
with appropriate and adequate qualifications and experience, resources for
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and adequate
training programmes had been provided during the Reporting Period.

Internal audit function

The Group's internal audit function is performed by an internal audit team,
which reports directly to the Audit Committee. The procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information: The
Company has implemented proper procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information. The Company has
established a policy with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission, to ensure that
all the Group's stakeholders and the public are provided with appropriate
information relating to the Group in a timely and simultaneous manner.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yang Dong John (“Mr. Yang") served as the company secretary of the
Company from 1 April 2019 to 11 April 2023. Mr. Yang has also acted as the
chief financial officer of the Company from 6 May 2020 to 3 April 2023. During
the Reporting Period, Mr. Yang took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the biographical details of Mr. Yang are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Mr. Jia Bin ("Mr. Jia"), an executive Director, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company with effect from 11 April 2023 and as the chief
financial officer and authorized representative of the Company with effect from
3 April 2023.

Details of the biographical details of Mr. Jia are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS” RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange
after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) and
Putting Forward Proposals

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition, and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the
following:
Address:  2/F, No.1 Building Hampton By Hilton

No. 169 Yu Lin Road

Tianya District

Sanya, the Hainan Province

The PRC (For the attention of the Board of Directors/Company
Secretary)

Email: hailankonggu@hailanholdings.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company makes the best
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders. In this regard,
the Company established a Shareholders’ communication policy and review it
on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Board is committed in
providing clear and full performance information of the Group to Shareholders
through the publication of interim and annual reports. In addition to the
circulars, notices and financial reports sent to Shareholders, additional
information of the Group is also available to Shareholders on the website of the
Company.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the annual general meeting for which
at least 20 clear business days' notice is given. The chairman of the Board and
Directors are available to answer questions on the Group’s business at the
meeting. All resolutions at the general meeting are decided by a poll which is
conducted by the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong.

The Group values feedbacks from Shareholders on its effort to promote

transparency and foster investor relationships. Comments and suggestions are
always welcomed.
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The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. All Directors will make an
effort to attend. External auditor is also available at the annual general meeting
to address Shareholders’ queries. In case of any general meeting to approve a
connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to Shareholders’
approval, members of the independent Board committee will also make an
effort to address Shareholders’ queries.

After the Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders’ communication policy including steps taken at the annual
general meeting and the handling of queries received (if any) which were
conducted during the Reporting Period, the Shareholders’ communication
policy was found to be effective and adequate.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Although no amendments were made to the Company’s Memorandum and
Articles of Association ("“M&A") during the Reporting Period, proposed
amendment to the Company's M&A will be proposed to be adopted in the
new M&A at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in investment holding, properties development and sales and rental
of developed properties. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
pages 128 to 129 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend payment of final dividend to the Shareholders
for the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant to Schedule 5
to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
comprising analysis of the Group performance during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development and a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group, are set out in the sections “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”, from pages 5 to 19 of
this annual report. Discussions on the environmental policies and performance,
compliance by the Group with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group and the account of the key relationships of the
Group with its stakeholders are contained in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 74 to 119 of this annual report. These discussions
forms part of this Directors’ Report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend and
vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 27 June 2023 to Friday, 30 June 2023, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates should be lodged for registration with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 26 June
2023.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out in the note 33(a) to the consolidated financial
statements and the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company did not have any distributable reserves
available for distribution to Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the single largest supplier and the five largest suppliers for the
Group (exclusive of Danzhou Phase I) accounted for approximately 24.1% and
64.6% of our total purchases under our supply contracts respectively. The
percentage of revenue attributable to the Group's single largest customer and
five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the total revenue of the
Group respectively.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
respective close associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any
interest in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Zhou Li
Ms. Fan Wenyi
Mr. Chen Xiang
Mr. Jia Bin

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Yong
Dr. Zhao Guoging
Prof. Fan Conglai

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Fan Wenyi, Dr.
Zhao Guoqing and Prof. Fan Conglai will retire from their office at the annual
general meeting, being eligible, Ms. Fan Wenyi, Dr. Zhao Guoging and Prof. Fan
Conglai will offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 25 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’” RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, at no time during the Reporting Period was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
debentures of the Group or any other body corporate; and none of the
Directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to
subscribe for the securities of the Group, or had exercised any such right during
the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the annual general meeting has a
service contract that is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Each of the executive Directors is entitled to a basic salary pursuant to their
respective service agreements, which is determined with reference to their
responsibilities, experience, performance and the prevailing market conditions.
In addition, each of them is entitled to a bonus of such amount as the Board
may determine in respect of each complete financial year of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors is entitled to a director’s fee
pursuant to their respective letters of appointment, which is determined with
reference to their responsibilities, experience, performance and the prevailing
market conditions. Save for director’s fee, each of the independent non-
executive Directors is not expected to receive any other remuneration for
holding his/her office as an independent non-executive Director.

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of remuneration of the Directors during the Reporting Period are set
out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of remuneration paid to members of the senior management by band
for the Reporting Period is set out below:
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Remuneration band
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HK$1,000,001 to HKS$ 1,500,000

(equivalent to RMB864,450 to RMB1,296,675)
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

(equivalent to RMB1,296,676 to RMB1,728,900)

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the three independent non-executive
Directors, a confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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POTENTIAL COMPETING BUSINESS

Set out below are details of certain businesses of Mr. Yeung Man, a controlling
Shareholder and an executive Director (disqualified on 18 December 2017)
which were not included into the Group as at the date of this report. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders — Excluded Businesses” in the Company’s prospectus dated 30
June 2016 (the "Prospectus”).

EXCLUDED HAINAN PROJECTS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Excluded Hainan Projects held by the
private group (being companies owned by Mr. Yeung Man apart from
members of our Group which are principally engaged in real estate
development, the “Private Group”) comprised two property development
projects in Wenchang and Haikou in the Hainan Province, details of which are
set out below:

Location Description
b B i pud
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Status as at 31 December 2022
742022512 A31 BERR

Wenchang Dongjiao
Coconut Forest

procedures.
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On 8 January 2010, Chung Wai Holding Company Limited
("Chung Wai Holding"), and the People’'s Government of
Wenchang entered into a co-operation framework agreement,
pursuant to which the People’s Government of Wenchang
agreed that, among others (i) all expenses and developmental
construction costs for the primary land development of the
land reclamation of 400 mu would be borne by Chung Wai
Holding, (ii) to establish a project company namely, Wenchang
City Construction Investment Company Limited which was
owned as to 40% by the People’s Government of Wenchang
and 60% by Chung Wai Holding (which was owned as to 30%,
40% and 30% by Chung Wai Holding, the People’s Government
of Wenchang and Nanjing Yu Ming Hang respectively as at the
latest practicable date), and (iii) Wenchang City Construction
Investment Company Limited will be invited to participate in
the tendering for and the reclaimed land will be sold via tender,
auction, or listing-for-sale procedures with reference to the
agreed land reclamation cost and would be determined
between Chung Wai Holding and the People’s Government of
Wenchang. However, the artificial island of the project has not
been able to carry out tender, auction, or listing-for-sale

As at 31 December 2022, the artificial
island of the project was demolished
and it is no longer possible to achieve
the investment purpose of the project
company to acquire the land of the
project via tender, auction, or listing-
for-sale procedures. Chung Wai
(Hainan) and the project company are
seeking legal means to demand
compensation/indemnity from the
government. Citi-Verdure is not
satisfied with the decision of
administrative compensation, while
the Natural Resources and Planning
Administration of Wenchang City* (3
EMBABRMBERE) is not
satisfied with both of the
administrative judgment and the
decision of administrative
compensation. Both parties have
appealed to the High Court of Hainan
Province. The case is currently in the
process of second instance.
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Location

b B

Description
Hat

Status as at 31 December 2022
742022512 A31 AR

In January 2020, the equity structure of the project company,
Wenchang Citi-Verdure Investment Company Limited (“Citi-
Verdure”), was as follows: Chung Wai (Hainan) Properties
Limited ("Chung Wai (Hainan)"), Nanjing Yu Ming Hang
Investment Management Company Limited and Wenchang
City Construction Investment Company Limited (renamed as
Hainan Wenchang Development Holdings Group Co.,, Ltd.* (8
X BRI ER AR A7) or "Wenchang Development
Holdings") held 30%, 30% and 40% interests, respectively.
Chung Wai (Hainan) and Citi-Verdure jointly filed a lawsuit
against Wenchang Development Holdings. The Haikou
Maritime Court considered it to be without jurisdiction over the
case after its acceptance on 8 January 2020, and transferred the
same to the Hainan First Intermediate People’s Court, which
also considered it to be without jurisdiction and reported the
case to the Hainan Provincial High Court. The Hainan Provincial
High Court designated the Haikou Maritime Court to have
jurisdiction. Chung Wai (Hainan) petitioned for RMB38 million
in liquidated damages from Wenchang Development Holdings.
The Haikou Maritime Court issued a judgment, being (2020)
Qiong 72 Min Cu No. 125 Judgment ((2020)3872 R #11255%
R, on 3 December 2020, rejecting the petition of Chung Wai
(Hainan). Chung Wai (Hainan) filed an appeal (Citi-Verdure was
listed as the third party in the second instance), and the Hainan
Provincial High Court rejected the appeal on 26 July 2021 and
upheld the original judgment.

On 25 October 2021, the Natural Resources and Planning
Administration of Wenchang City* (X & B AZ RA R E
/@) issued the Notice on the Implementation of Demolishing
the Artificial Island of Marine Leisure Resort Center in Dongjiao
Coconut Forest of Wenchang City (B85 X & T BB &g
FHREEEBFOLAIEEBFREEHE) to Wenchang
Development Holdings, deciding to demolish the artificial
island of the project at the end of October 2021.

On 26 October 2021, Wenchang Development Holdings issued
the Letter of Cancellation of the Cooperation Agreement and
Related Supplementary Agreement for the Artificial Island of
Dongjiao, Wenchang City (R R X E MR BALSIEE
& e RABRf T 1 6) ) (Wenfa Control Letter [2021]
No. 719) (SLEEHZEEK[2021]7195%) to Chung Wai (Hainan),
stating that due to the decision of the Natural Resources and
Planning Administration of Wenchang City* (X &1 B A &R
B EIBD) to demolish the artificial island of the reclamation
project of marine leisure resort center in Dongjiao Coconut
Forest, which was a force majeure, the purpose of the
cooperation agreement between the parties was not able to
be achieved and it requested to cancel the contract. The
project company proposed to defend its legitimate rights and
interests through legal means.

i B A B W
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X E RABEBAR

On April 25, 2022, Citi-Verdure filed an administrative lawsuit
and an administrative compensation lawsuit with the Haikou
Maritime Court for the demolition of the artificial island in
Dongjiao by the Natural Resources and Planning
Administration of Wenchang City* (X & B AZ RA R E
/8). On September 27, 2022, the Haikou Maritime Court issued
(2022) Qiong 72 Xing Cu No.25 Administrative Judgment
((2022)387277 #1255 {FTBUHRZE) ), ruling that the
demolition of the artificial island by the Natural Resources and
Planning Administration of Wenchang City* (X & B A &R
ML EIFD) was illegal. On the same date, the Haikou Maritime
Court issued (2022) Qiong 72 Xing Pei Cu No.5 Decision of
Administrative Compensation ((2022) 3727785 #155%% (1T
BEE#RZE) ) v ruling that the Natural Resources and
Planning Administration of Wenchang City* (X & B A &R
M EIF) shall pay Citi-Verdure an administrative
compensation of RMB106 million and the ecological restoration
fee actually incurred (based on the audit results of the final
accounts upon completion). Citi-Verdure is not satisfied with
the decision of administrative compensation, while the Natural
Resources and Planning Administration of Wenchang City* (3
EMBAAERMBER) is not satisfied with both of the
administrative judgment and the decision of administrative
compensation. Both parties have appealed to the High Court
of Hainan Province. The case is currently in the process of
second instance.

R2010F 1 A8H » FEIERARAE ([HEER]) HEH
EARBIIEI A EERDZE  BUXEARBIIRAE
(B B83E) 400 EE S EB B ENMERY &
FEEER IﬂZ$VEE43$T H:u%ﬁ* (VKM TEE RAIX A
MW EZEEFRA I“EIJEEK ™A RB
NG Hx%ﬁm%&@o%bé wEEBRA{TH

HiR 5 R A AR X /\Eﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ/\m%ﬁ%
A 30% - 40% K% 30% HE 25 :&mjzammmut RIER
BARKERSERBZ  MEASTHHEES2ELHEN

THEEER  BEMMHEEFLE ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂqﬂ%ﬁﬂi
BYEMARBNETE - B2 ZBBAILSLH—H
REEEAIBHREEFF ©
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R2020F 1 A - BERARIXERMBEHABREGR AR
RPEQATHRELEHENT  PECERE) EEERAD
B([hEEEAADER0%  IREHTREETER
RAFFF30%  XEMBETMERIEEERAG(EELA
[(BEXEERIEREEERAG ] EH X EHEE
BADTE ) 40% - FEEE A AR EA G HEE
RN ERELERAR  FOEEERN2020F1 AH
VERE REETERE BEAESE TR 8m—Fk
tLREEETEENRBEEE=R  SHE=RETE
OBELREE - PRBE A FBXEEEZERA A
SEAE 38008 T 0 BB EARN 2020512 A3 H
YEH (2020) 18 72 R ) 12550 #R - BB E G/ A B /A
ok o MBI A RIRE LR (PGP EWI A
=AN) BEESRMR2021F7 26 BHAE D F5F - 4
FFIRH o

202110258 XEMBABRNREBRAXEERE
g A E) B B R X E T B BEAE G _E IR E RO
ATLEEHEIRHRAOENE)  RER2021F10 AR Z
HE ATBETRE -

202110 A26H » XEBEZERARM P SE A A%
E(RRBB Y ETRIATLESER AER = LABEE R
IR Y (STEEYER K [202117195%) @ A ST BALR
N8B B8 E IR RSB A E T R ERP O EEE
HEATE BRI S  EHAEAREN TSR
BREHRAR - BB AR DAEMRBEERTHEITHE
NalBIEREDS -

202F 482550 WRABRAAMXETERERMBE
EIRERBALEERNIFKRITARE D /EEAMIRE
ITIREREATIITIR BB EF 3R ° 2022909 A 27 BB A8 E A
BetE (2022) B 727740 25 AT IRFRE ) » R E™
BABRMBREBDHEBAIENITAE L RAES
(2022) BT AISSHGITHREEEHIRE) - #RX BT
BRERMBEBEBRAERBEITHREES1.06
BIUMEBREENEREEER (R TREEAERS
) WP BAREITHREEHATR  XEMBRE
TRARE BYEITEHARMITREE A TR &5
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b B i pul #2022F 12 A31 HWARR

Gui Lin Yang Bin Hai On 9 March 2007, Haikou Bo Tai Long Property Development  On 31 December 2022, Bo Tai Long's
Tounsm Area Company Limited ‘( Haikou Bo Tai Long") entered mto‘a land administrative litigation on the land
in Haikou grant contract with the relevant competent authority for,

58

among other matters, acquisition of the land use rights in a
piece of land located in the west of Gui Lin Yang Bin Hai
Tourism Area (FEMF B8 Hk B2 [& ) with a site area of 642,350
sg.m. (“the land use right of Gui Lin Yang Bin Hai"). On 7
January 2008, Haikou Bo Tai Long obtained the construction
land planning permit (£ 5% A th #8 £ 57 7] #&) for the said
piece of land. Such permit has expired and Haikou Bo Tai Long
has not filed any renewal application.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

compensation was initiated. On
20 October 2019, the Haikou
Intermediate Court supported Bo Tai
Long ‘s petition in the first instance
and ruled that the government shall
make a land compensation decision
within three months of the effective
date of the judgement. On 17 July
2020, the Provincial High Court
upheld the original judgment in the
second instance. After Bo Tai Long
applied to the Haikou Intermediate
Court for enforcement, the Haikou
Intermediate Court issued (2021)
Qiong 01 Zhi No. 1353 Enforcement
Judgement ((2021)3801%13535% (¥
1TEEE)), ruling to close the case.
After Bo Tai Long was not satisfied
and filed an execution objection, the
Haikou Intermediate Court issued
(2021) Qiong 01 Zhi Yi No. 808
Enforcement Judgement ((2021) I8
01% 28085 B 17 & F &),
rejecting Bo Tai Long's application for
execution objection. Bo Tai Long was
not satisfied and has applied to the
Provincial High Court for retrial. On
May 11, 2022, the Hainan Provincial
High Court issued (2022) Qiong 01
Zhi Fu No.28 Enforcement Judgment,
((2022) B#IHE 28RCHATTRUEE))
revoking the (2021) Qiong 01 Zhi Yi
No. 808 Enforcement Judgement
((2021) 3BO1$1 2 808 FRCFNITELTE
£ ) issued by Haikou Intermediate
Court. This judgment shall be final.
Currently, it is in the retrial process of
the execution objection.
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(IR Oy RERE
BB

MR2007F3A98 BOEEREHEREERAR ([F
OERE | @BEETEERI L TMEESR - A (HF
BLIE) UR BB A AROF R /S IR E [ PR S0 A — IR b AR T FE
642,350 F 7 KB Ry b R AE ([EMOEEE L b fE
AR - B2008F1 A7H  BOBRMER il + S
BRAMABAE - ZAUELDER MEBOEH
BABRITMEREE -

On 19 July 2007, Chung Wai (China) Properties Group Limited
(“Chung Wai (China) Properties”) (as transferee), entered
into an agreement (the “equity transfer agreement’) with
the then equity holders of Haikou Bo Tai Long (as transferors),
all being independent third parties, for the acquisition of 60%
interests in Haikou Bo Tai Long at a consideration of
RMB179,210,000.

720077198 - RE(FE) EXEBARLQF ([H
H(PE)EX|) ((FRAFEA) B NBRE SR iE
FEAMEREZAN) (RHHR/BUE=T7)MEREA
R #179,210,000 7T W 3878 O 18 FR [ 89 60% ¥ 25 51 37 17 &%
(IREERERHER])

On 27 October 2017, Haikou Land Bureau issued the Idle Land
Verification (A& T #1785 &) to Haikou Bo Tai Long, and the
idling was caused by government reasons. On 7 November
2017, Haikou Land Bureau issued the Notice on the Availability
of the Cost of Obtaining the Land and Preliminary Reasonable
Investment of Related Materials (28 7 £2 it £ 1b EX 15 A AR F1
ATHR & 32 I A KB REA AL 938 A1) to Haikou Bo Tai Long. On
19 December 2017, Haikou Land Bureau issued the Notice on
the Meeting concerning Recovery of the Land Use Right with a
Payment (B AR BB W E L BEEHABEAN) o
Haikou Bo Tai Long.

MR2022%F 128318 BERE LM
FEITEERFA » 2019410 A20H
ORI — BT EREFRE
HRBUFEHRE R =8B RNE
b ERE 202087 17 B
LElR —EEERA - BRER
B OB RBRIRITE  F0
AR B R H (2021) 3B 01 81 1353 5 <3
THTEE) BHERERZRHF 1§
FETR REATESRE 8
O A B 5 H (2021) 38 01 ¥ 2 808 5
CRAITHTEE) BKOEREHNIT
BEES - BHERTR 2&M
Lot EEZ - 2022F05 A11
REmE e EL (2022) BHIE
285RCHMITELEE ) B EO R
B (2021) 3B 01 34 2 808 SR 1T H
TFE)  ZHEAKREBHT - BA
EERBINTEENEZBRRED -
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R2017F 108278 - BOME L BEEOERE T EHE
EIHRTEE) RERBUNRABEKBE o 72017 F 11
A78 - 80BLEREOERES D (ERIRELHE
B AMBIES RIS ABBEM R BA) - 7R 2017F 12 A
198 BORLRRAEOEREZH(ERERAENKE
T RESZRABA) -

On 22 March 2018, Haikou Land Bureau issued the Decision on
the Recovery of the State-owned Construction Land Use Right
by the People’s Government of Haikou (/& O A RETULE]
HERAHFEA#ERTEE) to Haikou Bo Tai Long.
2018F3A2H - BABRTRAERNIEREZHCEOM
ARBFREIEBZLZAMERAEREE) -

On 30 July 2018, Haikou Bo Tai Long filed a lawsuit to the
Haikou Intermediate People’s Court, requesting the
cancellation of the No. 1 Land Recovery Decision (1 55 Y3 R

TE ), and the Court accepted the case on the same day.
2018% 7 A308 - BREREREHTHRARER R
REEFFA » BB SKHEUE 1 SRR - ERRNE B REHE -

On 25 December 2018, the Haikou Intermediate People’s Court
made the first instance administrative judgment. Both Haikou
Bo Tai Long and the Haikou City Government appealed to the
Higher People’s Court of Hainan Province within the statutory
period. According to the judgment, the People’s Government
of Haikou shall make a land compensation decision within
three months of the effective date of the judgment.

20185F 12 4258 BHTHRARERIEL —F1THH
R BOEREMEOTRMNEEEHRABEEREE
SRARERERE I HOREBOTARBFEHAE
A=A AAEL DA ERE -

On 25 March 2019, both Haikou Bo Tai Long and the People’s
Government of Haikou appealed to the Higher People’s Court
of Hainan Province. On 5 May of that year, the appeal was
rejected by the administrative judgment and the original
judgment was upheld.

2019F3 25 AN ERENREAOTARBNRGEE
DARARERRE L3 - EEF5 A5 BITHRADRE R
& ERRA -
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In respect of Bo Tai Long's administrative litigation on the land
compensation, on 20 October 2019, the Haikou Intermediate
People’s Court supported Bo Tai Long's petition in the first
instance. According to the judgment, the government shall
make a land compensation decision within three months of
the effective date of the judgment. On 17 July 2020, the
Provincial Higher People’s Court upheld the original judgment
in the second instance. After Bo Tai Long applied to the Haikou
Intermediate Court for enforcement, the Haikou Intermediate
Court issued (2021) Qiong 01 Zhi No. 1353 Enforcement
Judgement ((2021)38 01 11353 85 1T & E &), ruling to
close the case. After Bo Tai Long was not satisfied and filed an
execution objection, the Haikou Intermediate Court issued
(2021) Qiong 01 Zhi Yi No. 808 Enforcement Judgement ((2021)
Bo1#L 28085 < # 1T H T & )), rejecting Bo Tai Long’s
application for execution objection. Bo Tai Long was not
satisfied and has applied to the Provincial High Court for retrial
and is currently in the retrial process of the execution objection.
R E T R EITIRGERRR - 20194F 10 H20 B8 A bt —
BEXHERERAFG  FIRBNEXRER=EAR
TER T EDRTE - 202057 A7 BA Rk —H# 5K
# o ERERE OB RFNITE - BOPBIEL (2021)
BO1HI3S3MAATTEE S ) - BUERBEARREMN - HRE
THR - IREFITEZEE - BO SR IEL021)B01#E
808K MITHEE) %x@%?%ﬁé%ﬂﬁﬁ A o ERE

TR BERE SR HE CBATERRERITEEN
BRIBIET o

In respect of administrative litigation for revoking the decision
on recovery of the land, the judgement by the Haikou
Intermediate People’s Court was to support the government’s
decision on recovery of the land, and the Provincial Higher
People's Court upheld the original judgement. On 16 May 2019,
Bo Tai Long applied to the Supreme People’s Court for a retrial.
On 30 December 2019, the Supreme People’s Court issued a
judgement rejecting Bo Tai Long's application for retrial.

BEH U B £ 3R FE TR AR /8 O P B HDR S35 BT U
HWIRTE - AR FHORGERRHA - 201955 A 16 B EHRE
ARIMEETEEEE - 2019F12A308 & ARE
BRELEGE - BOEREBERF

On May 11, 2022 + the Hainan Provincial High Court issued
(2022) Qiong Zhi Fu No.28 Enforcement Judgment ((2022) 38 %
1 285 CETTELIEE))  revoking the (2021) Qiong 01 Zhi No.
1353 Enforcement Judgement ((2021) 801 £ 8085 #1717
#7E)) issued by Haikou Intermediate Court. This judgment shall
be final. Currently, the case is in the process of enforcement.

2022405 A 11 B/BE4E S EH (2022) B4 28 57 (H,
TETE)  BEEDFET(2021) 801 EZ 8085 CHTT
z%m>> BEHE O PR (2021)B01#01 3535ﬁ<<$ﬂﬁz%%i>> °
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NON-TARGET CITIES PROJECTS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Private Group had six projects at non-target

cities, further details of which are set out below:

A BRIk T I
HINBIR BRI R
WMIER - BB

C LAREANIAFRR

Status as at Site area
Project Name Location Description 31 December 2022 Total GFA (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
R2022F 128318 BEEER HhEER
HEER B A HttR (FHK) (FFHK)
ZiQiYun Gu Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential and Fully completed and part of the 7283329 (including GFA of 7905196
Province commercial land for future development undeveloped land of project
calculating with a 30% plot ratio
for villa and the actual GFA of
which shall be subject to the
government's final approval)
ZRER TEARR FEREE BERHRT - $H 1M 7283329 (2738 B AFIE
ARERO TG T B RIEE 69 30% B TE
R RERER MAWE
RRERESSRNREILE)
Xin Gang Financial Centre  Nanjing, Jiangsu Commercial, office Fully completed and partly for sale 134,7654 245139
Province and guesthouses
HASETL THERR BE BYERESE CRERI HoEHET
Bo En Garden Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential and Partly completed and partly 1,046,040.5 041,7288
Province commercial under development
BRIEE IHEER FEREX BABRT - BHEEF
Cui Ping Cheng Yuan Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential and Partly completed and 549,135.9 2719925
Province commercial partly under development
ZRHE IHERR FEREX BHERT - BHEEF
Tuo Le Jia Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential and Fully completed and partly for sale 7479518 435,199.7
Province commercial
45 IHEER EEHEES BRHRT - BHEHER
Bao Tang Fu Nanjing, Jiangsu Residential and Partly completed and partly 68,7366 33,360.1
Province commercial under development
BRM IHEER EEIEES HBARKRT  HHBEER

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors had any direct or indirect
interest in a business which competed or might compete with the business of
the Group as required to be disclosed under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules for
the Reporting Period.

62 HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

B EXPTIREEESN

B -

RBEHRE - EESH
E RN EANREE B ERF AT E
B H) X PR AR ERAISE 810 R



Report of the Directors
R

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of the controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of his/its
compliance with the non-competition undertakings provided to the Company
under the Deed of Non-Competition (as defined in the Prospectus). The
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of compliance
and confirmed that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition
have been complied with by the controlling Shareholders during the period
commencing from the Deed of Non-Competition and up to 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report, there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at
31 December 2022 or at any time during the Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed, there was no contract of significance between the Company
or one of its subsidiaries on the one hand, and a controlling Shareholder or any
of its subsidiaries on the other, subsisting during or as at the end of the
Reporting Period.

Save as disclosed, there was also no other contract of significance for the
provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during or as at the end of the same
period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto subject
to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Such
provision was in force during the Reporting Period and remained in force as at
the date of this report. The Company has also arranged appropriate directors’
and officers’ liability insurance for the Directors and officers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO")) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code") were as follows:

(A) Interest in Shares of the Company

T e 1 AT EON BRI B AR B
T B HERE 2 B 2 SRS

R202F 128318 RRBIEEREETH
ABRARB REFEMBE EZE (TERES
REE O ([ B HFERBEMRG ) FEXVE) 2F
A%ty MBI M SR ERE T - A LN A
RABRBESNMAEBRAIEI2GRETFELZ
BB LB TAESETESRIN
TR ([HE2E<FRI ) BRI AN F) LA FT
2R AR

(A) A2 W) o HE £

Number of Approximate
Shares held/ shareholding

Name of Director Capacity Position (Long/Short) interested in percentage
BB BEER MR
EEnA 54 B (HR%KR) HRGBE Bat
Ms. Zhou Li Interest of spouse (Note 1) Long 225,000,000 75%
Shares
AFIZt+ FoiBteam (Mat 1) e 225,000,000
hyien)
Notes: Hiat -

M 225,000,000 shares of the Company are held by Zhong Jia (International) Investment
Construction Company Limited (“Zhong Jia (International)’) and Zhong Ze
(International) Investment Limited ("Zhong Ze (International)’) as to 224,325,000
shares and 675,000 shares, respectively. Mr. Yeung Man (“Mr. Yeung") beneficially
owns 100% of the issued share capital of Zhong Jia (International) and Zhong Ze
(International) and is deemed, or taken to be, interested in all the shares held by
Zhong Jia (International) and Zhong Ze (International) for the purposes of the SFO.
Mr. Yeung and Ms. Zhou Li have declared that they cohabit as spouses. Accordingly,
Ms. Zhou Li is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the shares in which Mr. Yeung is
interested for the purpose of the SFO.

(2) As of the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was
300,000,000.
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£ ) EREERE (BR) RHEZ (B 100%
BETRA  MREFRBAEEAMS « &
WAR B & ER 32 (BIRR ) K02 (BIRR)
RANMAERDTEEER - B RER
Z+HIEEEEBOERS - Fit - BES LB
EEFmE - AL LHE AR E ERS
SHERTEANRNDP RS -

@ RAZREEH ARFDHTEOAEAE
300,000,000 B °



Report of the Directors
R

(B) Long Position in the Shares of Associated Corporation

(i) Long position in Zhong Jia (International) and Zhong Ze

(B) T AH Ik 2 M I oy v B4 5 T
i) RAEZ(ER)RPEEER BT

(International) B
Number and
Name of classof  Approximate
Director or Name of associated Position securities held/  shareholding
Chief Executive corporation Capital (Long/Short) interested in percentage
BE/BE
BEETHR Bl BRNES BA R
wREA HEEZE AR &% (& %R) YA RER Bt
Ms. Zhou Li Zhong Jia (International) Interest of spouse Long 1 100%
(Note 1) ordinary share
BFI2Z+ F5 (BIBR) ot (frat 1) "E 1L AR
Zhong Ze (International) Interest of spouse Long 7,000 100%
(Note 1) ordinary shares
O (BIRR) Aot (Hrat 1) HE 7000 E R
Note: k=3
0] Mr. Yeung owns 100% interest in Zhong Jia (International) and Zhong Ze 0] BhEEHRET = (BR) k2 (ER)
(International). Mr. Yeung and Ms. Zhou Li have declared that they cohabit as 100% BV RE R © 15 % 4 R AFI X+ W iE
spouses. Accordingly, Ms. Zhou Li is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the FE MRS - Bt - BEHFLBHE
Shares of Zhong Jia (International) and Zhong Ze (International) in which Mr. BEHImE » ARZERIR B EE
Yeung is interested for the purpose of the SFO. PSR SR P 5 (BER) R
2 (BB BRiD R A s o
Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and & iX?BZE% EFHN R2022F 128318 AR
chief executive of the Company and their respective close associates had any ~FIEE EETHABNESBNBZHE A

interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

ITRAR T%EEH*H BorE(EERBHF R
HAE 536 XV &R ) MO B £ ~ #RRBERR 1D M ABHERE

B BEEAARERE 5 LB HRHE XVER
557 K853 BB A E AN A Ko Bk A2 P O 2R SOK

B (BRREFESFRBEKRE B SUESR
EE R ABERNEAERIOAE) A
BIEFE 5 & B E 16028 352 (KR8 ARZ G FTIE A
BufANERIOAE  IRIEFEESFRIZEN
BARNA] MR FTWERSRE
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INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
OF THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors are aware as of 31 December 2022, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

B W N NN ) NS R DR
B/ BIRA

TEEFTAN > 20226128318 » LA L (R
RAIEFLAEITERABRIN RIBEFES R
B R B ZE 336 K ZBR AR E R AZ M AR
RRE R SRR () P HE A S AR

Number

and class of Approximate

Name of Substantial Position securities held/ shareholding

Shareholder Nature of interest (Long/Short) interested in percentage
¥EBE

EENES BEFRAQ

FTERRER BEMtE B (R RR) BERER BO

Zhong Jia Beneficial owner Long 224,325,000 74.78%
(International) Shares
5 (BRR) EREAA HE 224,325,000
en)

Mr. Yeung Interest of a controlled Long 224,325,000 74.78%
corporation (Note) Shares
BEE Ry EEER (M) "R 224,325,000
yen)

Note: B -

224,325,000 shares of the Company are held by Zhong Jia (International). Mr. Yeung beneficially owns
100% of the issued share capital of Zhong Jia (International) and is deemed, or taken to be, interested
in all the shares held by Zhong Jia (International) for the purposes of the SFO. Mr. Yeung is the sole
director of Zhong Jia (International).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are not aware
of any person who had an interest or short position in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company which would require to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions”, related party transactions of our Group
that did not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules made during the Reporting
Period were set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, our Group had the following connected
transactions, details of which are disclosed in compliance with the
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The transaction amount of the continuing connected transactions of the
Group for the Reporting Period is set out below:

Bl it 5 22

BIAERRIERMERS | —BATREE
Sh - AR BRI E B EE A THAK L hRA
FUABETHHER A EMER SN
B RSN A M B RRMIEES -

B 2T o AR B R )

PNREERE - REEGUTAERS - HFE
TR EMRANE 4AER R ERE -

AEBERRENRFERERINRZFSEH

SR

Transaction

Amount for Year
ended
Connected Person Nature of Transaction 31 December 2022
BZE
2022%F12831H
BEAL REMUE LFEXZHR
RMB'000
ARETIT

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions

HHREIFREER S

Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan Property Service Property Management Service 4,441

Co,, Ltd. (Note 1)
ARBERRMERBER AR (M)

Framework Agreement

W)X E R IRGIER Wk
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Notes:

68

On 1 June 2021, each of Danzhou Shuanglian, Nanjing Hailan Haoyue Zhiye Co., Ltd. ("Nanjing
Hailan Haoyue") and Zhanjiang Hailan Zhiye Co., Ltd. (‘"Zhanjiang Hailan Zhiye") entered
into a property management service agreement (together the "“Previous Property
Management Service Agreements’) with Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan ("Nanjing Hailan
Huiyuan’), a connected person, pursuant to which Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan, or its local
branch company, would provide property management services to three sales centres of the
Company for 12, 6 and 12 months, for a consideration of RMB2,749,000, RMB837,000 and
RMB1,868,000 respectively. Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan is owned as to 60% by Shanghai Tailaishi
Construction Technology Co., Ltd. ("Shanghai Tailaishi’) and 40% by Mr. Zhang Jianing.
Shanghai Tailaishi’s ultimate beneficial owners include Mr. Yeung Man, a controlling
Shareholder, and Mr. Zhang Jianing. The scope of property management services under the
Previous Property Management Service Agreements include (1) providing property
management service at the sales centre including keeping the place in order, providing
visitor services, cleaning the sales centre, providing private banquet staff at the sales centre
(such as chef and assistants), providing information to home buyers and cooperating with
marketing events organized by the Group; (2) selecting and assigning property service and
management personnel in accordance with the requirements of the Group; and (3) providing

uniforms and access badges to personnel for working at the sales centre.

On 11 April 2022, the Company entered into the property management service framework
agreement ("Property Management Service Framework Agreement’) with Nanjing
Hailan Huiyuan, pursuant to which Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan (or any of its subsidiary) will
provide property management services to the Group for a term of two years and nine months
as the Company anticipates that the Company will enter into new property management
service agreement with Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan in relation to new development projects.
Under the Property Management Service Framework Agreement, the annual cap for each of
the three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 is RMB9.8 million.

On 11 October 2022, Shanghai Tailaishi carried out the disposal of the entire shareholding
interests in Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan to Mr. Zhang Jianing. As a result of the disposal, Mr. Yeung
ceases to have control in Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan. As such, Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan ceased to
be associates of Mr. Yeung and connected persons of the Company.

The actual transaction amount for each of Danzhou Shuanglian, Nanjing Hailan Haoyue and
Zhanjiang Hailan Zhiye, Danzhou Hailan, and Yuxi Jinawa under the Previous Property
Management Service Agreement and the Property Management Service Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2022 was in aggregate approximately
RMB77,000 , RMB2,122,000 , RMB980,000 and RMB1,262,000 respectively, which did not
exceed the annual caps of RMB9.8 million, RMB9.8 million and RMB9.8 million, respectively.

Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan is principally engaged in providing property management services in
the PRC. By entering into the Previous Property Management Service Agreements and the
Property Management Service Framework Agreement, the Board believes that it is beneficial
to the business of the Group to engage Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan for providing the property
management services to the Group as it is competitive in terms of price, efficiency, quality
and reliability in the provision of such services. For further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 1 June 2021 and 11 April 2022.
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Corporate Governance Relating to the Previous Property
Management Services Framework Agreements with Nanjing
Hailan Huiyuan

To ensure the terms under the Previous Property Management Service
Agreements are fair and reasonable and the Company’s conformity with the
pricing terms contemplated under them, the Company adopted the following
internal control procedures:

(1) in determining the term of consideration, the Company has made
references to a number of factors, including the comparable market
prices and government guidance prices (if applicable), to ensure that the
price is fair and reasonable and on normal commercial terms;

(2)  in the event that the total amount of costs is expected to exceed the
agreed amount of consideration, the Company will compare the labour
costs and other costs with the market prices of the same type of services
to determine the reasonable costs for the services; and

(3)  the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and will
continue to review the Previous Property Management Service
Agreements to ensure that the terms of the Previous Property
Management Service Agreements are fair and reasonable, and the
Previous Property Management Service Agreements are conducted on
normal commercial terms in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group and are in the interests of the Company and its Shareholders
as a whole.
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Corporate Governance Relating to Property Management
Services Framework Agreement with Nanjing Hailan Huiyuan

To ensure the terms under the Property Management Service Framework
Agreement are fair and reasonable and the Company’s conformity with the
pricing terms contemplated under them, the Company adopted the following
internal control procedures:

The pricing policy for all of the continuing connected transactions of the Group
will be supervised and monitored by the relevant personnel and management
of the Group to ensure that the relevant continuing connected transaction is
conducted on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The relevant personnel and management of the Group will review and assess
the terms before entering into a specific agreement to ensure they are
consistent with the principles and provisions set out in the Property
Management Service Framework Agreement. Regular checks will be
conducted to review and assess whether the relevant continuing connected
transactions are conducted in accordance with the terms of the related specific
agreements and the price charged for a specific transaction is fair and
reasonable and in accordance with the aforesaid pricing policy. In addition,
review reports containing details such as the latest utilisation rate of the
relevant annual caps and the updated list of relevant continuing connected
transactions, will be prepared by the relevant personnel of the Group on a
biannual basis. In the event that the utilisation rate of the relevant annual cap
reaches 80%, the Board will be informed for considering if the relevant annual
cap shall be revised and, if so, the Company will further comply with relevant
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors and the independent auditor of the

Company will also conduct an annual review on the pricing terms and the
annual caps thereof.
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Confirmation from Independent Non-Executive Directors

All the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that those transactions had
been entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company and the
Group (where appropriate);

(2)  either on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the relevant agreements governing the relevant
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmations from the Company’s Independent Auditors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged the auditor
of the Company to perform review procedures on the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions. Based on the work performed, the auditor of the
Company had provided a letter to the Board confirming that the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions:

(i) have been approved by the Directors;

(i) were, in all material respects, entered into in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group; and

(i) did not exceed the respective annual cap as set by the Company.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up to make recommendations on the
Company’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public
float as required under the Listing Rules for the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There has been no material subsequent event affecting the Group after the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The annual results and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Reporting Period have been reviewed by the Audit Committee
of the Company. Information on the work of the Audit Committee and its
composition are set out in section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on
page 26 of this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries
with all the Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the Model Code for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited (“Mazars”) who shall retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution will be proposed at the
annual general meeting to re-appoint Mazars as the auditor of the Company
for the ensuing year.

On behalf of the Board

Zhou Li
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BREE ~ ALl SRR

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Hailan Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of the Group’s
management on significant issues affecting the operation, and the
performance of the Group in terms of environmental and social aspects.

Preparation Basis and Scope

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) — “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” and has complied with “comply or explain”
provision in the Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in respect of corporate
social responsibility, covering its operating activities which are considered as
material by the Group — property development, sale and rental of developed
properties in the Hainan Province of People’s Republic of China ("PRC").

With the aim to optimise and improve the disclosure requirements in the
Report, the Group has taken initiative to formulate policies, record relevant
data, implement and monitor measures.

Reporting Period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the reporting
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

Contact Information

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our sustainability
initiatives. Please contact us by email to hailankonggu@hailanholdings.com.
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INTRODUCTION

As one of the world’s leading property developers located in Hainan Province
with primarily activities in property development and property investment, the
Group is principally engaged in the business of residential property in Hainan
Province. Its projects include commodity residential properties, commercial
properties and hotels. Property investment projects of the Group include
residential property leasing and parking lots located in tourist destinations like
Sanya, Haikou and Danzhou and targets at mid-and high-income vacationers
from all over the country who spend their holidays in Hainan Province.

The Group is rooted in the international tourism island of Hainan, focusing on
the development of high-end properties in tourist areas. The Group upholds
four principle values — “Standardisation, Innovation, Mutual Success and
Excellence” and strives to become a comprehensive developer and operator
for creating a better living environment. At the same time, the Group
recognises the importance of operating in a responsible manner for the
environment and community. We strive to achieve sustainable development
for affordable capital and long-term competitiveness by integrating
environmental and social factors into the management considerations.
Sustainability strategy is based on the compliance with the legal requirements
in the area where we operate and the opinions from stakeholders. The Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage and monitor the
risks related to environment, employment, operating practices and community.
Details of the management approaches to sustainable development of
different areas are illustrated in this Report.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGCAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group'’s business depends on the
support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have invested or will invest in the
Group; (b) have the ability to influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c)
are interested in or affected by or have the potential to be affected by the
impact of the Group's activities, products, services and relationships. It allows
the Group to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with each of
its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group's roles and
duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group engages with its
stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial relationships and to seek their
views on its business proposals and initiatives as well as to promote
sustainability in the marketplace, workplace, community and environment.
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The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained from the
stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s business

activities. The Group has identified key stakeholders that are important to our
business and established various channels for communication. The following
table provides an overview of the Group's key stakeholders, and various
platforms and methods of communication are used to reach, listen and

AEERETRBHEHARELBEDOR
# BRRHEIRELAEE - ARED
REHRBOEHT EBEBNE RN -
WERY S EEREE - TR ARENT
B REEEE  REAEENT SR
B -

respond.
Stakeholders Expectations Engagement channels
& HE SHERE
Government — Compliance with the laws and regulations ~ — On-site inspections and checks
B BTERER BiRE RS
— Proper tax payment — Research and discussion through work
HOE TR conferences, work reports preparation and
— Promote regional economic development submission for approval in the PRC
and employment FRTIFEE  TIERSHEHINT
RSB ER L R EM R LR
— Annual and interim reports
FERPHRE
— Company website
NGIE NS
Shareholders and Investors — Low risk — Annual general meeting and other
BRRREREE 12 B shareholder meetings
— Return on the investment RRBFRE REMBRRAE
& & B3R — Annual report and announcements
— Information disclosure and transparency FHREAE
AR ERE — Newsletter
— Protection of interests and fair treatment of NER
shareholders — Meeting with investors
RIS R e A T 5 HREEEH

— Company website and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited
NEME REBEBMEZHER AR
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Stakeholders

Expectations

Engagement channels

BHE e SHERE
Employees — Safeguard the rights and interests of — Meetings and conferences
(== employees eREERE
RIZE SR RER — Training, seminars and briefing sessions
— Working environment Fil - g ke
THERR Entertainment
— Career development opportunities [T
EERRH#E Intranet, emails, circulars and manuals
— Self-actualisation EEAY - EEP - ek R
BHER
— Occupational health and safety
Customers — Safe and high-quality products Company website, brochures and annual
BF ZEREBEEMR report
— Stable relationship RNEEY - EEM R E®R
T2 E R Email and customer service hotline
— Information transparency BEBRE P RBGERR
BAERE Feedback forms
— Integrity R EEFRAE
B
— Business ethics
[GESEEE
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Stakeholders

Expectations

Engagement channels

& ML SHERE
Suppliers/Partners — Long-term partnership — Business meetings, supplier conferences,
e, SR M REARARAR phone calls and interviews
— Honest cooperation (Bex HENgE  SEKEH
HHEE Review and assessment
— Fairand open ay R
YNSSYNG
— Information resources sharing
BMBERA=E
— Risk reduction
S
Peers/Industry Associations — Experience sharing Industry conference
A% TEHE SR TEEZ
— Fair competition Site visit
AFHE I
Financial Institutions — Compliance with the laws and regulations Consulting
TRKE BFERER EaE)
— Information disclosure Information disclosure
BEBEE BEBEE
Reports
HE
Communication through relationship
manager
BREFEIEER
Media — Transparent information Company website
e BB NSIE
— Communication with media Media conference
ey rgy Sl RmERETE
Public and Communities — Career opportunities — Volunteering
ABRALTRHEE TS =T
— Community involvement Charity and social investment
HE2E BERMERE
— Environmental responsibilities — Annual reports and announcements
REEME FHRRRE
— Social responsibilities
HEEE
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group understands
the expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained
allow the Group to make more informed decisions, and to better assess and
manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG reporting by
understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the business of the
Group. All the key ESG issues and key performance indicators (KPIs) are
reported in the Report according to recommendations of the ESG Reporting
Guide (Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of relevant ESG
reports of the local and international industry peers.

The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on the
importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal discussion of
the management and the recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide
(Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG area identified
above to ensure all the key aspects to be covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal discussion
among the management, the Group’s management ensured all the key
and material ESG areas, which were important to the business
development, were reported and in compliance with ESG Reporting
Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2022, those important ESG areas to the
Group were discussed in this Report.
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ESG GOVERNANCE
Board'’s oversight of ESG issues

Board’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the management of the Group'’s
sustainability issues. During the year, the Board and the ESG Working Group
spent significant time in evaluating the impact of ESG-related risks on our
operation and formulating relevant policy in dealing with the risks. The
oversight of the Board aims to ensure the management to have all the right
tools and resources to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy and
long-term value creation.

ESG Working Group

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and accountability, our
Group has established an ESG Working Group, which has clear terms of
reference that set out the powers delegated to it by the Board. We highly value
opinions of each stakeholder and treat them as the cornerstone for the
development of the Group. During the reporting period, the ESG Working
Group consisted of Executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer, HR Manager,
and Property Development Project Managers.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing and supervising
the ESG process, and risk management of the Group. Different ESG issues were
reviewed by the Working Group at the meetings. During the reporting period,
the ESG Working Group and the management reviewed the ESG governance
and different ESG issues.
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Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for material
ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted each year.
We ensure various platforms and channels of communication are used to
reach, listen and respond to our key stakeholders. Through general
communication with stakeholders, the Group understands the expectations
and concerns from stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to
make more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting
impact.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification by industry
benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritization with stakeholder engagement;
and (3) validation and determining material ESG issues based on results of
communication among stakeholders and the management. Hence, this can
enhance understanding of their degree and change of attention to each
significant ESG issue, and can enable us to more comprehensively plan our
sustainable development work in the future. Those important and material ESG
areas identified during our material assessment were discussed in this Report.

Board review progress against ESG-related goals and targets

The progress of ESG target implementation and the ESG performance of the
goals and targets should be closely reviewed from time to time. Rectification
may be needed if the progress falls short of expectation. Effective
communication about the goals and target process with key stakeholders is
essential, as this enables them to be engaged in the implementation process,
and to feel they are part of the change that the company aspires to achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years enables the company
to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results in achieving the visions.

Setting ESG targets requires the ESG Working Group to carefully examine the
attainability of the targets which should be weighed against the company’s
ambitions and goals. The ESG Working Group will specify whether the ESG
target is to be set on an absolute basis or intensity basis is essential for target
setting.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

As one of the world's leading property developer, the Group recognises
that it has an obligation to reduce the impact of our operations on the
environment and be accountable for the resources and materials that
are used in our daily operations. Throughout the year, the Group fully
complied with all of the relevant environmental laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, such as the Environmental Protection Law of
the People’s Republic of China in the PRC and the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 311) in Hong Kong. Besides, no concluded case
regarding environmental issues was brought against us or our
employees. The Group also regularly updates itself with the latest
development of the applicable laws and regulations on environmental
protection.

Apart from complying with the environmental protection rules and
standards, the Group emphasises environmental protection and seeks to
enhance efficiency in the use of natural resources and reduce the
environmental impact of its business operation. The Group takes the
initiative to implement the Environmental Protection Management
System since 2017. Upholding the principles of “prevention first,
preventive control, comprehensive solution”, the Group has formulated
a series of management guidelines covering environmental monitoring,
daily environmental management, specific project environmental
management and environmental incident management. The Group also
issues an environmental protection proposal to staff of the subsidiaries
of the Group, suppliers and business partners so as to improve the
environment as a team. We enhance employees’ awareness of
environmental protection by education and staff training.

To reduce the environment pressure caused by its operation, the Group
fully switched to a solar power heating system, replacing diesel stove for
supplying domestic hot water, and reduced the use of fuels since 2017.
Moreover, the Group considers taking further steps in air emission
management and adoption of renewable energy. To improve the air
quality, the Group fully complies with the environmental monitoring
initiatives conducted by government departments. We strive for
environmentally friendly operation through mitigating emissions,
improving resources efficiency and reducing significant impacts on the
environment.
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Emissions

As a property developer, the Group recognises that it has ethical
duties to reduce emissions. Given that all construction work is
provided by external service providers, the Group's business bears
low impact on air and carbon emissions. In the meantime, the
Group fully complies with all of the relevant environmental laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong where we operate.
These include the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China (2015) in the PRC, the Motor
Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty) Ordinance (Cap. 611) and the Road
Traffic Ordinance (Cap. 374) in Hong Kong. Besides, no concluded
case regarding emissions brought against the Group or its
employees during the year.

Air Pollutants Emission

Air pollutants emission control is essential to mitigate
environmental impacts and to protect employees’ health. For our
property development projects, the Group constantly encourages
its contractors to adopt responsible construction practices to
reduce air pollutants emission. For example, continuous sprinkling
is adopted in construction sites to mitigate the spread of dust.
Sealed containers are used for volatile gas to prevent the gas
leakage.

As our property development projects are subcontracted to
construction contractors, we do not have direct ownership or
control on the construction projects. However, we have a
construction department to closely monitor the construction
process carried out by our subcontractors to mitigate the air
pollutants emission. Our air pollutants are mainly generated from
the Liquefied petroleum gas ("LPG") consumption of the PRC
office for canteen cooking purpose and petrol usage by vehicles.
The Group always encourages our employees to reduce LPG
usage in canteen by gradually switching to use electrical cooking
equipment and to reduce business travel by promoting meeting
with business partners via video conferencing. The decrease in the
total emission of air pollutants in 2022 was mainly attributable to
the decreased canteen fuel use for cooking in the PRC office, as
well as the effective implementation of the energy saving
strategies in the Reporting Period. Furthermore, the Group targets
to reduce the emission of air pollutants by 5% by 2025.
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The air pollutants emission of the Group during the reporting
period is as follows:

Type of Air Pollutants

REBPRRERRNZERSREYH
BT

ERERNER

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 2.50 10.16
AEALH (NOY) T

Sulfur dioxide (SO») kg 1.01 0.32
&b (S0 T

Particulate matter (PM) kg 061 0.10
$5)F RERL(PM) TR

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission

Climate change is gradually concerned by the community. The
Group recognises that climate change poses a risk to its business
and it is committed to mitigating the effects of climate change.
GHG is considered as one of the major contributors of the climate
change.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct emissions
and scope 2 indirect emissions are mainly resulted from LPG and
petrol, purchased electricity respectively. Giving the majority of
the GHG emissions of the Group come from energy consumption,
the Group tackles the GHG emission by lowering the energy
consumption in our business operations. Policies and procedures
as described in the section “Use of Resources” to encourage
energy saving have been incorporated throughout the operations
in order to reduce the carbon footprint. The increase in GHG
emission in 2022 was mainly attributable to the increase in
electricity use for expanded PRC office area during the year.
Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce GHG emission by 5% by
2025.
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The GHG emission of the Group during the reporting period is as NEBNRE BB AE =R ED N
follows: NN

GHG Emission’

BEREHH
Scope 12 tonnes of CO,-e 28.18 245
#HE—? WM_EftiEE
Scope 23 tonnes of CO,-e 496.29 34449
#HE—: BM_RtiEE
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO-e 52447 346.94
RERBHMEE W_S(tiREE
GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO,-e/m? 0.29 0.19
RERBHRTE WM_SLiREE/THK

Waste Management BREYEE

The Group recognises the importance of waste reduction. Waste
management measures have been introduced to minimise the
amount of waste generated and reduce impact of our operation
on the environment. Due to our business operation nature, no
hazardous waste was generated during the reporting period.

Due to the nature of office operation, the non-hazardous waste
mainly consists of domestic waste and paper waste which are
collected by the property management company for landfill or
incineration. In the future, the Group plans to implement waste
sorting, promote recycling in the office and provide clearer sorting
guidance for staff, as well as encourage them to reduce waste at
source. Besides, the Group takes initiative to reduce the paper
waste amount by encouraging its employees to use double-sided
printing.

AEBERAARLBERMIERE
AREBEE 5| AR BEZ W 1 AR
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BREMBATE - ERRM2E
BEENE  NREHELEEL
ERBEEEREY -

HRMAEC EENE  BEEE
MEBEREB R RER - LB
EEERRR—WERRDHERR
BE o AEBABIRAREABTER
Mo RPAEHERN XA
BTIRHEEEM B - B
B THRSARIRE ° b - REER
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1 The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on the “Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from Greenhouse Gas Protocol.
BERBHNENDRAEREATE(RERERREERDFESRL -

2 Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or controlled by the Group.
#BE— RARERERSITHIN AR Z EREBER -

3 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the purchased electricity consumed by the Group.
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For the property development projects, the Group has
implemented “paperless policy” and published the Notice on the
Regulation of Waste Discharge of Construction Projects, requiring
all business units to strictly comply with the relevant laws and
regulations of China in terms of waste discharge, drainage design
and construction. The director, who is responsible for the design
and engineering, assesses the design and construction plans and
monitors the entire construction process according to the project
management policies and guidelines of the Group. Therefore, we
can avoid deviation from waste discharge standard due to design
failures or delay in construction. The Group also requires its
contractors to sort, classify and recycle (if applicable) the
construction and demolition waste produced. Construction and
demolition waste that cannot be recycled is delivered to landfills
by qualified wastes management companies and recyclable waste
is processed by recycling companies. During the reporting period,
daily office operation was the main source of commercial waste.
The decrease in non-hazardous wastes amount in 2022 was
mainly attributable to effective implementation of non-hazardous
waste saving strategies during the reporting period. Furthermore,
the Group targets to reduce the non-hazardous waste generation
by 5% by 2025.

The waste generated by the Group during the reporting period is
as follows:
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REERBREHBEENEED T
T

Wastes Unit

BEZEY) By

Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes 2.80 342
FRELEBEERERY A

Non-hazardous waste generated intensity tonnes/m? 0.0015 0.0019
ELBEEREYEE a5 oK
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Use of Resources

The Group considers environmental protection as an essential
component of a sustainable and responsible business. The Group
has an in-depth understanding of the importance of safeguarding
sustainable development of the environment and this to attach
importance to efficient utilisation of resources by introducing
various measures in daily business operations. It understands that
staff participation is the key to achieve such goals. The Group
strives to build up a working environment that emphasises the
"Green office” and “Low Carbon” policy such as a set of guidelines
to improve the efficient use of resources for long-term
sustainability. The Group has also adopted policies such as “Energy
Resource Control Procedure” to improve the efficient use of
energy, water and other materials.

Energy

The Group promotes the concept of energy saving and emission
reduction into the entire process of its development and
operation. In the meantime, the Group puts effort to promote
energy saving awareness among its staff by posting related
reminders or messages through emails, recommending them to
switch off all the lights, computers and printers by the end of the
work day. The Group encourages all of its employees to set their
computers to sleep-mode automatically when left idle for a
certain period of time. Printers and copiers are also set to sleep-
mode automatically for the computers.

In order to keep pace with the market trends, the Group regularly
upgrades its existing facilities such as replacing outdated
computers, phones and other electrical appliances to meet the
needs of our customers and enhance operational efficiency. The
Group adheres to environmental protection and waste reduction
principles for its upgrading processes, and reuses existing facilities
and materials wherever possible, so as to reduce waste.
Meanwhile, it also actively uses eco-friendly equipment for any
replacement. With these measures, not only can the energy
consumption be saved, but also the GHG emission can be
reduced.
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In relation to office operation, the Group's lighting system has fully
adopted LED energy-saving light tubes to increase energy
efficiency. Office daily operation involves a significant number of
documents. Through the information management system, the
Group aims at creating a paperless environment. Staff could
reduce paper consumption by conducting internal document
approval and downloading training materials through the system.
The increase in energy consumption in 2022 was mainly
attributable to the increase in electricity use for expanded PRC
office area and more frequent vehicle fuel use for business travel
during the year. The Group has set inclusive total energy
consumption reduction target by 5% by 2025.

The energy consumption of the Group during the reporting
period is as follows:

IR NEEE  ARENRAR
ﬁai%ﬁme%%WA’%ﬂ
R - MAEREEES LK
EXHER - AEEFEBENER
ES ﬁjﬁiimuﬁf&f‘ c BT A
LB B % RTINS S L
ﬁﬂMTﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ'ﬁ9%%ﬁ
momnim%%%ﬁﬁﬁng
MR FEREERNTRBAZE
SRR EEH hﬁmm$%ﬂﬁ
TIEIATEN o Lo - REEBERT
B 1ER 2025 R AT A sEIREFELE
2L 5% o

3 O

an>

N5 B R A HA R A 8RR OB A
I

Energy Consumption

BEIRUH ¥

Purchased electricity MWh 601.30 412.35
SNEE T JE LB

Petrol MWh 11275 -
T KL

Towngas MWh = 3.81
B JEE B

Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) MWh 2.30 7.96
RAL AR GRIEAHR) JKFL

Total energy consumption MWh 716.35 42412
RERHRERE KR

Energy consumption intensity MWh/m? 0.395 0.234
RERH R E KEE,FI3K
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Water

Water is an important natural resource. For water consumption in
Hong Kong office, the water supply is solely controlled and
centrally managed by the property management company of the
building, it is not feasible for the Group to provide water
consumption data as there is no separate meter for each individual
office unit on water usage record. However, we still actively seek
ways to mitigate water consumption. For example, the Group
encourages water recycling by connecting the washbasin outlet
pipe to a water storage tank to use wastewater for toilet flushing.
Besides, the Group conducts regular inspection of each operation
stage to minimise leakage and wastage as well as posts posters in
office to encourage employees to save water. The increase in
water consumption in 2022 was mainly attributable to more
frequent cleaning work for coping with outbreak of COVID-19
pandemic and expanded PRC office area during the year.
Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce the Water consumption
by 5% by 2025.

During the reporting period, the water consumption is as follows:

7k
KEEBRRER - BEBRAE
ZRKME  HKTVAREDEE
BRARBAIEH RPREE -
REEFAEEMYEB I ERL
SRRKE - BAE B ERREAK
g - AW RADEBEES KIS
SERA K flin - REBE B
VEF R KE EEFKE - BKA
YESREI AR - DUREEIRAK - It
SN REBIBBTHBRES L
BIREN - BB ARIRE R RS
RE - WRPTARRE®R - AH
B{EBEXAK - 202 FHAKE
EINEZHRFRABREL COVID-19
BB mMESEE R RIIER
B o b - REE B IERR 2025
FRTHEAKER LD 5% o

REREHAR - ARSI

Water Consumption Unit 2022 2021
RS By 2022 F 2021
Water consumption m? 151,853 9,328
FKkE SR
Water consumption intensity m?3/m? 83.62 5.14
RKEE SRR

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources A3. BB RAENE

The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase business
opportunities. Regarding the business nature of the Group, we do
not aware of any significant impact of our business activities on
the environment and natural resources. Despite this, we
endeavour to consistently improve our environmental
performance by implementing aforementioned waste reduction
measures and resources saving initiatives. We will continue to seek
opportunities to further reduce emission and resources
consumption with the aim to reduce the impacts on environment
and natural resources to minimal.

AR BB B HETTIR AR I B AT R &
ERBRIIZINEE - SLAKERE
BUHEMS - RAILARTRERLFIN
EBERPHRBERRABREEM
BAFE -@ENL  BRMSH
BBWIT L AUR R i M AR BR
MITBIRERERITREA - BRI
K& EES K EE— RPN
RERBERE - BREEHRERRA
BRNFEREREK -
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Climate Change
Governance

Our group addresses climate-related risks based on the nature of
the risk to our operations. The physical impacts of climate change,
including extreme weather events, or damage to facilities have
immediate operational impacts and are treated as operational
risks. Long-term challenges, such as emerging ESG issues and
climate-related risks and opportunities, may be discussed by the
Group's ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks regularly during board meetings
and ensures that they are incorporated into our strategy.

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest trend of climate-
related issues, climate competence training will be provided to
ensure it has the necessary expertise and skills to oversee the
management of climate-related issues. Our Board also seeks
professional advice from external experts when necessary to
better support the decision-making process.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective governance for
integrating and addressing ESG issues, including climate change,
within our business. The ESG Working Group is responsible for
approving operational emissions targets for the Group and
commissioning an ESG benchmarking, as well as gap analysis
exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and policy relative to
the best practice standards. Moreover, the ESG Working Group
works closely with the Group's different operation departments,
with an aim to develop consistent and enhanced approaches on
addressing ESG risk issues and report to the management.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile through its
role in increasing the frequency and intensity of certain diseases,
and the health and mortality impacts resulting from natural
disasters. We assess the overall level of risk by taking into
consideration a range of diverse risk factors across the many
categories in our services range. This diversity of risk is combined
with our business strategy and broad geographic footprint helps
us mitigate risk and provide protection against the impacts of
short-term climate change effects.

Our products and services continue to provide protection for
people in our communities against weather and heat-related
disease. Besides, we continue to explore opportunities to engage
our business partners and encourage them to develop climate
resilience and reduce their operational carbon footprint by taking
into consideration of different climate-related scenarios, including
a "2°C or lower scenario” through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate Change Effects

As climate change measures proceeds, there is a possibility that
the industry will be exposed to substantial changes, such as
stricter policies including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology and changes in
customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on the International
Energy Agency (“IEA") scenarios and others, we developed
multiple future images as the external environment that will
surround our Group. With regard to the IEA scenarios, we put
focus on the 2°C scenario (2DS) and pictured future images in case
where climate change measures do not progress and where such
measures progress further “Beyond 2°C scenario”.

SRHE

RIRE R B ERRFIBERERL
— 8 - EHEEINE TRMIEE R
SBENRBANEHEERILTH
TE - RPPRBERRGEE AN
ZEpMEERREARAFEEE
[R\B K F o Bl H % T L B APIR
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Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the future
images developed in Step 1. We believe that in such a society, it
will be possible to expand carbon dioxide reduction effects.

With regard to effects on raw material procurement and
production, introduction of and increases in carbon pricing is
anticipated in accordance with the global advance of climate
change measures, leading to the possibility of higher raw material
procurement and production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change measures
are not adequate throughout society, production interruptions
and supply chain disruptions are likely to increase as a result of
higher frequency and intensification of natural disasters such as
flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-renewable
energy in our daily operation. This strategy will allow for flexible
and strategic responses to each demand for the regions where
the emission factors of purchased electricity consumptions are
high. By promoting real carbon emissions reductions throughout
the world through comprehensive energy-saving policies and
introduction of renewable energy, we are working to achieve zero
carbon emission in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through comprehensive energy-
saving and introduction of renewable energy. With respect to
renewable energy in particular, we have set a new target, achieve
a reduction rate for purchased electricity in coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability and
progress of the Group's strategies, we believe that we will have
opportunities for stable funding and sustainable increases in
corporate value through appropriate information disclosure,
dialogue with institutional investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or to test the
existing risk management strategies under climate change with
the aid of risk assessment. Hence, the areas where new strategies
are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach using
national data, local information and expert knowledge, which can
identify how climate change may compound existing risks or
create new ones. The risk assessment is conducted through the

following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context
Objective/goal

Scale
Time frame

Climate change scenario for most climate variables and sea
level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

Identify the record of occurrence of climatic hazard in the
past in the area

Risk management strategies in place to tackle future
occurrence of the hazard

[ b B
AEBEBRIREECABEAR - %
& Bh R R R A SRR B E T 3R
BRBEIEREE - Fit - FPIal &
PEFBZE I RAAE -

[\ & 17 5K R Rl B R AN VIR TS
B MABEREE  EHERRE
KA - BEB R RIERE LA {ahn
BIBR B R Iéiﬁﬂ - BRAR
PR B IR AT BT

E—# RIME
VL

B
Ry FEIAE 2R

REXRZHRRAZEERER
BFERENREZ(CIFR

FE=4 HENEBRE (BLERE
)
Bl EAEEERKELE
EOETRE7A

BB A EEHRRAENRR
BIERES
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Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

Explore climate change projections for the selected time
frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

Identify potential hazards

Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may get
worse under future projected changes

Identify new risks that can emerge under future projected
changes

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e., geographical
areas, business operation, assets, ecosystems, etc.) that has
the potential to be at risk in future

As outlined within the Governance section above, the Group has
robust risk management and business planning processes that are
overseen by the board of directors in order to identify, assess and
manage climate-related risks. The Group engages with
government and other appropriate organizations in order to keep
abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/or fiscal
changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change in regard to
monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our daily operation.
However, there remains gaps in understanding how such climate
risks and opportunities may impact our operations, assets and
profits. Our Group assesses how the business addresses climate
change risks and opportunities and takes the initiative to monitor
and reduce their environmental footprint.
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Significant Climate-related Issues ERREHASE
During the reporting period, the significant climate-related NEREHIA - E,ﬂ«&/jz—I AN
physical risks and transition risks, which have impacted and/or EEREE M) CEmk
may impact our Group's business and strategy in (i) operations, AR 7 ~ (i) 1t pE g2 &Ffﬁfé (iii) i
products and services, (ii) supply chain and value chain, (iii) FERIERRIEE) - (WIFEIRE RV
adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv) investment in research B RE T ENEEELETENR
and development, and (v) financial planning, as well as the steps {I% BENEXRETERMS &AER
taken to manage these risks, are as follows: AN AE TR R E R T B AR AY
EE&%‘CE'JWT :
Climate-related risks description Financial impact Steps taken to manage the risks
L B B 5 A 4 B E R EEZZE MR iE
Physical Risk
ERRAR
Acute physical risks
SHEERER
— Increased severity and frequency of extreme — Operating cost — Planned to adopted scenario
weather events such as cyclones and floods, increases analysis to disclose an
strong wind. Hence, staff are easily injured. B KA IE N organization’s planning under
In addition, under the extreme weather — Capital cost increases future scenarios, most notably one
events, the costs of transportation, due to the damage of with in a “2°C scenario”.
communications and living increase, which facilities ETEIFANBE R - BEARK
may lead to financial loss. R IEEE R E RK BE(ERBEELE [22CERDT
R R R E M (REEBRADLK « 38E) ARIE NN EBEARE
BIRREE M FISERIZ N - AUt - EIRH — Established a natural disasters
214G o AN EmRREMT & emergency plan
W BEREEKAAE LR AIEE PR KB EEEE -
A EK -
— Increased likelihood and severity of wildfire,
which may hinder the operations of
companies. Financial loss occurs due to the
interruption of supply chain, logistics and
transportation.
A NEYRTRE M R BRI AE AN
PEBE TR & o (ISR - YIm RiE QFIJ‘:F'
BT P Re S| BB ISIE K -
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Climate-related risks description Financial impact Steps taken to manage the risks

JEBL B B9 = A ot MR AEEZEE M EREA i

Chronic physical risks

et ERRR

— Prolonged hot weather may increase the — Revenue reduces from  — Planned improvements, retrofits,
energy consumption. decreased production relocations, or other changes to
FE SRR R A B REREFELE N © capacity and the facilities that may reduce their

— Climate change brings uncertainties to the negative impacts of vulnerability to climate impacts
environments of property development. workforce. and increase the climate resilience
Although direct losses will not be incurred EfTHERITAZE in long term.
by the company, this may still affect and WEETESH NS AT Sl TRRME R - BUE R
limit the property development and sales, W e Bo HMEE - RIEME 168
as well as rental of developed properties 2REEHRIRTZEMNEELLE
significantly. 7 WiRERIEEER T
RIRE R ERBIRFEHRTEE — Engagement with local or national
o BEARTRELEEEE  BY governments and local
FHRBERHENUREREMFEHESTIA stakeholders on local resilience.
REXBBBARTE KRR A e T4 e B AR 3 SR B 5K

— Prolonged climate change may detriment B R A FF D EEE

the human’s health. Continuation of
temperature rise can increase the fatality
rates and incidence rates of some diseases,
especially the one related to cardiac and
respiratory system; the spread of some
climate-sensitive diseases such as malaria
and dengue fever may increase.
SENRIRECARRBEEARRE - R
BT N LR BRI S TR
BRE - LEHFEOEATRASHE @
BV ¢ AR B ED D AR SR A
R - BIIER RS 2R (EHE -
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Climate-related risks description

Financial impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

0 B B S A 4
Transitional Risk

b2

AEEZZARMERNNER

Policy risk

BUR E B2

— As a result of energy efficiency requirements, —
carbon-pricing mechanisms increase the
price of fossil fuels, or policies to encourage
sustainable land use, hindering the area of
expansion, which increase the operation
cost.
HREFREESK - IRE BRI AMN
BB - e B T A BN AR —
RIABERIHER - BINEERA o

— Mandates on and regulation of existing
products and services as of the tightened
environmental and safety laws and
standards of oil. We have to spend much
compliance cost to update or maintain the
equipment to fulfil the new regulations.
HRIRIE R T 2 E 01 R A REER
B HRGERKRBHORERRE -
BPIRIEBAREA RN AT M MER
1 U MERE °

Operating cost
increases due to
increased insurance
premiums for the
company.
ANRIRBEZ NG
B AIG -

Risk of trade increases.
B ZRBIE M -

— Planned to be involved in carbon

trading and adoption of clean
energy in the operations to reduce
the carbon emissions.
SRR S - WEE
ERRAZRFER - R
e

Monitor the updates of the relevant
climate-related environmental
policies, to avoid the unnecessary
increase in cost and expenditure
due to the violation of the climate-
related environmental policies.
EREARGE BRREERN
BHER - @R EEAR MG
THBERRARFAX -

Legal risk

AR

— Exposure to litigation. We have to adapt the —
tightened law and regulations issued by the
government due to climate change, and
they have the risk of litigation once they
failed to obligate the new rules.
FAAERR o ARNRIRE(L - BFILRE
eI T AR5 ) B B AR HDE R ROER » —
BRgeESTHARA - RIEERRARL o

— Enhanced emissions-reporting obligations.
We may have to spend much time on
fulfilling the report standards to comply the
new obligations.
BB ERTS - IR REFEE
FERREBIRELR - LBTHNE
7 o

b=

Operating cost
increases for high
compliance costs and
increased insurance
premiums for the
Group.
BRKARERAE
(R b B 4G AN B R
ERCRIE N o

Monitored the updates of
environmental laws and
regulations and implemented GHG
emissions calculations in advance.
ESIRBAREER M EIIE
S RATETTIR E R B
ATHE -
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Steps taken to manage the risks

AEEZZARMERNNERE

Climate-related risks description Financial impact

JEBL B B9 = A ot MR

Technology risk

B e

— Sourcing the low carbon and energy-saving — Capital investment in
construction raw material and developing technology
energy saving technologies for construction, development increases.
the capital investment and R&D expense AT ERIRE
increase consequently. B e

RIBEIRETRE RS R R M A B2 58
EIRERT - EARERABHER B
20 -

— More green building strategies with low-
carbon, energy-saving technologies are
adopted by industry peers. Lagging behind
may weaken our competitive edges.

B LRk - SRR B RR R R
MRTTERA o KB H1& AT 82 & HI S5 F 1
BERFES -

— Planned to invest in the
innovations of energy saving
technologies for construction
FHEIRE B LA R R BV BT

— Examined the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
low-carbon and energy-saving
technologies into our operation.
RIS %5 A 8 ) (AR % B B B Tl
FERMEEMN A ITIERITER °

Market risk

5 2k

— More customers are considering climate- —
related risks and opportunities, which may
lead to changes in customers’ demand for
products (developed properties for sales).
FENEFZERIMEBRER RS -
AREREFHER MEREHEE)FT —
SKE B o

— Uncertainty in “market signals. "How
environmentally friendly the product is”
becomes one of the factors to affect the
property selling price.
MISEROHTEEEE - [EmRR
BRENAKATEEREBNEEZY —

— Increased cost of construction raw materials.
More environmentally-friendly raw materials
may be much expensive, which may
increase the construction cost.
SRR BIRANIG AN - BERREY R KL
AIREE MR E - HEEIBAR o

Revenue decreases for
the change in revenue
mix and sources.

Yo o5 A 18 e SRR B 2
ftBBU R
Operating cost
increases as abrupt and
unexpected shifts in
energy costs.
CIDENASAY S
ZIN BB &
B LT o
Production cost
increases due to
changing input prices
and output
requirements.
BRABRERELRTE
BB LGB EER AR
#n -

— Tightened the control of the
environmental hazardous materials
in property construction of our
developed properties and studied
the application of recycled
materials.

K ERBEYRPERER
EMEREYE R LA
ATEAMERER
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Climate-related risks description

TR Bz B o A

Financial impact
MR

Steps taken to manage the risks

AEEZZARMRNNER

Reputational risk

ERER

— Unable to fulfil the expectations of the
customers, damage the Group’s reputation
and image.
ReeEmeEPHE  BEAKENEE
MR o

— Stigmatization of our business sector, such
as more stakeholder concern or negative
stakeholder feedback on the property
design in a less environmentally-friendly
way.
HEMOEBHPIA5RAE - I AR
PREFTARANDENE Z 51D ER
I B EFF D ERE -

Revenue decreases — Supported the green construction.
from decreased XIS B -

demand for goods and — Fulfilled the social responsibility by
the decrease in organizing more activities or
production capacity. executing actions to demonstrate
EmBERED RERE how we place importance on
TRRERWRERD climate change.

Operating costs BWE L EFNEENT B
increases from negative THEEME BT ASEER
impacts on workforce
management and
planning.

LE) T AR EIR
BHPEREEENX
AN

During the reporting period, the primary climate-related
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts were as

follows:

Detailed description of climate-related opportunities

RBEHRE - TERREBEER
RENTBZENT

Financial Impact
MR E

15 A8 BA 3B O = 4B 1
Resource efficiency

— Reduce more packaging material usage
ARUER D ERRS BEMH
— Reduce water usage and consumption

D IKEREE R S E R

— Operating cost reduces through efficiency gains
and cost reductions

BB AR D EE A

Energy source

BEIR AR

— Use of lower-emission fuel sources
2 AR BERUR LR

— Use of supportive policy incentives
R IE R IE b

— Use of new technologies

18 T RHR

— Operating cost reduces through use of lowest cost
abatement
B RIERARBER D & @R A

— Returns on investment in low- emission technology
increases

KA E B
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Detailed description of climate-related opportunities Financial Impact

KIZEREBNFART B E
Products and services
A AR 7%
— Development of climate adaptation and insurance risk ~ — Revenue increases through new solutions to
solutions adaptations needs, such as insurance risk transfer
il 7 5= Ml 228 18 I AR B B\ B R 5 R products and services
— Ability to diversify business activities 2B R IR R bR 2R A o M RS S PR S SRk
AL EBIEBERE S FRRR T SRIG Ik 2
Markets
M5
— Access to new markets — Revenue increases through access to new and
AR IS emerging markets
7 R AT B B B T 35 18 hn iR
Resilience
Bt
— Participation in renewable energy programs and — Market valuation increases through resilience
adoption of energy-efficiency measures planning, such as infrastructure, land and buildings
S A B A RYIRET 8| R ERERETRE e FHBINEGE R - i RABFEHE MR NG AN
— Resource substitution or diversification miSHE
BEREREZTT — Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate
under various condition increases
HEEa SN RESRGE T EENE 1R
— Revenue increases through new products and
services related to ensuring resiliency
A TEIR B I AR B 0 2 mn SR RS hn e
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Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and manage climate-
related risks and opportunities. The energy consumption and
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions indicators are the key metrics
used to assess and manage relevant climate-related risks where
we consider such information is material and crucial for evaluating
the impact of our operation on global climate change during the
year. Our Group regularly tracks our energy consumption and GHG
emissions indicators to assess the effectiveness of emission
reduction initiatives, as well as set targets to contribute our effort
to have minimal impact on global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target applies and base
year from which progress is measured are described in the section
AT: "Emissions” and section A2: “Use of Resources” of this Report.
Our Group adopts absolute target to manage climate-related risks,
opportunities and performance.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

B1.

Employment

The Group believes people are our most important asset to the
continuing development and success of our Group. As such, we
aim to attract and motivate talents, maintain a safe and equal
working environment and promote health and well-being of our
employees. We pay special attention to its employees’ rights and
strictly complies with the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum
Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other relevant regulations. The staff
handbook covers our Group's standard in respect of
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination
and other benefits and welfare.

The Group strives to construct a diverse and inclusive workplace
where all our employees are treated with dignity and respect. We
strongly oppose to all discriminatory behaviours against any
individual on their gender, age, nationality, race, colour, disability,
creed, religion, sexual orientation, marital status or family status.
The principle of equal opportunities is applied in all employment
practices, including but not limited to recruitment, promotion and
transfer, work allocation, benefits and training and development.
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The Group has formulated competitive remuneration packages to
retain and motivate employees in achieving key goals of our
Group. We provide remuneration for its employees according to
their qualifications, experience, performance, job duties and
service years as well as to the market benchmark. We perform
salary review on an annual basis to ensure its remuneration
practices are competitive and aligned with market rate. In addition
to salary, we provide mandatory provident fund, allowances,
required social security benefits, medical benefits and variable
incentive-based remuneration such as discretionary bonus to our
employees. Employees are also entitled to various types of leave
including annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave and paternity
leave.

The Group acknowledges the importance of work-life balance and
strives to maintain a supportive and relaxing working environment
for our employees. We organise activities such as annual dinner for
employees to relax and to strengthen their sense of belongings. In
addition to those specified in the Employment Ordinance, we
provide paid or partially paid leaves and support services or
activities for our employees to handle urgent personal and family
matters. We also provide family care and supports to our
employees and/or their family members to bring a positive impact
on their family life. We are committed to building a pleasant
working environment to enhance the happiness of our employees.
During the reporting period, there was no aware of any non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that had
significant impact on our Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits
and welfare. Any changes of employment terms will be notified to
staff and agreed in writing to protect the lawful rights and
interests of all employees.
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As at 31 December 2022, the employee compositions (in R202%F 128318 MR- F
percentage) by gender, age group, geographical region, WE - IREE - BEARRERE
employment category and employment mode are as follows: BEREDHEERMAMT ¢
2022 2021
Employee compositions ESHK 2022 & 20214
By gender gl ey
Male - B 59% 59%
Female ey 41% 41%
By age group BFREE D
Age 30 or below - 30BmEAT 42% 41%
Age 31-40 - 31-40%% 42% 41%
Age 41-50 . 41-50B% 13% 15%
Age 51 or above . STBERBA L 3% 3%
By geographical region i E B E 5
Hong Kong . BB 1% 3%
PRC . FRE 99% 95%
USA - XM - 2%
By employment category REEERE S
Senior management - AREEE 9% 7%
Middle management . FREEE 20% 22%
General . —RIEE 71% 71%
By employment mode REREXE S
Full-time . R 100% 100%

mEERARAE 20228% (03



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RS~ #her EREHAE

The employee turnover rates by gender, age group and REREHRA - ZIER) - FEE R
geographical region during the reporting period are as follow: BEIGEDMEEREARIT ¢
2022 2021
Employee turnover rate EERAE 2022 F 20214
By gender R R85
— Male — B 61% 51%
— Female — 69% 47%
By age group REREBE D
— 30 o0rbelow — 30BRIIAT 70% 51%
—  31-40years old — 31-40B% 61% 49%
—  41-50years old — 41-50B% 59% 43%
— 51 years old and above — S1EmMEME 56% 61%
By geographical region R EEE 5
— ThePRC — FEH 65% 51%
— Hong Kong — &BF - -
— USA — =M = 17%
Overall ) 64% 50%
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B2. Health and Safety B2. fRREE %%

The Group regards occupational health and safety as its most
important aspect of corporate risk management. The Group
strictly complies with Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
and Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases. In this year, there were no cases of non-
compliance in relation to health and safety or work-related injury
within the Group.

The Group not only strictly implements relevant laws and
regulations but also proactively formulates internal policies and
standards related to specific business departments of the Group.
The Group's Staff Handbook emphasises safety disciplines
including the execution of safety system, the 5s management
(organisation, rectification, clearing, cleaning and personal
qualities) of workplace, protection and operation standards of
construction safety, etc. Staff should abide by the Production
Safety Law and the Group's safety management regulations and
follows the relevant requirements of safety system certifications.
The Group arranges health checks for staff with over one year of
service annually to ensure they have good physical health. The
Group also provides them with a Work Safety Handbook to
enhance their safety awareness.

The Group has established an internal policy on safety
management and has assigned different safety compliance duties
to different teams in order to reduce potential risk with clear
division of labour. For construction sites, the engineering
management department of the Group is responsible for security
management and prevention of construction site accidents while
the safety management team is in charge of the monitoring of the
entire construction process of the project to protect safety of staff.

During the year, there was no work injury case (2021: nil, 2020: nil)
and lost day due to work injury (2021: nil, 2020: nil) in our business
operation. There was no work-related fatality case (2021: nil, 2020:
nil) during the reporting period. Employees were given paid sick
leave for their recovery. Overall, no employees had serious
accident during the reporting period.
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B3. Development and Training

The Group is committed to providing continuous training and
learning opportunities to employees to develop their talents and
to expand the Group’s business. The Group has provided
numerous development opportunities throughout the year to
employees at all levels. These include induction training, firm-wide
training and department-specific training. All employees have
equal access to training and development opportunities. We have
established an employee self-education subsidy programme with
the aim to encourage employee to continue self-development.
We also operate a new staff mentoring scheme, aiming to equip
new members of the staff with necessary knowledge and skills to
help them adjust to their new positions.

In future, the Group will continue to provide a wider range of job-
related training programmes to our employees. Besides, we will
consider to enhance employee self-education subsidy programme
to encourage more employees to participate in the training
programmes. We will also consider and establish a staff training
profile to identify the training need of each employee.

During the reporting period, the percentage of employees
received training by gender and employment category was as
follows:

Percentage of employees
received training

ZIEENB DL

B3.
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By gender R R85
Male - Bi 13% 100%
Female ey 20% 96%
By employment category RERERE S
Senior management SREERE 23% 75%
Middle management RRERE 10% 989%
General —KIEE 16% 92%
Overall Eoge 16% 100%
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During the reporting period, the composition of employees RERE B - IR R EE AR S
received training by gender and employment category was as DHXIMES AR T -
follows:

Composition of employees

received training

oS AR

By gender R85
Male S 47% 64%
Female 7t 53% 36%
By employment category RERERES
Senior management mREEE 13% 5%
Middle management FRAREIEE 13% 24%
General —RIEE 74% 71%

Furthermore, the average training hours by gender and

employment category during the reporting period was as follows:

Average training hours
received per employee

BEEENTHZINEFEH

AN - PR BRI R R (R 1R 4R
REIDEFAZ LT

By gender ZER 85
Male S 0.1 1.7
Female i 0.2 19
By employment category RERERES
Senior management RREEE 0.2 33
Middle management FREREE 03 23
General —RIEE 0.1 1.1
Overall B 02 18
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B4.

far N E TR

Labour Standards

The Group is committed to protecting human rights in workplace
and has zero tolerance to the use of child or forced labour during
our operation. The Group understands that child labour and
forced labour violate fundamental human rights and international
labour conventions and may constitute threat to the social and
economic sustainability. According to the Staff Handbook, the
Group strictly complies with the law in its recruitment process to
prohibit the hiring of individuals aged under 16 and any form of
forced labour or involuntary labour. The Group will review the
actual age of new hires by checking their identity documents and
making detailed records. Under the overtime work management
system of the Group, staff can receive rest periods or overtime
subsidy based on the nature of overtime work to avoid involuntary
overtime work. The Group respects staff's right of association and
collective bargaining via legal and peaceful means.

The Group strictly complies with the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Using Child Labor issued by the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China. According to the “Prohibition of Child Labour
Control Procedure” of the Group, person under aged 16 is not
allowed to work in the Group. The Group respects the right and
freedom of employees as stipulated in “Prohibition of forced
labour control procedure”. During the reporting period, the Group
did not have any case related to child labour or forced labour.
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B5.

Supply Chain Management

As a property developer, the Group actively cooperates with
contractors for property construction services. The Group
recognises contractors and other suppliers as valuable
stakeholders within the supply chain. Their responsible business
behaviours are crucial in contributing to quality excellence of the
property, operational efficiency and good reputation of the Group.
In pursuit of this goal, the Group has formulated the Supplier
Management Practice Guide to regulate management of
construction projects and suppliers of services. The Guide defines
the main duties of relevant departments of the Group and
provides clear guidance with regard to procedures such as the
ranking and categorisation management of suppliers,
qualifications management, selection and assessment, relationship
maintenance and conflict management and handling of non-
compliance.

The Group encourages contractors and subcontractors to use
more environmental friendly equipment and facilities and to
adopt more environmental friendly new technologies. When
contracts are signed with external subcontractors, the Group will
make sure that both parties understand the environmental
requirements and regulations. Construction units responsible for
environmental facilities must hold relevant certificates from their
seniors or government departmental heads. Construction units
must avoid pollution at all costs during their work. In case of
vegetation damage, the construction units must adopt recovery
measures to reduce the negative impact on the environment. The
Group also emphasises on the selection of products that cause
minimal impacts on the environment, for example, the Group has
priority in procuring green construction materials that with greater
energy efficiency, recyclable, with less harmful to the environment
and with less packaging materials, in order to reduce the
environmental impacts.

B5.

3% W g 4 B

ERMEZRRRE  ARERYER
ERBEGEABEMEE - KE
ER R AR EL L H MR E
BABEBENTNHE - HAREW
BETAHAKENESENG
R REMEPRENBEERE
R aEMBET AREFET
(HEmEERFERES)  RHHE
BT MRGHERNER - 53l
FEAREMEBBPANEEZRE -
WHHHEEENO RN BEE - &
REE - EBETE  BREER
BREE  UWREMBRIESTIFE
Fréa TiBMESl -

AEEZREABEMDBEERE
IRIRAVERME MR i - A RERAE IR
PREVETEA SN TR A B BT
HA LTIRANE AEESHERE
FTHRARFRERMBTE - AERRK
R RS T /AL A BR A L
AT £ E #BFIRIAERRE T -
M TBEER - M T EAIZRB N IEE
53 HIREYREE - T
BZBRBUWREREE O BUIEEIRE
BB ETE - NEE T EFER
BYRBFEROER  fIIAK
SEELRBERSERUE - A/E
W HRRBE  BEMB DN
REZEME - R HRENF
.

WERRARAT 202248 109



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BREE ~ ALl SRR

110

Bé6.

The Group equally values the social performance of its supply
chain. In this year, the Group issued an open letter to remind all
business partner units to refrain from offering gifts or benefits of
any kind to staff of the Group. Company name will be removed
from the Group's directory of partners for non-compliance. The
Group encourages business partners to lodge complaints against
or report on staff who request for benefits. Both the Group and its
business partners have to sign the Anti-Corruption Agreement
and abide by laws and regulations of the PRC and the Group in
relation to anti-corruption. At the same time, the Group also
requires construction contractors to assume responsibility for
protecting its workers’ safety on the construction sites and
purchase insurance for them. During the year, we had 466
suppliers (2021: 125 suppliers) located in the PRC.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that achieving high quality standard of
property development projects and delivering quality product
and services to our customers are crucial to sustainable growth of
the Group. Hence, the Group has stringent control of property
development projects and data protection policy to protect the
interest of our customers. The Group is in strict compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations related to product
responsibility, including Product Quality Law of the PRC and
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. During the reporting period,
the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance on
product responsibility issues.

The Group has also formulated a quality control procedure to
conduct regular monitoring through the internal team and an
independent monitoring company to ensure that all projects
comply with relevant regulations and the standards of the Group
in every stage so that quality and safe buildings can be provided
for the public. Before delivering the property to the buyer, the
customer service management department and the quality
monitoring company conduct a final check to ensure the quality
of the property meets the prescribed standard.
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In addition, the Group complies with laws and regulations related
to advertising and labelling by stating in detail the maintenance
period, definition of maintenance liability and maintenance
boundary in the commodity property sales contract, the
residential building user guide and residential property quality
warranties. In case of any construction problems, clients can reach
the Group by visiting the property centre, making a phone
appointment or complaining in the WeChat group. Then, the
Group will schedule repair work accordingly.

Apart from formulating quality control and building maintenance
procedures, the real estate advertisement of the Group complies
with the law and refrain from disseminating any misleading
information. To protect clients’ information, the Group has
included related confidentiality requirements in the Staff
Handbook. To protect clients’ interest, staff must keep the Group's
confidential documents and internal information safe; these
include contracts, agreements, statement of intention, feasibility
report and all demand and supply information and client profiles.
During the year, no complaint (2021: nil) related to the sales of
properties or tenant rental services was received. Besides, there
was no property unit sold (2021: nil) subjected to recalls for safety
and health reasons by the Group during the Reporting Period.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to operating with a high standard of
integrity and accountability. The Group strives to prevent illegal
behaviour such as corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

The Staff Handbook of the Group regulates the code of conduct
and work ethics of staff. Staff cannot request or accept
remuneration from related business contacts. In case gifts or
commissions are received in external business dealings, it should
be handed in to the Group according to the Gift Management
System. The staff should not use company resources to obtain
personal benefits. The Group has formulated the Hailan Holdings
Whistleblowing System to encourage clients, staff, shareholders
and business partners to report fraudulent behaviour. The Group
keeps the identity of the whistle-blower strictly confidential. The
whistle-blower can report to the audit and legal departments
anonymously. The Group also awards staff who report non-
compliance or offer hints. In this year, there was no reported case,
litigation and case of non-compliance related to corruption within
the Group.

The Group provides training sessions of anti-corruption to the

directors and staff. During the year, the number of employees
received anti-corruption training and the training hours by
employment category are as follows:
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Anti-corruption training RESFIEI
Number of employees received training ZIMEEBAE
Senior management BREEE = 2
Middle management RRERE = 3
General —fREE = 5
Total employees EEHEAE = 10
Number of training hours 33 B Y
Board of directors EEay = -
Senior management mREEE = 2
Middle management R ERE - 3
General —REE = 10
Total training hours #5258 = 15
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B8.

Community Investment

The real estate business is closely connected to community
building. The Group endeavours to understand the needs of the
community where it operates. The Group has formulated the
Corporate Social Responsibility Work Management Mechanism to
include social responsibility efforts in the daily management work
planning. When selecting business partners, the Group gives
priority to suppliers located in Hainan in order to strengthen the
relationship between the Group and the local community.

By helping our society to build a healthy and energetic
community, the Group contributes to sustainable development in
the community. Between April and September every year, the
Group will organise a large-scale community campaign in Sanya
Phoenix Water City. To promote community interaction, the Group
has initiated diverse community networking activities which
include interest groups, health activities and cultural and festival
activities. Besides, residents can use a sports mobile app to
accumulate personal mileage in exchange for gifts. Residents can
also choose to donate their mileages on complementary facilities
in the city.

Apart from developing community networking activities, the
Group liaised with charitable organisations around the area to
conduct fund raising activities through an online platform. The
Group organised the “Read for the Blind” campaign by utilizing the
WeChat platform to allow users donate their voice. Each
participating resident can donate one minute of reading through
their cell phones for the blind.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

ITREE - 2R —REERBEANIER (BREMER)

A. Environmental

BREL - Aw RE RS R

Section

= foc

ERp

KSR R

A%

Al:Emissions

Al BERU

General Disclosure “Emissions” 83
—MRBER [BER Y |

KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data "Emissions — Air Pollutants 84
BRERIER | BERUIERR RAR B R Fmission”

Al [HER — ZE s R BER ]

KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate, “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 85
RASRAEIEIZ | intensity Emission”

A12 BERBAFRER(MER)EE [HER) — R = REBHER

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, Not applicable to the Group’s N/A
BREBUER | intensity business. TEA
A13 FEAREREMEER (WER)TE TERRAEENET -

KPI'AT.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where “Emissions — Waste 86
RASRAEMIEIR | appropriate, intensity Management”

Al4 ELREEEEYERER (WMER)EE [BEmY) — BEEMERE |

KPI'A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results "Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 84
BASEEBUIEIR | achieved Emission”

A15 U R B 2 B HE b S PTG AR [HER) — R = REEHER

KPI'A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | “Emissions — Waste 85
RAS4EIEIZ | handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved Management”

A16 REREERBEEREYNE  REELSNEN | [HIRY — EEZYERE]
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Environmental, Social and Gevernance Report
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

TREE €K —REERBARERER (BREXER)

Section

= s/

EERp

A2: Use of Resources

A2 BIRIER

General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 87
— MR EE [BRERA]
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total "Use of Resources — Energy” 88
RASEIEIZ | and intensity [EIREA — LR
A2.1 RENEIDNEE R SHERREEREE
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — Water” 89
BRERIER | RRKEREE [BREA — K]
A2.2
KPI'A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results “Use of Resources — Energy” 87
RASRAENIEIR | achieved [ERER —aelR]
A23 el il B {8 R Az v 8 R PTG AR
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water “Use of Resources — Water” 89
RASRAEIEIZ | thatis fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results [BERER— K]
A24 achieved

A SKEGE A KR AT A (ERIRERE - AR A Rk s st

ESGIESTIES
KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if Not applicable to the Group's N/A
RASRAEIEIZ | applicable, with reference to per unit produced business. TEA
A25 2EGEEBMGENRHKSIAEEMRNEE (I | NERAREAEENES -

#EA)
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIBRARABIR
General Disclosure “The Environment and Natural 89
— IR Resources”

[RFERRAEIR]

KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the “The Environment and 89
RASEAEIEIZ | environment and natural resources and the actions takento | [FRBRRKAEIR
A3.1 manage them

AR BRHHRBERARARERNERZERERNE

BEBTENTTE
A4: Climate Change
A4 - RIREME
General Disclosure “Climate Change” 90-94
—ARIEE Rzt ]
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which “Climate Change” 95-101
RASRAEIEIZ | have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer,and | [ RIEE 1L ]
A4.1 the actions taken to manage them

HlE R LA BETANERNREHEBEEERER

RERFHEXENT

WEERARAE 20228 |15




Environmental, Social and Govezr-rréi/ﬁ/ce Report
BRI~ dher LER A

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

FTHEE - @R —REERBRENER (BRERER) =:1]
B. Social
B. %4 &
Employment and Labour Practices
EBRERZIER
B1: Employment
B1 : E{E
General Disclosure “Employment” 101
—RIREE [ %]
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and | “Employment” 103
RASRAEIEIZ | geographical region K=
BI1.1 RIS~ BRI - FEE IR R S 5 B fE B AR
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and “Employment” 104
RASRAEIEIZ | geographical region [21E]
B1.2 RIER - FEERMIEE S 5 E SRR

B2: Health and safety
B2: fEFREZL R

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 105

—ARIEE [MfEREZ

KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities No work-related fatalities were -

BRBEIIER | AILERERMIETHAB R E noted during the reporting period.

B2.1 RIRERE - AEEHRREIE
BRI T AR -

KPIB2.2 Lost days due to work injury No work-related injuries were -

FRERIER THEERTERE noted during the reporting period.

B2.2 RBEHRE - REBERETIE
BRMILTAIMESR -

KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures “Health and Safety” 105

RASRAEIEIZ | adopted, how they are implemented and monitored [fERREiZ 2 |

B23 AP ER AN B R R R R 248 - DA MBI T B

BIE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

Section

= s/

FREHE -

8HE  —REERBARENER (BREXER)

B3: Development and Training

B3 : R NI

EERp

General Disclosure "Development and Training” 106
— AR EE =958
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained and employee category | “Development and Training” 106
BRENER | XIEEB DL RIESEA [ & R sEsl ]
B3.1
KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by "Development and Training” 107
RASRAEIEIZ | genderand employee category [E R kiG]
B32 RIERIREERERNE D - BREETKEIN TR
B4: Labour Standards
B4 : BT AR
General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 108
—RIXE [25 T8 |
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to “Labour Standards” 108
RESE4EMIEIZ | avoid child and forced labour [ T8 |
B4.1 Rt s BB HI R M AR 2 E T R A% T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when “Labour Standards” 108
RASRAENIEIE | discovered [45 T A=A |
B4.2 A FE B IR B RAE SR E R A B 15 00 P ERER B 2P B
Operating Practices
EEEH
BS5: Supply Chain Management
BS : i@ E R
General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 109
—RBEE [MErEsEE IR
KPIB5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region "Supply Chain Management” 110
BRERIER | RIS HHERRE [ E IR |
B5.1
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, “Supply Chain Management” 109
RASBAEIEIZ | number of suppliers where the practices are being [ e E 2 |
B5.2 implemented, how they are implemented and monitored

AR RHERERNED - mERTERENNHE

BHE - AREBRENNRITRERTE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

IRHE 8K —REERFERERER (BREMER)

B6: Product Responsibility

B6 : EmEATE

Section

= s/

EERp

General Disclosure “Product Responsibility” 110
—AREE [EmEE]
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to No products sold or shipped subject -
RASRAEIEIR | recalls for safety and health reasons to recalls for safety and health
B6.1 BESEERERAHEPALT 2 BEFIEHM AL | reasons were noted during the
Bkt reporting period.
RMEHE  AEERAZ R
Kol R 3% e fn Z8 Wi [l 9 2 &5 3K
BEHEEmR -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | No products and service related -
RASEEIEIZ | and how they are dealt with complaints were received during
B6.2 BN Em RRGOIRFE B A R EE A the reporting period
RIRERE - REEEERR
BRI HE R
KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to observing and “Product Responsibility” 110
RASRAENIEIZ | protecting intellectual property rights [EmET]
B6.3 i ot B B2 5 I ARPE AN EE RE R V1B 5
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall “Product Responsibility” 110
RASRASIEIZ | procedures [EmEE]
B6.4 & 4% E B2 I 2 mm B WA 7
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | “Product Responsibility” 111
RASRAEIEIZ | how they are implemented and monitored [EmEE]
B6.5 MU B E ERHRE RALBBER - ARMEERITRER

Valzs
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and

FREHE -

B7: Anti-corruption

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)

8HE  —REERBARENER (BREXER)

Section

= s/

EERp

B7 : RES
General Disclosure "Anti-corruption” 112
— MR [R&ES]
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | No concluded legal cases were -
RAS4EIEIZ | brought against the issuer or its employees during the noted during the reporting period.
B7.1 reporting period and the outcomes of the case RBEHRRN - REEREER
RBERANHBEITAIHEERBWEEENETHA | WEREMN -
RUOEE MFAER
KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing "Anti-corruption” 112
RASBAEIEIZ | procedures, how they are implemented and monitored [R&EF]
B7.2 T B E S b S BRI T - LA MR T B R 50
KPIB7.3 Number of anti-corruption training provided to directors and | “Anti-corruption” 112
RARERIEER | staff [RE)5]
B7.3 fHilmEERE TRENRESE
Community
HE
B8: Community Investment
BS - ttRITE
General Disclosure “Community Investment” 113
— MR R [tEREE ]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental “Community Investment” 113
RASREWIEIZ | concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport) [+ @EIEE |
B8.1 HIEREE(HE RREH LIFR BR-
Xk - 8E5)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area | “Community Investment” 113
BREBUER | T2 FEBABAER (N B ER) [ttEREE ]
B8.2
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mazZars
B H R K

To the shareholders of Hailan Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hailan Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on
pages 128 to 251, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

R 2 2 IH

PRt F AR PIRIEF X HE R R T
AR BRENBTRASEENTIA - 5
LEHEARMBAERGEAMBHRER LA
BREETEIEN  HMATSHELFHEREH
BEENER -

Valuation of properties under development and completed properties held for sale

BEFPYERIFEHECERY RN EE

Refer to Notes 3.1(ii), 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

AR A TERA ML 3.06) ~ 17X 18

The Key Audit Matter
HARETEE

As at 31 December 2022, the gross amount of Group’s
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale were stated at RMB4,933 million and RMB1,934 million
respectively. The accumulated write-down of the Group's
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale were stated at RMB539 million and RMB19 million
respectively. As disclosed in Note 2.4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the properties under development and
completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value ("NRV").

K202 128310 ESEZRRDPYERBIEHEER
BB RZINR/ARE49B3EETRARKE 1,934
BET. BEEEERDPYELFEHSDERMENR
HRESRIZIAARKESIOEBTRARBIOBETT -
WA AE T BERRIMT 24 E - BRPYDERIFEHEE
BRI ERAA R AT R FE([A#RFE]) HRIE
EEF| o

NRV is the estimated selling prices of properties in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The cost of
residential properties, commercial properties and carparks of
the Group may not be recoverable if their selling prices have
declined, or if their estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs to be incurred to make the sale have increased.
AERRER A EEKERETMENGTEE - BUEKH
HET AR SEITIHE AT B ERAR » WEEB T » S
SRRV ET RN RS E PR R ST I - Bl B

BEEME  BRMEREFELNKAT—E/IKRE -

]

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB NAREZEE

Our key audit procedures to assess the NRV of the Group's
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale included the following:

BMst EREERTVERSIEHEEDEXYENAE
WHENETETBREATEH#ERT

conducting site visits to property development sites, on
sample basis, and discussing with management the
progress and development budgets reflected in the NRV
calculations and the latest forecasts for each selected
property development project;
HYEHRERETHERSER  WEBERERN
i R Al S B REFH E R IE B £ E M RKCATE
BEURSEEYFEZRIE R N&NTEA

obtaining and evaluating the NRV calculations prepared
by the management and assessing the qualifications and
experience of those individuals who prepared the
calculations;

B EHRERBRENAIZRFEFTESR I
AR EROA TR ER KR

MR A RAT 2022/
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

JIER

e 2wt IA ()

Valuation of properties under development and completed properties held for sale (Continued)

BEPYERIFEHECERYFE R 141E (F)

Refer to Notes 3.1(ii), 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

R A TERERMGE316) ~ 17K 18 (48)

The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
REETEE(E)

The calculation of the NRV of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale at the financial reporting
date is performed by the Group’s management. The NRV of
certain properties under development and completed
properties held for sale were assessed with reference to
valuations carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer (the “Valuer”). The estimation of NRV of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale involves
significant judgement on the valuation basis and methodology
used and the assumption applied. The assumptions adopted in
the estimation and valuation are affected by the expectation of
future market, cost to complete and future economic
conditions.
ERPYENFHEHES B ER VKRS B e A&
WHEEMGER EXEEEEET  ETERTFUER
FEHEE R ENAZRFEN2EBIAEREE
RERD ([RERT ) ETH M EMT L o FRERAPYERFFE
HE B R E R R FENGHS RERNGEREER
AR ERBBRROEARHE - FRERAR 5T RAERR
BXIRRITIGTEE BT RARREER AN ZE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

BERWETFONMEEZER (H)

assessing the appropriateness of the estimated selling
prices of the properties used by the management, on
sample basis, with reference to the latest market prices
achieved in the same projects or by comparable
properties, including an evaluation of the appropriateness
of the comparable properties used by the management
of the Group based on our knowledge of the Group's
business and the PRC real estate industry;

2ER-HBNAIELRMERENZHME - R
BEMY BSREEBRTEEMETENRS
MEFHREREBAERANYENEFEERES
B eiETh EEEEEEAMEANTELRY

ERBRE:

evaluating management’s budgets, by reconciling the
significant cost elements to signed construction
contracts, benchmarking the percentage of cost
component, and evaluating the reasonableness of the
estimated cost to completion of the properties under
development and completed properties held for sale and
the costs to be incurred in selling the properties, on a
sample basis, by comparing the cost to actual
development cost of similar completed properties and
comparing the adjustments made by the management
to current market data and assessing if they are updated
on a timely basis to reflect any changes in
implementation of management's plans;
RIBRBEBAKAER HEREZESRETRE N
FHMEERERE  AHARAERE DB A D KF
MR RN EBRALCER Y EN B R ERAR
PA K He 88 T2 T Y B3R B T 05 BORHE H B9 HI R - DA
BREEELE/EINEST (S LRI %/ E I IS AC Ty
AR EZEMEREENONERS A8 KT
ERERERSERENMURMERETEHITA
R REA )
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

R 2 2 OE ()

T-UEF

Valuation of properties under development and completed properties held for sale (Continued)

BEPYERIFEHECERYFE R 141E (F)

Refer to Notes 3.1(ii), 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

EFREFETERARM L 3.16) ~ 17 ] 18 (4

The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
REETEE(E)

Moreover, the estimation of NRV of certain properties under
development and completed properties held for sale involves
significant management judgement and estimation in
preparing and updating project feasibility studies and
estimations of the costs to complete each property
development project as well as in assessing the expected future
selling prices for each property and the estimated future selling
costs.
dEoh - BT BEREP Y ERFEHE DR E AT #IR RE
EfRET S ME IR B R N B R IR B AT IR ST MRS
M ERE R KA EE AR R RRSENENE
B MAAFT AR RHE AT EEL BN A B AT
We identified the assessment of NRV of the Group's properties
under development and completed properties held for sale as a
key audit matter because of the inherent risks involved in
estimating the costs to complete each property development
project and the future selling prices for each property
development project, particularly in light of the current
economic circumstances in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC).
BME#N BEEEBERTVELFIEHED BERYEN
AIERFENERMRESFE  RERMT TRZIME
ERIAB MR NS REREROARREEMMS LA E
BRER  FHIRERPEARKLNE(HE]) B RIHLHE
RS

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

BERWETFONMEEZER (H)

re-performing the calculations made by the management

in arriving at the year end assessments of NRV on a

sample basis;

ﬁ?ﬁ“éi%T‘Zﬁ%rﬂ’]i?ﬁ—]“ﬁi%‘ﬁ%‘%ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁi
EITENE

reviewing the valuation from the Valuer and discussing
with the management and the Valuer to understand and
evaluate the valuation basis and methodology used, and
underlying assumptions;

ERHEMNGEELREREREEM® - KT
iR M AT PT R VR EEER % - AREBRR

evaluating the objectivity, capabilities and competence
of the Valuer; and
FHEEERMEEN BEIRBEE &
performing sensitivity analysis to determine the extent of
changes in those estimates and assumptions which,
either individually or collectively, would be required for a
significant change of estimate of the properties under
development and completed properties held for sale and
considering the likelihood of such a movement in those
key estimates arising.
L‘ﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁ’%ﬁ NEFTERERPYENIFEH
ERYMERREAGAESATNZELER
TE““(TE%%HIE‘HZEL) MWEBIRE  WERZS
FEHEHREBEBH RN -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information include in the 2022 annual
report of the Company but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exits. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

A% B A 8 AR S I i AR R I Y
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Independent Auditor’s Report

P ST A% BRI R o

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicated with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied

with

relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

P ST AZ B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe those matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2023

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is:

Chan Chi Wai

Practising Certificate number: P05708
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Consolidated Statement of Profitor Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

A R g AR A T i R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B E ARBTR ARETE

Revenue & 4 1,391,710 557,571
Cost of sales Fizk=1D N (954,999) (257,877)
Gross profit EF 436,711 299,694
Other income EH g A 5 4,806 6,732
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEFEX (75,434) (67,587)
Administrative expenses THHX (109,345) (119,806)
Losses on changes in fair value of investment & & ¥ 2 N T EZ BB

properties 13 (31,596) (29,978)

Realised gain arising from financial assets BRER A B ([RAFER
at fair value through profitor loss (FVPL"),  AEB#HE WL REENDER

net W5 1,304 8,538
Share of results of an associate S E AR EA 15 (941) (2,784)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B B A J e M s 35(b) 11,412 17,142
Gain on disposal of associates S A F H B - 4,720
Write-down of properties under development 5 2% & b ) 5 %= A 437 S% (8

to net realisable value 17 (692,981) -
Operating (loss) profit K (EE) RF (456,064) 116,671
Finance income B FS UL A 8,936 5,827
Finance costs B TSR ZR (27,766) (32,197)
Finance costs, net B # B A< R ER 6 (18,830) (26,370)
(Loss) Profit before taxation RRBLAT (B8 &R (474,894) 90,301
Income tax expenses Frig®if sz 7 (152,959) (132,021)
Loss for the year FREE 8 (627,853) (41,720)
Other comprehensive income (loss): Hit2mEUWA (B518) :

Items that are/may be reclassified subsequently RSt @RAEZ B 7 HE
to profit or loss: Emh)EE
Exchange differences on translation of BEP SRR AZYEERN
financial statements to presentation PEH Z%E
currency 16,407 (4,299)
Reclassification adjustment related to the HERINEGRBEN D AR
disposal of foreign operations - (256)
Other comprehensive income (loss) BRBEERFEAHEMEE

for the year, net of tax WA (E8) 16,407 (4,555)

Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEBRAHE (611,446) (46,275)
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Consolidated Statement.of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

m Em&\mé@W§%

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 5
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B aE AR¥T T ARKETT
(Loss) Profit for the year attributableto: LA T & IEE(LER (EE) ZHF :
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE Z SN (631,634) 15,448
Non-controlling interests AR 3,781 (57,168)
(627,853) (41,720)
Total comprehensive (loss) income UT&EREZE(EE)
attributable to: WA
Owners of the Company VNI ZS N (619,274) 12,552
Non-controlling interests FEIE R 7,828 (58,827)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREZEERAHE (611,446) (46,275)
(Loss) Earnings per share attributable ARREEAELEZ
to owners of the Company SR (58 BT
(expressed in RMB per share) (LEBRARYSIR)
— Basic and diluted — EANEE 9 (2.11) 0.05
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Consolidated Statement of Finaneial Position

AR BB IR LR

As at 31 December 2022 722022412 A 31 H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T ARET T ARETIT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MRE 11 208,667 34,908
Investment properties EYE 13 505,188 75177
Intangible assets mEE 14 838 1,003
Interests in an associate REEE R RIERE 15 8,097 9,038
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H M e FRIE 20 37,687 5,565
Deferred tax assets EEFITEE E 25(b) 54,084 40,543
814,561 166,234
Current assets REEE
Properties under development BRAPME 17 4,393,592 6,888,536
Completed properties held for sale FHEHE DB ME 18 1,914,630 494,415
Contract costs BRI 19 116,468 91,381
Trade and other receivables B 5 REAMEIGIE 20 302,879 324,231
Current tax assets BIEATR I & & 25(a) 74,443 50,490
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABENEHEE
profit or loss 16 3,852 2,607
Restricted cash ZREEE 21(@a) 483,494 453,731
Cash and cash equivalents RENRSEED 21(b) 594,623 454,088
7,883,981 8,759,479
Current liabilities S =R
Trade and other payables B 5 NEAEA A 22 1,863,062 2,048,088
Contract liabilities aHEE 23 3,248,596 2,874,733
Bank and other borrowings HRITREAMER 24 429,388 472,400
Current tax liabilities BNHAfE B aE 25(a) 268,868 213,661
5,809,914 5,608,882
Net current assets REBEEFHE 2,074,067 3,150,597
Total assets less current assets HEERRBEE 2,888,628 3,316,831
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR BB IR LR

As at 31 December 2022 72202212 A 31 H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T ARET T AREFIT
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EMER 24 1,386,559 1,168,502
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIBEE 25(b) 465,501 491,804
1,852,060 1,660,306
NET ASSETS AEFE 1,036,568 1,656,525
Capital and reserves EXRf#EE
Share capital A&z 26(b) 2,585 2,585
Reserves #E 26(c) 918,614 1,467,029
Equity attributable to owners KAREEAELER
of the Company 921,199 1,469,614
Non-controlling interests SRR = 34 115,369 186,911
TOTAL EQUITY RS 1,036,568 1,656,525

FIEEEBENZEREATBHRER
203 F3 A3 AKLESTSHERTETIE - I

These consolidated financial statements on pages 128 to 251 were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and

signed on its behalf by:

A TATRERRE

Zhou Li Fan Wenyi
A S8 3%
Director Director
EFE 2

i HE P BT PR )

202248 3]



Consolldated Statement of Changes in Equity

x\/—‘l'ﬁ 1;

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREREARE
Transactions
with non-
controlling Statutory Non-
Share Share QOther interests surplus Retained Exchange Total controlling Total
capiel premium reserve feserve resenve profis reserve resenves Subrtotal Interests equity
B3R AR
i R &R il RERSEE Pt REER ERGE @ it EERiER s
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO000 RMB000 RMB000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETL ARETFT AREFT ARBTT ARBTT ARETFT
(Note 26(b)) (Note 26(c)(i)) (Note 26(c)(if)) (note 26(c)(ii) (Note 26(c)(v)) (Note 26(c)(v))
(o)) (Mt  (Wsae)  (RsEaeii)  (REE260) (st 26(00)
Balanceasat 1January 2021 34202151 A1 BA0EH 2585 136791 1391582 (374062) 182986 4821 (3580) 1481,968 1484553 429405 1913958
Profi (Loss forthe year R (BR) - - - - - 1548 - 15448 1548 (57169 @)
Other comprehensive loss EREpEAGE
for the year.
Exchange differences on BEBRRAZI RS
translation of financial HELER
statements to presentation
currency - - - - - - (28%) (28%) (28%) (1659) 4555)
Total comprehensive ERZERA
income (loss) for the year (BB 88 - - - - - 1548 (28%) 12552 1255 (58827) (46.279)
Transactions with owners: EEEARTNRS
Changes i ownership nteests BERERED
Contrioutions from FEREROLE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 700 700
Changes inownership interests 1B & B0 MI
inasubsidary withoutchenge A AEAEERED
in control - - - (27491) - - - (27491) (27491) 8802 (18689)
Non-controling interestsarising ~ WEEMB A AIE£H
flomacouisiion of asubsiclary e B - - - - - - - - - 2997 2997
Disposal of subsidaries HEHBAA - - - - - - - - - (196,166) (196,166)
- - - (27.491) - - - (27.491) (27491) (183667) (211,158
Balance as at 31 December 2021 720215128310 R
and 1January 2022 2025151 BNER 2,585 236,791 1,391,582 (401,553) 182,986 63,699 (6,476) 1,467,029 1,469,614 186,911 1,656,525
(Loss) Profcfor the year EN(ER)/ B = = = - - (631,634) - (631,634) (631,634) 3781 (627,853)
Other comprehensiveincome ~~ EREMZERA :
for the year:
Exchange differences on BERBRRAZIIER
translation offinancial HELER
tatements to presentation
currency - - - - - - 12,360 12,360 12,360 4,047 16,407
Total comprehensive ERZERA
income (loss) for the year (B8 4% - - - - - (631,634) 12,360 (619,274) (619,274) 7828 (611,446)
Transactions with owners HERAEITNRS :
Changesinonnershipinterests A REREE
Contributions from FEREROLE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - = = 6,367 6,367
Changesinownershipinterests  FEEIER ES{IHE
n a subsidiary without change AAEEERRED
in control (note 34) (Ff3t34) - - - 70,859 - - - 70,859 70,859 (71,909) (1,050)
Disposal of subsidaries HERBAR
(Note 35(b)) (Fi3E 35(6)) = = = = = = = = = 2,278 2,218
Dividend paid BiRE - - = = - - - - - (16,106) (16,106)
- - - 70,859 - - - 70,859 70,859 (79,370) (8,511)
Balanceasat R02%F1283188
31 December 2022 3 2,585 236,791 1,391,582 (330,694) 182,986 (567,935) 5884 918,614 921,199 115,369 1,036,568
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FaBleiiER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E AR¥ET ARETTT
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities F& EBEE (FTA)WEREER
Cash from operations LEEEMNR T 32(a) 255,088 113,868
Interest paid SEREAIESS (59,698) (78,292)
Income tax paid ETFTSEL (152,958) (114,426)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities KEETBESE (FTH) E T %5 42,432 (78,850)
Cash flow from investing activities RETHEENRSR
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  WENEE 9) (1,024)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEFEE (35) (924)
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BEERAFEFABRN
$EE E (798,980) (2,606,100)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at FVPL  $5&E 1R A FEF ABRA
TRYEEMSHR 799,184 2,617,638
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ui —fEIP B A R - (4,196)
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & — B & A R TS SRR - 70,401
Net cash outflow for disposal of subsidiaries HENB QAR R FE 35(b) (11) (30,058)
Interest received = U F B 8,936 5,827
Advances to associates El=NCIE=E = (18,528)
Repayment from an associate NP EN = 11,226
Loan to third parties ME=FER - (1973)
Repayment from third parties FEZRHEN 411 17,305
Repayment from related party A 7 = K 2,572 -
Net cash from investing activities KRE B ELN T & FEE 12,068 59,594
Cash flow from (used in) financing activities Bl & SEB E 4 (FTH) WHRER
New bank borrowings raised iR ITRE 32(b) 458,111 592,937
New other borrowings raised s H g 5k 32(b) 22,772 128,590
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBITER 32(b) (312,388) (177,228)
Repayment of other borrowings EEHMER 32(b) (13,238) (758,519)
Capital contributions from non-controlling JEFEER AL E
interests 6,367 700
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling U BB JE AR R 2R AU 1~ R
interests 35(a) (1,050) (74,837)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEHEBE 32(b) - (1,059)
Advance from non-controlling shareholders FEFE RS A SRR 32(b) 900 11,755
Repayment to non-controlling shareholders BEIR235 88 8= E 32(b) (18,155) (91,090)
Repayment to a former non-controlling BEIERZ L EEESE N
shareholder 32(b) - (6,000)
Advance from related parties A 32(b) 3,033 176,564
Repayment to related parties ) BA R 77 3B K 32(b) (61,750) (50,980)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BERZ G TN (16,106) -
Net cash from (used in) financing activities AT ENEL (BT A4 F5E 68,496 (249,167)

i B A B W
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FaBeiiER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5T ARET T ARET T
Net increase (decrease) in cash and HeRBREEEY
cash equivalents #INCRY) BEE 122,996 (268,423)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of REVHIRE MBS EEY
the year 454,088 727,489
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes GNPE RS F) g & 17,539 (4,978)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of RERHEENBRER
the year, represented by cash and RITHEBZERER
bank balances BHEEEY 21(b) 594,623 454,088
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

P
i

o I B R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

1.

2.1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hailan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 31 August 2015 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Company Law Chapter 22, (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of registered office of the
Company is PO Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street. Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands. The principal places of business of the
Company in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Hong Kong
are 2/F, No. 1 Building Hampton by Hilton, No. 169 Yu Lin Road, Tianya
District, Sanya, the Hainan Province, the PRC and Room 1603, 16/F, China
Building, 29 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong respectively.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in investment holding, properties development, sale
and rental of developed properties. The Company and its subsidiaries are
collectively referred to as the “"Group”.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”),
which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements is historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL")
which have been measured at fair value as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise indicated.

2.1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
LR B R B E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2.1.

2.2.

136

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis
consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2021
consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and effective from the
current year as detailed in Note 2.2 to the consolidated financial
statements. A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by
the Group is set out in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 37 Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs

2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 37: Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a
contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract
comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (for example, direct labour and materials) and an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR A AR M
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2.2. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.2, EEMEUKEE) (4)

Amendments to HKFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update a reference in HKFRS 3 to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in 2018. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its requirement for an entity to refer to
the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a
liability. The exception specifies that, for some types of liabilities and
contingent liabilities, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should instead refer to
HKAS 37. The exception has been added to avoid an unintended
consequence of updating the reference.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements Project — 2018-2020 Cycle

HKFRS 9: Fees in the “10 per cent” Test for Derecognition of
Financial Liabilities

This amendment clarifies that — for the purpose of performing the “10
per cent test” for derecognition of financial liabilities — in determining
those fees paid net of fees received, a borrower includes only fees paid
or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or
received by either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16: Lease Incentives

The amendment removes the illustration of payments from the lessor
relating to leasehold improvements. As currently drafted, Example 13 is
not clear as to why such payments are not a lease incentive.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements

e BB R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2.3. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised HKFRSs that are not yet
effective for the current year, which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies™

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates™

Amendments to HKAS12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction®

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and

HKFRS 9 — Comparative information™

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback®?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture®

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

@ The effective date to be determined
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these

new standards and amendments will have no material impact on the
Group's results and financial position in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR A AR M
For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, TEEFIEHORME

POLICIES
Basis for consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of the
Company, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is
made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are initially measured at fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-
controlling interest having a deficit balance.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
three elements of control described below. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.
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2.4.

140

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis for consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets
(including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, and (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and recognises (i) the fair value
of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or accumulated
profits/losses, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Any
investment retained in the former subsidiary and any amounts owed by
or to the former subsidiary are accounted for as a financial asset,
associate, joint venture or others as appropriate from the date when
control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity, directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e. existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position which is presented
within these notes, an investment in subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses. The carrying amount of the investment is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher than the
recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, FEEFHBURME (4

T-UEF

POLICIES (Continued)
Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control of those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are accounted for under the
equity method of accounting, except when the investment or a portion
thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the investee's net assets
and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee, the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses when the Group's share of losses of the
investee equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in the
investee, which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group's net investment in the investee.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investees, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial assets at
FVPL at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. Fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

Wk % o Wl
= N ﬂ?aﬁ‘ilﬁﬁ,\ﬁmﬁj@?; Z
BER - -EAPERS2ERERRETHM

B & <<‘**LBZ Z%?‘J 1830 IR 4% S
(R 1 7% 5 R

AEBERBERR ZRETIAERES
BN RERET DD BEFBIELE
AIBRIN - IRIBHE L - WENT RN
ARk MEERLWBR A E D 15X
B2 EEFEZHRANKE 2 EM
BEBBERE RAKEARETER
HEFEE  IRBRET AR ZBER
Sh - EARSE#EMOPIRE T ZEBEEEN
FEBENWRE T R (BEEL LB
RAEBE R ET 2 EFE 80
ZEMRBER) 2 REER - AEER
IFEREM# D 2 EZER -

AREBEEEBERNRZHAETIZME
EEOARER @M R EE T ARE - W
AREBERWRE T RES DR - MK
ERBRERCEREERMREER
A% F RN M8 2 R

AT
SR B S R TR AR
SEARANE RS WAL - ATEA
MIBERER S QA FR BB
52 7 B o 98 2 L O 2
18 o RS VIR A E S
Bz R IR AESABEETHH(E
REEMERELT) BABRTSET -
EERSABRTHAASEETEN
T8 - AESAR A TEDERT

52 50 BAESA T EEHAZR
R E (RS RE KRS 2R
EREFATE) -

3F$%$§§Z/A$TE*+$MJ&W% %
HERBERAZEE R AREAR
B EENE TER ﬁ?%&?%
Rz R — M52 HEEmEELENR
ZEETT °

WEERARA T 202248 4]



Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
LR B R B E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the consolidated financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level T —  based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level

input that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, FEEFFEURAEE (4)

POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost
of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose
are as follows:

Vehicles 25%
Electronic devices 33.33%
Machines, furniture, office equipment and others 20%
Buildings 5%

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Completed properties held for sale and properties under development
would be transferred to property, plant and equipment when, and only
when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a)
the properties meet the definition of property, plant and equipment; (b)
commencement of owner-occupation, or of development with a view
to owner-occupation.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents properties under development held
for own-use in the production or supply of goods or services are stated
at cost less accumulated impairment loss. Cost includes construction
expenditures incurred and other direct costs capitalised during the
construction period. No depreciation is made on construction in
progress until the construction work is completed and the assets are
ready for their intended use. When the assets concerned are available for
use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment when
appropriate.
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2.4.

144

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes;
or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period. The fair
value reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases
and other assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
investment property under current market conditions and is adjusted for
separately recognised assets or liabilities to avoid double-counting assets
or liabilities.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or
disposal.

Completed properties held for sale and properties under development
would be transferred to investment properties when, and only when,
there is a change in use, evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the
properties meet the definition of investment properties; (b) the Group
has prepared a business plan that reflects the future rental income
generated by the property and this is supported with evidence that
there is demand for rental space; (c) the Group can demonstrate that it
has the resources, including the necessary financing or capital, to hold
and manage the investment property; (d) the change in use is legally
permissible; (e) if the property must be further developed for the change
in use, the development has commenced and (f) change in use is
approved by the board of directors.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, FEEFFEURAEE (4)

POLICIES (Continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (‘NRV") and comprise land use rights, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies, wages and other direct expenses,
an appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing cost. NRV
represents the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion
and costs to be incurred in selling the property.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless the
construction period of the relevant property development project is
expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle. On
completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties held
for sale if appropriate.

The land held for future development represents parcels of land owned
by the Group for the purpose of development of properties for sale. The
land is initially stated at lower of cost and NRV and is not depreciated.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and
NRV. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total development
costs for that development project, attributable to unsold properties.
The NRV is determined by reference to the latest market prices achieved
in the same projects or by comparable properties in the ordinary course
of business less selling expenses.
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2.4.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Amortisation
commences when the intangible assets are available for use. The
following useful lives are applied:
Software 10 years
The amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset, including property, plant and equipment, interests in
associates and intangible assets, is required, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the function
of the impaired asset.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, FEEFHBURME (4

T-UEF

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.

Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments and on a trade
date basis, except for financial assets measured at amortised cost which
are accounted for on the settlement date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset expire or
(i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset,
or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in
the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade
receivables are initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at
amortised cost; (i) debt investment measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“Mandatory FVOCI"); (iii) equity investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income; or (iv)
measured at FVPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets are
not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group
changes its business model for managing them, in which case all
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first annual
reporting period following the change in the business model.

(1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of
the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses arising from impairment, derecognition or
through the amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include trade and
other receivables, restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

2

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies
and financial assets that are otherwise required to be measured at
FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any dividend
or interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or interest
income is presented separately from fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i)

(iif)

acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term;

part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial recognition; or

a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not a
designated and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at FVPL only if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different

bases.

The Group's financial assets measured at FVPL include unlisted equity

securities.
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2.4.

150

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities
Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability is
extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the
case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings. All financial liabilities are
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless the effect of
discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts
that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder of the
contract for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its fair
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantee.

Subsequently, the financial guarantee is measured at the higher of (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised in accordance with HKFRS 15 and (ii) the
amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss (“ECL") model under HKFRS 9, unless the financial
guarantee is measured at FVPL or arises from a transfer of a financial
asset.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2.4, EEEFHEORME ()

S T H (%)

TRAE

HERE R AL IETERR
TREBENEREEAKREXNSTAS
KBRS 2 FTR T B RERR ©

EHEEREERR (AHEBSOENRE
ERET  EHER) ERAERLE
AR o

LA E
TREBEVNTRAFERR MM
BEYIFRAFEFAEL  MSME
TERAEERBEZIHMA

AEEZEHMBERREE S MEMEN
IR HERENRMRITREMERR -
ESRABNSHEARTFERER I
RERERRERAN KR8 85 A
B RIFRRBAFEITEAN - BIREA
BIBR

MBI B 2
AEBBEH 2 HBRRAOEREAN
RABENFHEARTEESARERE
B TR ZGEREESNBFAEMHERE
RKZEH - WBEREOVNTRATE
BRARE YRBLEREREED
RPRAVEHHE °

Hig - BERIR () 106 R 2 50
(ER) RBE B P ERELERNE 1557
FERH) RET A B 88 K () IRIZ B B M 75
BEEAFIFNEMEEER (A
FEERDEAEENEERESRD
MESEE  EMBERRAFER
ANBmTEBeREEBBTELR
1ERIE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial assets that are
measured at amortised cost issued to which the impairment
requirements apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. Except for the specific
treatments as detailed below, at each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to the
lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial asset
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present
value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference
between the contractual cash flows that are due to an entity under the
contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

For a financial guarantee contract, the entity is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, cash
shortfalls are the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the entity expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party. If the asset is fully
guaranteed, the estimation of cash shortfalls for a financial guarantee
contract would be consistent with the estimations of cash shortfalls for
the asset subject to the guarantee.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument while 12-month
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv)  industry of debtors

(v)  geographical location of debtors
(vi)  external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes
in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since initial recognition.
The resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised as an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the financial instrument, except in the case of
Mandatory FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling).

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for
internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets any of the following
criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Definition of default (Continued)

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account in the
assessment:

the debtor’s failure to make payments of principal or interest on
the due dates;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

actual or expected changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have or may have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due.
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2.4.

154

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a
party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. For financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers
the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

As detailed in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statement, loan to/
amounts due from a related party , restricted cash and bank balances are
determined to have low credit risk.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables without a significant financing components or
otherwise for which the Group applies the practical expedient not to
account for the significant financing components, the Group applies a
simplified approach in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
include observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c)  thelender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider.

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation.

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

() the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount
that reflects the incurred credit losses.

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no reasonable
expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on a financial asset
in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group expects no significant
recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are
written off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into account
legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised in
profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of bank overdrafts.
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2.4.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that
a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation. Expenditures for which a provision has been recognised are
charged against the related provision in the year in which the
expenditures are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to
items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or
loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations
and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, TEEFTEORME (4)

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4.

158

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when the properties
are let out and on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Dividend income from financial assets is recognised when the Group'’s
rights to receive dividend is established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or
Mandatory FVOCI that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
in case of credit-impaired financial assets.

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods

The nature of the goods provided by the Group is sales of properties.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, FEEFHBURME (4

T-UEF

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods promised in a
contract with a customer and identifies as a performance obligation
each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(@)  agood (orabundle of goods) that is distinct; or

(b)  a series of distinct goods that are substantially the same and that
have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of the following
criteria are met:

(@)  the customer can benefit from the good either on its own or
together with other resources that are readily available to the
customer (i.e. the good is capable of being distinct); and

(b)  the Group's promise to transfer the good to the customer is
separately identifiable from other promises in the contract (i.e. the
promise to transfer the good is distinct within the context of the
contract).

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good (i.e. an asset) to a customer.
An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that
asset.

The Group transfers control of a good over time and, therefore, satisfies a
performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the
following criteria is met:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced; or
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2.4.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

(c) the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group satisfies
the performance obligation at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when the transfer
of control occurs, the Group considers the concept of control and such
indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to payment, significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.

Sale of properties is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable.

Transaction price: significant financing components

When the contract contains a significant financing component (i.e. the
customer or the Group is provided with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods to the customer), in determining the transaction
price, the Group adjusts the promised consideration for the effects of the
time value of money. The effect of the significant financing component
is recognised as an interest income or interest expense separately from
revenue from contracts with customers in profit or loss.

The Group determines the interest rate that is commensurate with the
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and its customer at contract inception by reference to, where
appropriate, the interest rate implicit in the contract (i.e. the interest rate
that discounts the cash selling price of the goods to the amount paid in
advance or arrears), the prevailing market interest rates, the Group's
borrowing rates and other relevant creditworthiness information of the
customer of the Group.

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS

15 and does not adjust the consideration for the effect of the significant
financing component if the period of financing is one year or less.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, TEEFTEORME (4)

POLICIES (Continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods to a customer before the
customer pays consideration or before payment is due, the contract is
presented as a contract asset, excluding any amounts presented as a
receivable. Conversely, if a customer pays consideration, or the Group
has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a good to the customer, the contract is presented as
a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's right to consideration
that is unconditional or only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. Contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net
basis.

For the sale of properties, it is common for the Group to receive from the
customer the whole or some of the contractual payments before the
services are completed or when the goods are delivered (i.e. the timing
of revenue recognition for such transactions). The Group recognises a
contract liability until it is recognised as revenue. During that period, any
significant financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the interest
expense is eligible for capitalisation.

Contract costs

Contract costs are either incremental costs of obtaining or costs (other
than those that are accounted for as inventories, property, plant and
equipment, or intangible assets) to fulfil contracts with customers.
Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses.

The costs to obtain contracts are capitalised if they are incremental and
recoverable. The capitalised costs are amortised over the term of the
specific existing and anticipated contracts to which the costs relate. The
Group applies the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 and recognises the
incremental costs as an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have recognised is
within the same annual reporting period.
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2.4.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Contract costs (Continued)

The costs to fulfil contracts are capitalised if the costs relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated contract,
generate or enhance resources that will be used to provide goods in the
future, and are expected to be recovered. Other costs of fulfilling a
contract, which are not capitalised as inventory, property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets, are expensed as incurred. The costs are
amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods under the specific existing and anticipated
contracts to which the costs relate.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds (a) the remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the
goods to which the asset relates; less (b) the costs that relate directly to
providing those goods and that have not been recognised as expenses.
A reversal of impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when the
impairment conditions no longer exist or have improved provided the
increased carrying amount of the asset shall not exceed the amount that
would have been determined if no impairment loss had been
recognised previously.

Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, and the cost of non-
monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The Group joins in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the "MPF
Scheme”) for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, TEEFTEORME (4)

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at
inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term leases and
low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated with these leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease or an
operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease contract as
a lease separately from non-lease components of the contract. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on a relative stand-alone price basis.

As lessor — operating lease

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in
HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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2.4.

164

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currency transaction

The Company's functional currency is Hong Kong Dollars (‘HKD”) and
majority of its subsidiaries have RMB as their functional currency. The
Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB
because management considers that a substantial majority of the group
companies are in the PRC and the Group primarily generates and
expends cash in RMB. Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of
each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).
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2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, TEEFTEORME (4)

POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency transaction (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and the
Company are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group's chief operating decision
maker i.e. the Group's most senior executive management for the
purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of,
the Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4, TEEFHHORMZE (4)
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties I5# i s
A party is considered to be related to the Group when: EHBUATER  — ARG RERE
A A
(@)  the partyis a person or a close member of that person’s family and (@ BHAZBATHZEATZEEH
that person: KERRE  MazaATL:
() has control or joint control over the Group; 0) THlsk LRI HIAER
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEBBEEAZES =%
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the iy ARNEEFIAEBEGQFZ
Group or of the parent of the Group. TEEREAEBNKE °
(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions (b) ZAREBWKE THEM—IEE
applies: "
() the entity and the Group are members of the same group; () ZERBOAXSEBER—SE
CoJpA=WNC]
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (i) —HEBRSEE(HE—
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other EEMEAA - MEBAFK
entity); B R E QR W R Ek
RN
(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) ZEBEAEBHAR—
third party; =FREEDRE
(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other (iv) *F'ﬁ ERAE=ZFEBNSE
entity is an associate of the third entity; EhE ME—EBRZS

= ERH Hﬁﬁ%l\\j ;

5
&

ﬁ%&ﬁ%?&%ﬁﬂ?ﬁ%ﬂ :

(v)  theentity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit (v)

1y 2 pm

X B f=
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Zat gl m A RAEE K
Group; HASEEANERES

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person Vi) FZEBSE @B A TS
identified in (a); ﬁjz,ﬂiﬁ%%u ;

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the i) R@EOEATM A THZE S
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of EEK@@_JZJ%V BFE (3%
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or EENERAF)HNETEEEA

8 i

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, (i) ZERE - SHMBEE 2T

provides key management personnel services to the Group. AIKERNAEERHFEE
BABRRT
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

2.4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who
may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(@)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c)  dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries of
the associate and a joint venture includes subsidiaries of the joint
venture.

2.4, FEEFIHORME (A1)

Rk 7 (48
EABTRREKEETAHAR 2 - 5
RZEAFEMOMEZEEIINRE
KB - WEE :

@ BRBALTZFENMEBERE
b) ZBALZEBIFBZ TR Rk

© BRBALTIRBALZEBHFTE
ZEBA -

BBt S C ERTIEH - B2 QR B EE
NI NG ﬁﬁ/\%ﬁm RIEREA

Py,

AR Z B AR

WEERARLE 2022%% | (7
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»‘/]?

3.

168

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and

liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of

contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in

the future.

3.1. Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

(@

Fair value of investment properties

The investment properties of the Group are measured at fair
value, which were valued based on the appraised market
value by the directors. Such valuation is made based on
certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainties and
might materially differ from actual results. In making the
estimation, reasonable consideration has been given to the
underlying assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period i.e. by
reference to market evidence of transaction prices and
monthly rental for similar properties in the surrounding
areas.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31
December 2022 was RMB505,188,000 (2021:
RMB75,177,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement, are stated in
Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR A AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1.

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(ii)

Net realisable value of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale

Properties under development and completed properties
held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and NRV. Based
on the Group's recent experience and the nature of the
subject property, the Group makes estimates of the selling
price, the costs of completion in case for properties under
development, and the costs to be incurred in selling the
properties.

Total budgeted costs for properties under development
comprise costs for land use rights, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing cost. In estimating the total budgeted costs,
management makes reference to information such as (i)
current offers from contractors and suppliers; (ii) recent
offers agreed with contractors and suppliers; and (iii)
professional estimation on construction and material costs.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, provision for completed properties held for
sale and properties under development may be resulted.
Such provision requires the use of judgment and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, the carrying value and provision for properties in
the periods in which such estimate is made will be adjusted
accordingly.

Given the volatility of the PRC property market and the
distinctive nature of individual properties, the actual
outcomes in terms of costs and revenue may be higher or
lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period.
Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect profit
or loss in future years. The accumulated write-down on
properties under development and completed properties at

1 December 2022 were RMB539,190,000 (2021: Nil) and
RMB18,875,000 (2021: Nil) respectively. Further details are
contained in Note 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

3.
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3.

170

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1.

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")

LAT in the PRC is levied at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the
proceeds from the sales of the properties less deductible
expenditures including land cost, borrowing cost, other
property development expenditures.

When calculating the LAT, the Group needs to estimate the
deductible expenditures and makes judgement on the
relevant tax rate on an individual property basis under the
relevant applicable tax laws and regulations. Given the
uncertainties of the calculative basis of LAT to be
interpreted by the local tax bureau, the actual outcomes
may be higher or lower than that estimated at the end of
the reporting period. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the balances at the end of each
reporting period, such differences will impact the LAT
expense and LAT provision in the period in which the
differences are realised.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for certain temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December
2022 was RMB27,281,000 (2021: RMB22,160,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2022
was RMB229,131,000 (2021: RMB194,085,000). Further details
are contained in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
SR A AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1. Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group's management estimates the loss allowance for
trade and other receivables and amount due from/loan to
associates by using various inputs and assumptions
including risk of a default and expected loss rate. The
estimation involves high degree of uncertainty which is
based on the Group's historical information, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of amount due from/loan to associates.
Details of the key assumption and inputs used in estimating
ECL are set out in Note 20 and 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Allocation of construction cost on properties under
development

When developing properties, the Group typically divides the
development projects into phases. Costs directly related to
the development of a phase are recorded as the cost of
such phase. Costs that are common to several phases are
allocated to each phase based on the saleable floor area of
each phase as a percentage of the total saleable floor area
of the entire project.

3. HREEHbER B ()

3.1, Mk A igEsE v (41)
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3.

172

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.1. Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vii) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and

construction in progress

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable, the asset maybe considered
“impaired”, and an impairment loss may be recognised in
accordance with accounting policy for impairment of non-
financial assets as described in Note 2.4 to the consolidated
financial statements. These assets are tested for impairment
whenever the events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their recorded carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. When such a decline has occurred, the carrying
amount is reduced to recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In determining the value in use, expected
future cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to
their present value, which requires significant judgements
relating to the level of revenue and amount of operating
costs. The Group uses all readily available information in
determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation
of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of
the level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact
on the recoverable amount of the assets and could result in
additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods, where applicable.

3.2. Critical Accounting Judgements

Classification of operating lease — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases for
properties in its investment property portfolio. The Group
has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the leases, that it retains all the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out as operating leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

3.2. Critical Accounting Judgements (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.
Judgement is made by management on determining
whether a property is designated as an investment property
or a property held for sale. The Group considers its intention
for holding the properties at the early development stage of
the related properties. During the course of construction,
the related properties under construction are accounted for
as properties under development included in current assets
if the properties are intended for sale after completion,
whereas, the properties are accounted for as investment
properties under construction included in non-current
assets if the properties are intended to be held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of
the properties, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value, while the properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation are transferred to
completed investment properties and are subject to
revaluation at the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities have not been provided for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the undistributed
earnings of certain entities of the Group in the PRC as those
earnings are not expected to be distributable in the
foreseeable future. Details of deferred tax liabilities are
disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(ii)

(iii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4.  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

4. WsR oy wRE R

4.1. Revenue 4.1. Wi
The principal activities of the Group are development, sales and REBEZBEE AN R &KEF
lease of properties in the PRC and the United States of America ERAERE([EE )R - HENMHE
("USA"). EL/ER
Revenue mainly represented income from sales and rental of W EERREHEENTHEME -
properties and net of sales related taxes. WS4 EAERATIEZ BB -
The amount of each significant category of revenue is as follows: ZEXBWREERSBUOT ¢
2022 2021
2022 2021 5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Sales of properties: M E -
— Development projects —HEEE (TEIEEMN—)
(excluding Danzhou Phase I) 1,386,961 552,928
Rental income from investment properties: & ¥EMFAEUA :
— Development projects — #RIEE (TMREEMN—H)
(excluding Danzhou Phase ) 3,582 3,039
— Danzhou Phase | — {EMN—HA 1,167 1,604
1,391,710 557,571
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4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION e B o FE R (48)
(Continued)
4.1. Revenue (Continued) 4.1. Wk (48)
Disaggregation of revenue W5
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREETIT
Other sources of revenue: E YA OB
Rental income from investment properties & & ¥ EMHEUA 4,749 4,643
Under the scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from  AE BB R & 4855 155%
contracts with customers: HEANNEF AL
Timing of revenue recognition Wy 25 B 2 Y B
— Ata point in time — R — B fE B 1,386,961 552,928
1,391,710 557,571
The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended 31 HZE202F 2B EFEMNE
December 2022 that was included in the contract liabilities at the BRUESEETATFIELE
beginning of the year is RMB1,163,185,000 (2021: & BARME1,163,1850007% (2021
RMB440,285,000). F - ANRM440,2850007T) °
4.2. Segment Reporting 4.2. 4y ERHH
Business segments ¥BoH

In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting system,
the Group has chosen business segment information as the
reporting format for the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

RIBAEEN QBT BERE RS
AEBREXB D BEHERAS
Bt Fra M EmROBEBRN
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4.

176

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.2. Segment Reporting (Continued)

Business segments (Continued)

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on the line of reporting, and has two reportable
operating segments as follows:

Development projects (excluded Danzhou Phase | but including
Danzhou Phase Il)

The Company’s executive directors consider that the
Group’s development projects refer to the development
and sales of residential and commercial property units
mainly in the PRC and USA.

Danzhou Phase |

Danzhou Phase | project (‘Danzhou Phase I') refers to the
development and sales of residential property units under
phase | developed by Danzhou Shuang Lian Property
Development Company Limited (‘Danzhou Shuang Lian")
in Hainan Province, the PRC (Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements).

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision makers, monitor the operating results of its business units

separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated
to operating segments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

4.  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

4.2. Segment Reporting (Continued)
Geographical information
The following geographical information of the Group'’s revenue
and non-current asset excluding deferred tax assets are based on
the location of customers and the location of the assets
respectively.

4.

e B o FE R (48)

4.2, bR ()

ATAEEW S R IFRDEE (T
BREERBAEE)WIEERM)S
DRENEFPUENREEME

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4F
Revenue from external customers: IERE F RS -
The PRC A 86% 100%
The USA = 14% 0%
Non-current asset: FRBEE :
The PRC == 40% 100%
The USA x 60% 0%

Segment results, assets and liabilities

Segment assets and liabilities include all assets and liabilities of the
Group, which are managed directly by the segments.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to sales and rental income generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit (loss) is earnings
before interest and taxes where “interest” is regarded as including
investment income (“adjusted EBIT"). To arrive at adjusted EBIT
the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically
attributed to individual segments.
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[FIE] R ABIERERA [KHAE
EBIT] - BiEZLHEBT - A& E
L B TN RIS TE B E R D F
ZIEBELE—SHE -

WEVRARAR 202298 77
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

4.  REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. Yiss B Ay E R (4E)
(Continued)
4.2. Segment Reporting (Continued) 4.2. 4y ik (4)

DREE  BEEREEER)

H Z= 202029 M2021F 128318 1
FERABAEEATREDEBER

Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 is set out below.

178

ol -

Development Projects Danzhou Phase | Total
BRER M- @zt
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
202F K 20225 WIE W02F WNEF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Fortheyearended 31 December ~ EZ12831HLEE ARBTL AR%ETT ARBTR ARETT ARETR AR%TR
Revenue from external customersand SMIZFREREFRE
reportable segment revenue 2l 1,390,543 555,967 1,167 1604 1,391,710 557571
Reportable segment gross profit loss) BT HEDHER (BE) 454,419 298,190 (17,708) 1504 436,71 299,694
Reportable seqment (loss) profit BTREDHERE)ET
(adjusted EBIT) (3% (448330) 101389 (13,844) 0 (462174) 101401
As at 31 December M12A316
Reportable segment assets BETHEIDERE 8616976 883019 81,566 95521 8698542 8925713
Including: 2
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEN 593,233 453,892 1,390 19% 594,623 454,088
Properties under development BERNE 4,393,592 6,888,536 - - 4393592 6,388,536
Completed properties held for sale BERERERR 1,842,605 403515 72,025 90900 1,914,630 494415
Property, plant and equipment nx - WERRE 208,667 34908 - - 208,667 34908
Investment properties RENE 504,388 73977 800 1200 505,188 7577
Reportable segment liabilities ETHEIDEE 7658208 726513 3,766 3975 7,661,974 7069188
Including: aE:
Trade and other payables BARAMENTE 1,859,694 204449 3,368 3502 1,863,062 2048088
Contract ibilities ahak 324859 2874733 - - 324859 2874733
Other segment information Hitpdhgs
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 3313 329 3 3 3316 3297
Depreciation of right-of-use assefs FRESENE - 45 - - - 945
Gain on disposal of subsiciaries HERBA AN 11,412 17,142 - - 11,412 17,142
Gain on disposal of associates HEBLNANNE - 4720 - - - 4720
Losses on changes i fair value of FENENATEESEE
investment properties 31,196 29,508 400 470 31,596 29978
Write-cown of properties under WREEhEZTEEEE
development to net realisable value 692,981 - - - 692,981 -
Write-down of completed properties B E AW EE LR FE
to net realisable value - - 18,875 - 18,875 -
Additions to property, plant NEVE  BENEE
and equipment 9 1024 - - 9 1024
Additions to intangible assets NEEVAE 35 924 - - 35 924
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

4. Wk Koy iE R (88)

4.2. Segment Reporting (Continued) 4.2. sy ()
Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) PHEE - EEREEEA)
Information about major customers FEXPHEH
There was no sale to a single customer which accounted for 10% B E2022F k202112318 1k
or more of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December FE - BEEAERE B 10%50
2022 and 2021. AENE—ZFPELEIHE -
Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss BT S B E A #HR
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETFT
Reportable segment (loss) profit ATHREDE (BE) RF
(adjusted EBIT) and reporting segment (AR EBIT) MEER
(loss) profit derived from the Group’s REBEIIPEEHBTRE
external customers SE8(EHR) R A (462,174) 101,401
Other income H A 4,806 6,732
Realised gain arising from BEAVEFABENSREE
financial assets at FVPL, net ol Gyt 1,304 8,538
Finance costs, net BT TS A AN F 58 (18,830) (26,370)
Consolidated (loss) profit before taxation MRELRTAR A (E518) M A (474,894) 90,301
5. OTHER INCOME 5. HAtig A
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Corporate management fee income NEEEBIA 882 846
Others HAh, 3,924 5,886
4,806 6,732
WEERARAE 202298% /9
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

6.

180

FINANCE COSTS, NET

6. PSR AR

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Finance income AU A
Bank interest income SRITABULA 8,936 5827
Finance costs B R A
Interest on bank and other borrowings RIT R EMEFF B 69,296 97,025
Interest on financing component of AHBEREBSFIE
contract liabilities 67,978 106,712
Interest on lease liabilities HEaERNE = 24
Others HAith 28 24
Less: Capitalised interest expenses B BRI BRI (109,536) (171,588)
27,766 32,197
Finance costs, net B TSR AR RE (18,830) (26,370)

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation is ranging from 3.60% to 7.13% (2021: from

3.80% to 7.64%).

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

AUETAEERERNEMEER A
B & L L RN FE3.60%57.13%(20214F
3.80% & 7.64%) °

7. PTABLBA 3

2022 2021

2022 & 2021 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®F T AREEFIT

PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) PRI ([EREHR]) 41,260 47,250
LAT T B AR 142,937 112,232
USA income tax ERFTER 15 -
Deferred taxation ERETIE (31,253) (27,461)
152,959 132,021

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted

company with limited liability under the Company Law of Cayman

Islands and, accordingly, is exempted from payment of Cayman Islands
income tax. The Group companies in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
were incorporated under the International Business Companies Act of

the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, exempted from BVI income

tax.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

7.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)
Hong Kong profits tax

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 as the Group's entities had no assessable
profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong for the years.

CIT

CIT has been provided on the estimated assessable profits of subsidiaries
operating in the PRC at 25% (2021: 25%).

LAT

LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including cost of land use rights and all
property development expenditures.

USA income tax

The USA income taxes in respect of operations in the USA are calculated
at the applicable tax rates at 21% on the estimated assessable profits for
the year based on the prevailing legislation, interpretations and practices
in respect thereof.

The income tax on the Group’s (loss) profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate
of the tax jurisdiction of the group entities as follows:

P BLBH = (78)

EoRL Y FE Y

R A& B H) E S8 E 2022 F 122021
FRANBLFEYEELEBIRERSE
BHERB S R ERZMETE
B BFSTIFT R -

2 7 13 B

B 50 R 4 MO B 20 ) 0 AR
B FIHR 25% (2021 48 © 25%) MBI
SEFEBEE -

A

TR ERIA LR E (MY EHEMS
SRR AT HI R B 2 (B FE (8 AR A AR
KFrBWMERER)) % 30% % 60%H)
RET KRB -

5% B e 15 8¢
BRAXBEEXHHXBAMEHRBRE
BRANRITEAR REBENERLRFR
AR RPN AERR R 21% 5 H -

AEBBAEHAT (BER) EMNMEHR
HEREEECRBrIAEREE RN
R EMERSRERHINT

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFT

(Loss) Profit before taxation AR ET (B8 ) %A (474,894) 90,301

Calculated at CIT tax rate of 25% (2021: 25%) R FEPTETELE 25%

(2021 4F : 25%) st EETIA (118,723) 22,575
Tax effect of income not subject to tax BAERTUWANT ST L (18,234) (9,954)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR AT OB e 2 9,554 5,527
Tax effect of non-taxable land cost adjustments B8 325 + Hh B 2N 58 58 09 i 75 57 22 (5,476) (5,235)
LAT T IR ER 142,937 112,232
Tax effect on LAT TS ER R E (35,734) (28,058)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMBEENRBZE 26,045 34,498
Unrecognised temporary differences RAEREGRT =50 172,820 -
Utilization of the unrecognised tax losses BARERMIBERE (15,949) -
Others Hh (4,281) 436

Income tax expenses PRSI 152,959 132,021

i HE P BT PR )
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

8. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 8. TR
Loss for the year is arrived at after charging: FAFECHR/RTYSIE
2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments):  #28 T A (BIEEZHM)
— Salaries, wages and other benefits — %He  LENEMETR 59,251 73,761
— Contribution to defined contribution — RERFORNRETEIER
retirement plan 3,012 4313
62,263 78,074
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE = 945
Deprecation of property, plant and equipment ME MEMREITE 3,116 3,137
Amortisation of intangible assets (included in B EEHEGIATEA)
administrative expenses) 200 160
Auditors' remuneration 1Z SN & 2,130 2433
Cost of properties sold HE M ER AR 936,124 257,877
Direct operating expenses arising from investment ZEAFEW A 2 IR E Y EEHEH
properties that generate rental income BEEEEMY 1,360 -
Lease payments under short-term leases on WAEYFERMEENHENK
office premises 3,137 4341
Write-down of properties under development MOR B R M EE R # I HE
to net realisable value (note 17) (f5E17) 692,981 -
Write-down of completed properties to net MORE &= E T BIRFE
realisable value (included in cost of sales) Gt ASHEKA) (KzE18)
(note 18) 18,875 -
9. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 9. Bk (&) & A

BEREABNIREARRER ARG
(B18) a8 R FRE #T E BB INEF

The calculation of basic (loss) earnings per share is based on the (loss)
profit attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted average

number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. HYEHE -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
(Loss) Profit attributable to owners of KREHER AEE (E1E) &5
the Company (RMB) (ARH) (631,634,000) 15,448,000
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E BRI T IIE
shares in issue 300,000,000 300,000,000
Basic (loss) earnings per share (RMB) BREAR(EE) B8N (ARE) (2.11) 0.05

]82 HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

9. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021, therefore, the diluted (loss) earnings per
share were the same as the basic (loss) earnings per share.

10. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(@) Directors’ emoluments

The aggregate amounts of emoluments paid and payable to the

9. B (ER) #A (4)

HE202FR2021F12ANBIEFE -
I B EE LR SRS (E518)
EFEFREK (EE) BFHER -

10. 3 R4 d s A

(@ FHHME

RERREEDNRENARRE

directors of the Company by the Group during the year are as ENNEESEBIT -
follows:
Year ended 31 December 2022
HZ202F12831ALEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits  Termination Discretionary scheme
Fees in kinds benefits bonuses contributions Total
e 2HR BINER
EzHe BN BREA MiETea HE 3 @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTE ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR AR%Tx
Executive Directors HITEE
Zhou Li Gk - 1,219 - - 104 1,323
Fan Wenyi BXH - 807 - - 99 906
Chen Xiang R - 800 - - 88 888
JiaBin EE - 1,300 - - 88 1,388
Independent Non-Executive Directors B HHTEE
Li Yong e 200 - - - - 200
7hao Guoging HEE 200 - - - - 200
Fan Conglai BRR 200 - - - - 200
Total @5t 600 4,126 - - 379 5,105

MR A RAT 2022/
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

10. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE 10. #HFH KA A5 a AL EHM (59)
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (@ EHEHMLE(H)

Year ended 31 December 2021
HZ0NENANALEE

Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits ~ Termination  Discretionary scheme
Fees inkinds benefits bonuses  contributions Total
He 2HR RN
£k ENilE BREN B HEE @t

RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB00O RMB00O RMB00O
AREBTR  ARBETT  ARETT ARBTRL ARETR ARETR

Executive Directors HTEFE

Zhou L [ - 1,197 - - 97 1,294
Fan Wenyi BXH - 610 - - 4 650
Chen Xiang [y - 768 - - 82 850
JiaBin g2 - 166 - - 7 173

Independent Non-Evecutive Directors B 38772 E

LiYong E3 199 - - - - 199
Deng Shaochao (note a) B4R (Mizta) 100 - - _ . 100
Zhao Guoging HEE 199 - - - - 199
Fan Congla SERR 100 - - - - 100
Total Bt 598 2741 - - 26 3,565
Note: BFEE -

(a) Retired on 4 June 2021. (@ R2021F6 A4HEBIK -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

10. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year included 4 (2021: 3) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in note (a) above. The emoluments for
the remaining 1 (2021: 2) individuals are as follows:

10. #5544 e N (4

(@

(b)

4 (4F)

H 22029 M2021%12 8318 1t
FE ASERERTANESZH
RS IERIAREB S IALR
SEENEESIEABRRBEE -

FA- REESFERERLURBRELT
A BN <& By 22 Bk (2021 4F ¢ ) o

hammm AL
FAREBREARSFHFATHLIE
QU EFE:3R7)BESE Efer
EXHFE QAP R o 8T 142021
F2Z)EARALHEBE T ¢

2022 2021

2022 F 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Salaries and other emoluments Fre kEmie 1,141 2,209
Retirement benefit scheme contributions IROKE R B FR 16 51
1,157 2,260

WA RA T 20224
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10.

186

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE 10. #9 M A2 fem i AN 3 (48
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) FAmEH AL (4)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: eEELNT :

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 5

Number of Number of

employees employees

BEAH BB AR

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 A& 7TE 1,500,000 745 7T
(equivalent to RMB864,455 to (FHERARKE 864,455 TE
RMB1,296,680) AR¥1,296,68070) (2021 4F -
(2021: (equivalent to RMB829,101 to (FHERARKE 829101 TE
RMB1,243,650)) AREE1,24365070))

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, none of the
above individuals has received any emoluments from the Group
as an inducement to join or leave the Group or compensation for
loss of office; none of the above individuals has waived or has
agreed to waive any emoluments.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1. W BB Kk
Machines,
furniture,
office
Electronic equipment Construction
Vehicles devices and others Buildings in progress Total
B HE-
BARE
haf:3 R k& BF HEIR Eh)
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
Reconciliation of cartyingamount—  REEZHE—
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZ01 512831 BLEE
Asat 1 January 2021 RONE1A1A 910 409 15 35793 - 3027
Additions RE 62 173 209 - - 1024
Disposals hE - - @) - - )
Disposals — disposal of subsiciaries HE—HENBAA - - 99 - - 98)
Depreciation ik (258) (66) (7) (274) - 3137)
Asat 31 December 2021 R20215128318 1274 516 67 3051 - 34908
Reconciliation of carryingamount—  SRE{E ¥ —
Year ended 31 December 2022 BENENRNALEE
Asat 1 January 2022 RAONEIR1H 1,274 516 67 33,051 - 34,908
Additions AE 8 1 - - - 9
Disposals e (42) - - - - (42)
Disposals — disposal of subsidiaries HE—HENBLT
(Note 35(0) (W& 35(0)) (35) - (57) - - (92)
Depreciation ik (279) (92) (3) (2742) - (3,116)
Transfer from properties under development {2 B IEE A - - - - 177,000 177,000
As at 31 December 2022 R202E128318 926 425 7 30,309 177,000 208,667
At31December 2022 R2022512A318
Cost KA 3424 2,688 4,108 51,729 177,000 244,949
Accumulated depreciation ZithhE (2,498) (2,263) (4,101) (27,420) - (36,282)
Net carrying amount RERE 926 425 7 30309 177,000 208,667
At31 December 2021 Ra215128318
Cost R 3493 2687 4165 51709 - 68074
Accumulated depreciation 2:E (2219 2171) (4098) (24679) - (33,166)
Net carrying amount REFE 1274 516 67 33051 - 34,908

The buildings are situated on lands in the PRC with initial lease terms of
62 years, the remaining lease term of the buildings as at 31 December
2022 is 39 to 55 years (2021: 56 years).

BFURNBESH A FNFRE L
#2022 12 A31 BREFRISFES

A397% 554 (2021 4F - 564F) o

i HE P BT PR )

20224k
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 11.

In December 2022, the Group decided to change the use of certain
properties under development from held for property development for
sale to hotel development. Upon the completion of the application of
renewal of land use right certificate for the change of the land use
purpose, the carrying amount of RMB177,000,000 has been transferred
from properties under development to property, plant and equipment
and included in construction in progress.

12. LEASES 12.

Commitments under leases

At 31 December 2022, the Group was committed to RMB276,000 for
short-term leases (2021: RMB1,008,000).

188  HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

13.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

13. &Y%

2022 2021

2022 F 20216

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ TR AR®ETTT

Carrying amount at 1 January ®1 A1 BRERAEE 75,177 105,155

Transfer from properties under development MR Y EREE 448,000 -
Changes in fair value of investment properties A IERHER IR EME N FE

recognised in profit or loss E (31,596) (29,978)

Exchange differences M =5 13,607 -

At 31 December M12H831H 505,188 75177

The investment properties represent the residential properties and car
parks (2021: car parks) held by the Group for rental purpose.

During the year, certain properties under development, upon
completion was leased out under tenancy agreements. As a result, these
properties under development with carrying amount of RMB447,624,000
at the date of transfer was revalued at their fair value of RMB448,000,000
and transferred into investment properties. A gain on revaluation upon
transfer of RMB376,000 was recognised in profit or loss and included in
other income during the year ended 31 December 2022.

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties located in the
USA of RMB461,366,000 (2021: classified as properties under
development of RMB435,218,000) were pledged to secure loan facilities
summarized in note 24.

Fair value measurement of investment properties

The following table shows the Group's investment properties measured
at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position on a
recurring basis, categorised into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The
levels are based on the observability of significant inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

—  Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets and liabilities.

—  Level 2. inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly.

—  Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

HEMERAEEREIERERBR 2
Y ERIEER (2021 4F - BEAL) ©

FR - ATEERTPMENEZREZIRER
EmmtiE e At - ZENEEHBE
B & A REE 447,624,000 7T ) 3 & AR 1)
iR E N FE AR 448,000,000 T B
W EIREYE - BE 2022912 A31
BIEFE #HBNEMRSEARE
376,000 TR A m - WT AEMUA -

RBER  NREEOREMEAR
¥ 461,366,000 7T (2021 F © BRIBAEES
P AR ¥ 4352180007T) DA 0 EA
B oE 24 B BE L B FR R B VIR 3R G o

BE WM PR R
TREINANEERG A P BHRRKILE
FUREEURNFEFENREYE(RF
BEEEBER=Z)  IIREAEMRA
ERH B BREREBEERER

— & HAREERBBERERT
BH)RE CREHFHE)

— —H o EERERENAER(E
ERER) BA2E(F—
MABEHMERIN)

— D BERRENEIBERES

FEBMARE -

WERRARAT 202248 189
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13. HEWE ()
Fair value measurement of investment properties ‘E&EWEN A PEG 2 ()
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2022
72022612 A31H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ B B=HR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR®Tr AR¥TT AR%®Tx
Investment properties B - - 505,188 505,188
As at 31 December 2021
202112 H31 8
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF— B4R E=M HBET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFTT AREFRT ARETRT ARETT
Investment properties - E - 75,177 75177

190

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into and out of Level 3 fair
value measurements (2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022, the investment properties were valued by
Cushman & Wakefield International Properties Advisers (Shanghai) Co.,
Limited and Roma Appraisals Limited (2021: Cushman & Wakefield
International Properties Advisers (Shanghai) Co., Limited), independent
professional valuers and the management, using income approach and
comparable market transaction approach.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair value
measurements

The fair value of the Group's investment properties is determined by
using income approach with reference to current market rents and
capitalisation rates using market data and comparable market
transaction approach with reference to comparable’s average unit selling
price upon more market data is available and in accordance with the
investment properties’ highest and best use as determined by the
management at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the inputs are
estimated by the valuer based on the risk profile of the properties being

valued. Under income approach, the lower the weighted average

monthly rental and the higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair
value. Under the comparable market transaction approach, the higher
the comparable’s average unit selling price, the higher the fair value.

The investment properties are situated on lands in the PRC with initial

lease terms and between 60 to 70 years and freehold land in the USA.

The remaining lease terms of the land in the PRC as at 31 December
2022 is between 47 to 57 years (2021: 48 to 58 years).

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 13. EWE ()
Significant inputs used to determine fair value e S ~FFL A K i A\ B
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 5
Income approach W AE
Weighted average monthly rental SEEBEAMETH A RMB254 RMB347
per each car park space AR¥254t AR¥3477T
Capitalisation rate NS 2.75% 2.75%
Comparable market transaction approach AL BT IR 5 %
Comparable’s average unit selling price At A B EE RMB43,000 RMB69,000
— PRC carpark — R EEEN per unit per unit
BENARY BHBUARYK
43,000 JT 69,000 7T
Comparable’s average unit selling price AL EMEE US$691 N/A
— USA residential unit — EXBFEEM (equivalent to SEk
RMB4,812)
per square feet
BEAER
691Xt (HER
ARM4,8127T)

HE202%F K 2021F 12 A31 HIEFE
AR EMBREHEDENR
LA R o IRIBUWAOE - HINEFS
AERAEEERERS  AAFER
K- REATLEMERZE  JHERE
FHEMEERS AAFERS °

BEMEMR IR ERA60ZE 70 F Y
R o N SR B A K AR R o B 2022 FF
12A31H Btz THER A47
E57F (20214 1 48E584F)
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13.

192

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Leasing arrangement — as lessor

The investment properties are leased to tenants for a term of 1 to 20
years with fixed monthly payments. The rental of certain investment
properties located in the PRC was received from the tenants in advance
as set out in Note 22(viii) to the consolidated financial statements. The
tenants also bear the management fees and repair and maintenance fee
by themselves.

Accounting policy of the rental income from operating leases are set out
in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Although the Group is exposed to changes in the residual value at the
end of the current leases, the Group typically entered into new operating
leases and therefore will not immediately realise and reduction in the
residual value at the end of these leases. Expectations about the future
residual values are reflected in the fair value of the properties.

Below is a maturity analysis of undiscounted lease payments to be
received from the leasing of investment properties.

13.

&y (5)

MEZXHE —1EABMA
REENEFABRNZHEETFHEE
FHEAA1E 205 - R E P BHREMN
20 FTE BTN RPENEEY
¥mileeFamEREE - HREINE
THEEEEREBRIREEBA -

KEHERSMNETERINGEE T
WmEMIFE24 ©

BEASBHRAKEETHER ORI
BEEZHNER ERAKEBEI LN
ReHE AETen%SHETE
B BN IR ok T FIREE - BRAARK
FAHEENEHRYEN A FERR -

AT 7 h AR B W0 5 5 B By R B3R 7H
BRSO o

At At

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

#2022 F #2021

12A31H 12A31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFT

Year 1 F1F 1,790 42
Year 2 F2F 32 -
Undiscounted lease payments to be received 5 UCER B 2R BRIR A & 1+ 31 1,822 42
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14, W EE

Software
B4
RMB'000
ARET T
Reconciliation of carrying amount — AREE 2 ¥k —
Year ended 31 December 2021 BZE2021F12831HIEFE
As at 1 January 2021 202151 A1 H 239
Additions NE 924
Amortisation charge BHE R (160)
As at 31 December 2021 2021 12H31H 1,003
Reconciliation of carrying amount — IREEZHER —
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE2022F12A31BLEE
Asat 1 January 2022 M2022%1H1H 1,003
Additions PIN=T 35
Amortisation charge HHER (200)
As at 31 December 2022 7A2022F12A31H 838
At 31 December 2022 7A2022%F12A831H
Cost D% 2,485
Accumulated amortisation ErTE (1,647)
Net carrying amount REFE 838
At 31 December 2021 7A2021%F12A31H
Cost XA 2,450
Accumulated amortisation R (1,447)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,003

i HE P BT PR )
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15. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. R Al I RE SR
The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of financial RiFE M BRRRERNSENOT

position is as follows:

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
Unlisted shares, at cost LM - KA = -
Loan to associates (Note i and i) (Note 31(d)(i)) A& A =l E R (M E i Kz ii)
(B EE31(d))) 15,327 15,327
Share of results DREE (7,230) (6,289)
8,097 9,038
Details of the material associate at the end of the reporting period are as MNBEE R T BB DT 2B T
follows:
% of
Place of incorporation/ ownership Nature of the
Name of company registration and business interest relationship Carrying amount
HEMRL BEE
NEER SRR R St B ERADHL BELE HREE
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 20215 2022 20214
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARKTRT
AIREEXFR AR The PRC 49% 49%  Note (ii) 8,097 9,038
(Shenzhen Aolan Estate B3 i)
Co, Ltd*)
("Shenzhen Aolan”)
R REEXFRRA
([ REE])
8,097 9,038
* The official name is in Chinese and the English name is translated for identification * FREBARX  BXEEBZERZR -

purpose only.
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15. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

U]

(i)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group held 49% equity
interest in Shenzhen Aolan, a company engaged in investment
holdings which incorporated and conducts its business in the PRC.
At the end of the reporting period, the registered capital of
Shenzhen Aolan is RMB10,000,000 but not yet paid. The capital
injection committed by the Group of RMB4,900,000 is without
expiration. Loan of RMB15,327,000 (2021: RMB15,327,000) which is
unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment term was
made to Shenzhen Aolan based on the proportion of
shareholding of its shareholders.

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

15. JiNE

(i)

(i)

fi

EnmE M ()

20224 R2021F12H318 K
B 5  R I B EE 499 A% AN R 25 -
DA R RETTE
% WEIREIERER - ReREH
R ORYIEEE RS AR B MR
AN B AR #10,0000007C ° /K5 E
AR R EE AR 4,900,000 7010 £2
JE i BARR o R B EE m IR IR AR
O mEEHNERARE
1532700070 (2021« A R &
15327,0007C) A& - £ B8 B
EEEENE -

P2

XY AR

AR SRS ER G A MBS
B ATAJE -
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15.

196

INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 15. NS T RE 45
(iiy  Relationship with the material associate (ii) E’@I /NG| EI’\] @ﬁ f,%
Shenzhen Aolan has a non-wholly owned subsidiary, Meizhou RYNBER —HBIERE B R RE
Aochuang Estate Co,, Ltd, a company established in the PRC with )H MHRABEAREANT ' ZAFAE
limited liability, which is engaged in development of a land parcel RABRHERAR  REER
at Meijiang District, Meizhou City, Guangdong Province EWMNTETRNTER (FF
(collectively known as the “Shenzhen Aolan Group”). The RYIREE®E]) - KERBZER
investment in the associate allows the Group to make presence in R ANEEEETEREE A
the region outside Hainan Province. & o
Financial information of individually material associate 8 o1 = S0 2 W Y S 5 R
Summarised financial information of the material associate of the Group AEETEBMENRNAFERNREH
is set out below, which represents amounts shown in the associate’s RTIX - BB ARER Y BWMS
consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs ZEE'J,%%%JE"] 2 N RERE BB HRET
and adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes including MeRE THESSTmsEASEER
any differences in accounting policies and fair value adjustments. B(BEGTEERA T ERENEMNE
#)o
Shenzhen Aolan Group FYIRELE
2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Gross amount ekl
Current assets RENAE 847,306 991,644
Current liabilities meaE (539,449) (762,980)
Non-current liabilities FErREaE (295,050) (205,330)
Net assets EEFE 12,807 23,334
Less: Non-controlling interests of R ARYI R E R E ) FEIE R
Shenzhen Aolan Group (27,560) (36,168)
(14,753) (12,834)
Group'’s ownership interests REBER A ERER 49% 49%
The Group's share of equity of AREED R R EE B R
Shenzhen Aolan Group (7,230) (6,289)
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15. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 15.

Financial information of individually material associate
(Continued)

Shenzhen Aolan Group (Continued)

Bk A R RESE (48)
180 331 2 0B 4 ) W A 5 R (A

RYIRERE ()

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Gross amount Fkal
Revenue e - -
Loss from operations EIEEE (3,838) (11,362)
Other comprehensive income Em2mik A - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREMHEIBERE (3,838) (11,362)
Less: Total comprehensive loss for the year B ARYIRE S E I R
attributable to the non-controlling EiEFEREE
interest of Shenzhen Aolan Group EiE 4% 1,919 5,681
Total comprehensive loss for the year Y RESEHEB ARG
attributable to owners of FRNEEGERE
Shenzhen Aolan Group (1,919) (5,681)

Unrecognised share of losses of the associates

No unrecognised share of losses of the associates for the current year
and cumulatively up to the end of the reporting period (2021: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, there are no contingent liabilities incurred by
the Group in relation to its interest in an associate (2021: Nil).

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16.

PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the following:

A6 Bk 2wl B IR R TR &5
KREENEEREHPRERA DL
NABENAEREE (0214 « ) -

AR AR

MR2022F 12 A31H » REBWERER
N B MRS BEE AR E (2021 F ¢
/) o

RO FE R AR 2 ) 4 8 2

EATEFAEZNEREEBREUT
IHE :

Unlisted equity securities — outside Hong Kong ~ 3E F IR AR B 5 — BB E I

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
3,852 2,607

Details of the fair value of the Group's investments in unlisted securities
are set out in Note 28(f) to the consolidated financial statements.

AEERIFELTEFRENQAFEFE
HNERE B IRRMTTE28(0 ©
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17.

198

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

PP

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%ET T ARBEFT
Properties under development BREBYE 4,932,782 6,388,536
Less: write-down to net realisable value B HUR R R IR R E (539,190) -
4,393,592 6,888,536
Expected to be completed: TEEATEAK :

— Within 1 year —1FR 1,257,669 2,078,231
— More than 1 year — ZW1F 3,675,113 4,810,305
4,932,782 6,888,536

The properties under development, including land held for future ERPVE(BEFERKERN L)

development, were located in the PRC (2021: in the PRC and USA) and
are stated at lower of cost and NRV.

During the year, certain property projects under development in the PRC
with carrying amounts of RMB2,035,712,000 were written down by
RMB692,981,000 (2021: Nil) to their net realisable values in view of the
decline in the expected unit selling price based on the recent property
market in Danzhou and Haikou regions. The net realisable value of the
properties under development was estimated by the management
based on recent pre-sale prices and residual valuation approach. As
detailed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements, properties
under development with gross carrying amount of RMB330,791,000 and
accumulated write-down of RMB153,791,000 had been transferred to
construction in progress within property, plant and equipment upon the
change in use.

At the end of the reporting period, properties under development
located in the PRC of RMB2,392,163,000 (2021: RMB1,506,547,000) were
pledged to secure were pledged to secure loan facilities summarized in
note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, certain land use right certificates of
the Group's properties under development located at the southwest of
Binhe New District Section, Yingbin Avenue, Suicheng Town, Suixi
Country, Zhanjiang City, Guangdong Province, the PRC with aggregate
carrying amount of RMB346,000,000 (2021: RMB631,135,000) have not
been obtained due to in the process of the application for separation on
these land use right certificates for pre-sale purpose. In the opinion of
the Directors, the ownership of these land use rights is belonged to the
Group.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AP E(2021F : PEIKRER) - Wik
AR e ] IR R E R EEE IR -

FERCERNENEEOMR TSR ER
GRTEHREMEE TR  ATARFEH
IREE A AR 2,035,712,000 7T 8 2 R
IR B MR A R #692,981,0007T
(20214 : B)ZHAIZIRFE - BREF
MR IR FEREREERBIETE
EBREFSEEEGS - BEAYH
WMEMFRL FEAREARE
330,791,000 & R & # B A R &
153,791,000 T BE R P M ENAn g
FREEEYE BERZBEETIHE
S

REREHR - AR BEBA NP EIA
BERAPYE AR 2392,163,0007T(2021
&0 NR¥1,506547,0007T)  fEREGE
BRI 24FTH L B SRk & A IR
Tqﬂﬂl] °

RIERR - AEBEUNPRHERE
VI TH O S R B K B TR R
7 58 ) BR M 48 (8 & A R 8 346,000,000 7T
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18.

19.

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The completed properties held for sale are mainly located in the PRC on
leasehold land with lease term of 40 years or more. The directors of the
Company estimate that the net realisable value of unsold properties
based on estimation of future selling price less costs to be incurred in

18.

FrAE 88 B 75 L 2E

BEHEE AR MEZTZMNPBEMNE
S MEA40FHINU L - FRER
TMSEEEE  AEEESBRIBEHRK
EEMNEFIREHEERBENAE - HET R

relation to the sale, with reference to the prevailing market data. = HY RN IR EE o

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T AREFT

Completed properties BRI 1,933,505 494,415
Less: write-down to net realisable value B WU R AT IR R E (18,875) -
1,914,630 494415

Completed properties EEK IS 1,933,505 494,415
Less: Expected to be sold after 12 months B TEER 2@EAREE (348,328) (470,214)
Expected to be sold within 12 months FEHR12BRALE 1,585,177 24,201

The completed properties held for sale located in the PRC with an
aggregate net carrying amount at the end of the reporting period of
RMB435,752,000 (2021: RMB79,085,000) were pledged to secure a loan
facility summarized in note 24 to the consolidation financial statements.

CONTRACT COSTS

As at 31 December 2022, capitalised contract costs represents the
incremental sales commissions paid to intermediaries whose selling
activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase
agreements for the Group's properties which are still under construction
at the end of the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as selling
and distribution expenses in profit or loss when revenue from the related
property sales is recognised. The contract costs of RMB34,858,000 (2021:
RMB22,899,000) were charged to profit or loss upon revenue from sales
of properties were recognised during the year.

19.

REBEHER BERMFEAARE
435,752,0007’5(202 F : AR 79,085,000
TR EERBEHEE S AR MEDE
o ERRA MBS RERMF 4B E
HELVE R o

BRI A

R2022F 12 A31H @ BB IR
EEPNEBI O EHEERS
HERHSEPMAEERHRE BB
REFDERR E’J%%Jii‘égﬁ%m )
HEMEEENREERE » A OKRA
:Tamﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&nﬁﬁfﬁi FRE
4k 25 A B2 5 34,858,000 7T (2021 4F A
R #5 22,899,000 7T ) P TE TR 8 & W) 5 W e
BB o
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. % 5y B H A RS R IA
2022 2021
2022 F 20216
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETTT
Trade receivables — third parties (note i) Z S EWFHTE — £ =7 (¥ 20@))
(Note 20(a))
— Non-current — IERH 3,477 5,565
— Current — mE 2,036 6,747
5,513 12,312
Less: Loss allowance (Note 20(a)) - B IR R (19) (19)
5,494 12,293
Other receivables Hoh FEURIR
— Third parties (note ii) — E=7 (WEn
— Non-current — IR E 34,210 -
— Current — R 16,920 16,374
— Loan to third parties (note iii) — AE=HER(MaEii) 385 796
— Loan to a related party (note iv) — [ BAEE 5 E (M 5T iv)
(note 31(d)(1) (B EE31(0)(0)) 500 500
— Amount due from a related party (note v) — FEW— 2 a8 5 2B
(note 31(d)() GEMIGESIC0) 14,152 16,167
Less: Loss allowance (Note 20(b)) L ESHE R (B EE 20(b)) (11,766) (11,766)
54,401 22,071
Advance payments to contractors (note vi) A7 B P S AT N FE AT R (B = vi) 12,108 28,634
Community facilities deposits HEERMEEE 30,732 29,424
Expenditures incurred for construction of SRR AL R B M T EE A OB S
community facilities (note vii) (Bt &F vii) 30,004 30,004
Prepayments and other deposits FERTFRIE R B A IR & 25,021 31,169
Prepaid utilities expenses ENARER 8,066 4315
Prepaid other taxes TASE IR 174,740 171,886
280,671 295,432
Total HET 340,566 329,796
Classified as: DR
Non-current assets EMENEE 37,687 5,565
Current assets MBNEE 302,879 324,231
340,566 329,796
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

Trade receivables comprise receivables due from customers in relation to sales of
properties and rental income. Proceeds from the sale of properties are made in lump-
sum payments or paid by instalments in accordance with the terms of the
corresponding sale and purchase agreements. Receivables to be recovered more
than one year are classified as non-current trade receivables. The remaining balance
of trade receivables are expected to be recovered within one year. The Group does
not hold any collaterals over these balances. In respect of the sale of properties, no
credit terms are granted to customers. The details on the Group's credit policy are set
out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Included in the other receivables due from third parties was an amount of
RMB39,210,000 related to the debt settlement arrangement as set out in Note 35(b)
to the consolidation financial statements. The receivable is secured by the equity
interests of the company being disposed as disclosed in Note 35(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, guaranteed by personal guarantee of the
controlling shareholder of the Buyer and a company substantially owned by the
controlling shareholder of the Buyer and interest-bearing at 8% per annum. Pursuant
to the share transfer agreement, the total amount due shall be fully repaid within 30
months from the date of the share transfer agreement of which at least RMB5,000,000
and RMB15,000,000 shall be repaid in the first and the second year from the date of
the share transfer agreement respectively. In the opinion of the directors, the balance
of RMB34,210,000 are expected to be recovered over 12 months and therefore
classified as non-current assets.

Other than the amount due from the third party of RMB39,210,000 as mentioned
above, the remaining balances as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. The amounts are expected to be
recovered within 12 months.

Loan to third parties is interest-free and repayable on demand.

Loan to a related party is unsecured, interest-bearing at 12% per annum and
repayable in 2023.

It represented consideration receivables from a related party in relation to the
disposal of the former subsidiary in previous year which is unsecured, interest-free

and repayable on demand.

Advance payments to contractors are made in accordance with the payment terms
as agreed in the construction contracts signed with building contractors. They are to
be transferred to properties under development with regard to stage of completion

for relevant construction.

It represents the construction cost of community facilities which is deductible for the
community facility funds charged by the local government or will be refunded to the
Group when the construction of the property project is completed.

20.

¥ 5 S HAB MR WK

Wi

0]

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

»‘E

B5RWFRREMHENEREEPNE
WK RSN < HEMENMSHIETIR
BEBEEE BRNETA—RIENREDH
NRETTRES - B —F R e EKFTED
DERIFRBEZEUWTE - B HEKFR
BV T A ERTRHIN — F IR - A E I
MREEHHAEMERR - YEHEN
FOBMERTLPELEES - AEBRFER
RFIBRNARA WIS RRM FE28

EAh EUE = 5 RIB R BRAR A M RMERM =E
BOMBEHEETHBEAOARE
39,210,000 7T © FEWRIELALR & BT IS R T 5
Bh)MEEREREENANRESERRD B
BFEBRBREMNEAERIE FIERBRE
BEE— A RRMEER - FHEA8% -
BERNERRD  BRNVEERHRETZ
B30 A NEFEMASINARE  HpZE
> AR # 5,000,000 7T K2 A R # 15,000,000 7T 2B
ARlERMERBEEI ZBRE—FRE
“HERNEE -EFRA BHABKRBAR®
34,210,000 TP 128 A AU El - EHILERE A
EMEEE ©

R bt fE U = 75 FUE A R 639,210,000 7T
G 20228128318 R2021F12A318 &
MREBEKT B REERMEE - B ZE
FEER 128 A Rk E -

RE=FEFRBREREEREE

) A E 5 BB AR IR E R E 2% B
AR 2023 F1EE

ERASBIE R F R EATHE QR K
FARE - BEER RSMERNKEE -

FABRE SN OEN KRB LR EREH
BZENTRRANBENNFIEREL - I3
HE TR T TEEERERRTYE -

FHASHEAMRRBNERER EWEE
B Y 5 3% 52 B R BT 1R 4R & b U O ER ) 4
BEEESHRATAEER -
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. B 5 K HAMEWCRIE ()
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of trade and R2022FK2021F12831H  BHKE
other receivables approximates their fair values. b FEW IR BRE (A B N ERE
20(a) Ageing analysis of trade receivables 20(a) ¥ 5 W& Wk JE IR B8 20
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of gross REIEER - BHEBFIEBRER
trade receivables based on the invoice date that trade receivables HIERER 2 ZHZHEMIRE DT
were recognised, is as follows: T~
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARKET T
Within 1 year TF LR 4,508 10,156
Over 1 year but less than 2 years TEAEBEDR2F 510 1,700
Over 3 years 3FLAE 495 456
5,513 12,312
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20.

20(a) Ageing analysis of trade receivables (Continued)

The ageing analysis of gross trade receivables as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 which were past due but not impaired was as

¥ 5 S HABME WK (48)
(a) B 5o MRk SRR 86 2 AT (48)

PR20224F KM2021F12831H B
BHBRBENE S ERFIBEREE

follows: HERER DI T ¢
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREETIT
Within 1 year 1ELAA 1,031 4,591
Over 1 year and but less than 2 years 1TFLEBDR2E 510 1,700
Over 3 years 3FLAE 495 456
2,036 6,747
Neither past due nor impaired R BRI AR E 3,477 5,565
5,513 12,312

The management considers the ECL of trade receivables to be
insignificant so that no significant loss allowance was recognised
during the year, except a loss allowance of RMB19,000 (2021:
RMB19,000) was made on the balance due from a customer which
the management considered as credit impaired. The Group does
not hold any collateral over trade receivables as at 31 December
2022 (2021 Nil).

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as

ERERAEZEWGIENTERE
BEEEIWTEKN - B F AR EE
RENGERE HREEERE
BEEERENERK—BEF&EH
e A R #190007T (2021 4 © A
R #190007T ) # &5 18 BEE BRI o
R202F 128318 KEBEY &
B DEWFER BT MER®
(20214 : #&) »

B RUGRENFEREEBRRE

follows: SEIT :
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 6
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT
At 1 January and 31 December R1TATBXRI12A31H 19 19

wEERARAE 20268 203
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. B 5 K HAMEWCRIE ()
20(b) Loss allowance on other receivables 20(b) JH:fth JE e 7k JE s 48 938
The movement in the ECL allowance on other receivables is as HiE W IER B R E B B R B S
follows: ZEhpnT

2022 2021

2022 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T AREFTT

At 1 January ®W1ATH 11,766 11,766

Increase in allowance B N = -

At 1 January and 31 December ®m1A1TEKRI2A318 11,766 11,766
The management considers the ECL of other receivables to be BERERAEMEUGIENTEHE
insignificant, except a net loss allowance of RMB11,766,000 (2021: EEBITTEX  MREERERA
RMB11,766,000) was made on the balances due from BEEEREMNEYBCEF F &R 1E
counterparties which the management considered as credit A B #11,766,000 7T B /5 18 5 18
impaired. Except for those as mentioned in note 20(ii), the Group SFEE(20214F © AR®11,766,0007T)
does not hold any collateral over other receivables as at 31 BR AN o BB EE 2000 BTt oh - 72 2022
December 2022 (2021: Nil). FNRANE AEEWERHA
FEWRIE 5 A (R 1 n (2021 4F -

) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

21. RESTRICTED CASH/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(@) Restricted Cash

2 PR B B MBS E Y

2 B il 3 45
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETE

Pledged for: FTHIEIEEA
Proceeds of pre-sale of properties TEEMERFTSRIA 434,857 375,662
Financial guarantee provided IR MBI ER 48,637 32,569
Banking facilities RITHLE - 45,500
483,494 453,731

In accordance with relevant policies issued by the PRC State-
owned Land and Resource Bureau applicable to all property
developers, the Group is required to place a pre-determined
amount of the proceeds received from the pre-sale of properties
as guarantee deposits into a bank for the construction of the
properties. The restriction will be released when the construction
is completed.

In addition, the Group is required to place certain amounts of
deposits in the banks to secure the provision of financing
guarantee services to its customers in accordance with the
financing guarantee agreements signed with the banks. The
balances are refundable when the obligations of the financing
guarantee agreements are released.

Included in the balances was RMB354,070,000 (2021:
RMB319,522,000) bear interest at floating daily bank deposit rates.

REFEBELERRBBEMERRA
EMFBRERBNBHEEE - AEE
B ETAE WIS IRTEE
EREFHNRITERERDENR
EE o FERTEKERERERR I -

SEAN - REBZBRRITERE T17
REE > UWRBEERTRENORE
ERBZEATFEHBEERR
1% o MEERDHEN R TRRER
RIEBRFA -

FAEBRBNESEAARE
354,070,000 7T (20214 : A R ¥
319,522,0007C ) * H IR 717 5K F &
BRZHE -

WEERARAT 202248 Q05
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21.

206

RESTRICTED CASH/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21, ZFR#I B4 B4 KB4 %8 Y
(Continued) (#4)
(b) Cash and cash equivalents by BHERBRLSEED
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Cash at bank and in hand RIS MFHEES
Cash on hand FoEIRS 106 5
Cash at bank RITRE 594,517 454,083
594,623 454,088

At the end of the reporting period, the bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB placed with banks in the PRC amounted to
RMB488,948,000 (2021: RMB449,772,000). RMB is not a freely
convertible currency. Under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through banks that are
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. All cash at bank
earns interest at floating daily bank deposit rates.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RIREER - AEBUAREE
B IR 17 45 88 A R %488,948,000 7T
(2021 © AR¥5449,772,0007T) 17
MR BIRIRITH o AR IER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

22. B N H A REAT I

2022 2021
2022 F 20216
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Trade payables (note i) B S NI ()
— Third parties —%=7" 1,080,460 873,635
— Related parties (Note 31(d)(ii)) — BB 5 (BI5E 31(d)i)) 77,770 71,495
1,158,230 945,130
Amounts due to related parties (note i) FES BA RS 75 5B (P s i) 111,341 160,432
Amount due to non-controlling shareholders JEASE FEFEE AR A% B mk1E (B s i)
(note iii) 115,826 135,259
Amount due to a former non-controlling JFEAS BT FEE IR AR SRR IE (FI7Eiv)
shareholder (note iv) 50,173 48423
Consideration payables for acquisitions of Wk B & R R R R AB (M EE V)
a subsidiary (note v) 2,797 60,168
Consideration payables for acquisitions of W RS -t A FE TR E (B EE Vi)
land (note vi) - 280,000
Guarantee deposits (note vii) ReERS (EEvi) 9,594 14,671
Receipt in advance for rental income (note viii)  F& U8 & Y A (B £ viii) 57,908 50,931
Temporary receipts from customers (note ix) g = F A (I REix) 35,382 38,851
Tender deposits receipts from contractors WEF B RERe 6,122 5,597
Accrued payroll e E S 4,798 6,287
Other payables and accruals H At T FIE R EFTE A 31,236 58,205
Value-added tax and other tax payables BERREMENTIE 279,655 244134
704,832 1,102,958
1,863,062 2,048,088

i P A PR

20224k
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

208

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Trade payables mainly represent amounts due to contractors. Payment to contractors
is by instalments according to progress and agreed milestones. The Group normally
retains 5% as retention payment.

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables based on

22. &
Bz

n

0]

oy B HAB REAT TH (7))

BHRNFAEZRENEBEHR © [%
BEEHONRREEERIBESREDH
AT o AEE—RRB % IERRESD -

RBEHR  EHRNFORNEEERE A

the date the trade payables were recognised, is as follows: BRI T -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT
Within 3 months 3fEAR 830,931 763,756
Over 3 months but less than 6 months 3fEALES ‘E/‘é @A 10,049 7,878
Over 6 months but less than 12 months 6fE AN B 121EA 21,627 16,471
Over 12 months 28R A E 295,623 157,025
1,158,230 945,130

Amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand of which RMB33,050,000 (2021: RMB93,050,000) is related to the acquisition
of a subsidiary in previous year. The details of the related party balance are

summarised in Note 31(d)(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The details are summarised in Note 31(d)(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.

The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

FE R 5 A B EEE - R E W EESRKE
i Hrh ARM33050,0007T (20214 : AR
#£93,050,000 7T ) £2 £ —F Ui — B A A
B - B AR BN A M B RERM
FE31(d)i) Bt o

i ANE 22 HQHQ?
SKIEE - FER
it e

AEEEEA RERER
#RE BRI 5 31(d) ) BE

AR AEIER 28 REEREE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

22.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

It represented consideration payables to the vendors of the acquisitions of
subsidiaries which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2021, the amount represented the balance of consideration
payable to the local government for acquisition of a parcel of land and the properties
on the land parcel located in Danzhou, Hainan, the PRC. During the reporting period,
the Group entered into an agreement with the local government and an
independent third party that all parties mutually agreed the liabilities of consideration
payables of RMB280,000,000 together with the corresponding land use rights were
transferred to another the independent third party.

At 31 December 2022, the Group granted exclusive right to sales agencies for
promoting certain completed properties for a period of time, and received the
amount of RMB9,594,000 as guarantee deposits (2021: RMB14,671,000). The
guarantee deposits are interest-free and will be returned to the sales agencies when
the sale targets have been met as stipulated in the agencies’ agreements or when
the agencies’ agreements ended. The amount is expected to be settled within 12

months.

Receipt in advance for rental income represented the lump sum payment received
from the tenants for lease of car parks. The amounts are recognised to profit or loss as
rental income over the lease terms. At 31 December 2022, the receipt in advance for
rental income that are expected to be utilised after more than 12 months are
RMB49,973,118 (2021: RMB47,886,000).

The amount represents the temporary receipts from the customers for processing a
certificate of property ownership of the completed properties. The balances are
interest-free and will be paid to the government authorities when the certificates are
prepared.

22.

9 oy Je A EAT S (48)

Wi

V)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

()

FReEERNTRERBRARTNETNR
B REER RERERFEE-

R2021F 12 A31 B - BEASREIERBUELR
B R E N B — 38+ it R skt B E R 2
RSB HREREE - REHA - KE

EREMBTR BB L E= I
EF " BREBENREBABARKE
280,000,000 7T &2 FB FE ) + i RS E T 5
—RBUE= -

MR202F 128318 AEERBEERERT
EE RN HEE TE AR MENTHE
F - B WEA R # 9,594,000 TL1E BIRE ?ziz
£ (2021 4F : AR¥14671,0007T) ° RiEE
BEE ﬁﬁﬁé’f@ﬁififiﬁisﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁég:ﬁt
HEHZRIREBBEEMERETHER
2o BHESBBEHEN 2EARNES -

BYRAERARRBEFPEEFESHN—

MAR - ZESERAEHRERBERAR
E2EMER o N2022F 12 A31 B - FEEBNIB

BREABDANAREERASEAAR
#49973118 7L (2021 &« A R % 47,886,000
JT) e

RS EERC ERDEREY XA #S

E3
WEREFRE - BEHEESRARE  LHR
REBRBEZERERRTBPIXA

mEERARAE 20228% D9
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23.

210

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. BHATE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Contract liabilities arising from contracts HFAEHNEENEHEE
with customers 3,248,596 2,874,733
The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases FR - REBVERELEDF 1558 E

both occurred within the same year) of contract liabilities from contracts
with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows:

AEFANELENANABENES (TR
RRFENBRMELE) T

2022 2021

2022 F 2021 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T ARETT

At the beginning of the reporting period RS HAY) 2,874,733 1,684,632
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMRB AR - (510,338)
Recognised as revenue R AW (1,163,185) (440,285)
Receipt in advance TEM IR 1,537,048 2,140,724
At end of the reporting period RIEHR 3,248,596 2,874,733

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there are 4 (2021: 2) property
development projects obtained the pre-sale permit to commence the
sale of property under construction thereby increasing the amount
receipt in advance.

At 31 December 2022, the contract liabilities that are expected to be
settled after more than 12 months are RMB1,870,960,000 (2021:
RMB1,445,068,000).

The amount of transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at 31 December

HE202F12 A31 BILEE - 418 (2021
F @) MEMBEE RGBS -
LAFIAHE R ME - Mg mEK
FE ©

R202F 128318 FEEHERZR12ME
ARRENNELHEEARARE 870960000
70 (2021 4 © AR5 1445068000 7C) ©

R2022F 12 A3 BOBRERBHETER
FBIT (AP RBIT) R FEIRSEE

2022 (including the balance of contract liabilities as disclosed above) is (BIEIXHEASNBENGESR) T -
as follows:

2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT ARBTET

Expected timing of revenue recognition: e zs SR B TE BRRF A -
Within 1 year 1FR 1,432,130 1,498,592
More than 1 year L 1F 1,981,985 1,490,603
3,414,115 2,989,195
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24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

24, RAT S HAbAE K

2022 2021
2022 F 20216
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ TR ARETTT
Bank borrowings RITEK
Secured (note i) AHEA (FIEED 1,532,813 1,371,604
Other borrowings E
— Third parties —%=7"
Secured (note i) B (L) 95,000 95,000
Unsecured (note ii) AR (P i) 52,059 44,970
— Related parties — @ s
Unsecured (note iv) HAEAR (BT iv) 136,075 129,328
283,134 269,298
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMEREE 1,815,947 1,640,902

The maturity of the bank borrowings and analysis of the amount due

RITERN BB R MR B E K 3

% P

based on scheduled payment dates set out in the loan agreements are HET NI BENREEES O T
as follows:
Within one year —&FR 241,254 239,715
In the second year F_F 473,975 448525
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-FEFERFT (BIEEREMT) 817,584 683,364
1,532,813 1,371,604
Portion classified as current liabilities DEAERBE BN (241,254) (239,715)
Non-current portion EmBIE D 1,291,559 1,131,889
The maturity of the other borrowings HERNEBERAT
is as follows:
Within one year —&FR 188,134 232,685
In the second year —F 95,000 36,613
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-FEFERFT (BIEEEREMT) = -
283,134 269,298
Portion classified as current liabilities DERRBEENED (188,134) (232,685)
Non-current portion IEmENEL D 95,000 36,613
The total bank and other borrowings RIT M EMEFBENDTWT -
are analysed as follows:
Portion classified as current liabilities SEARBAGENEDY 429,388 472,400
Non-current portion EREE D 1,386,559 1,168,502
Total bank and other borrowings RITREMERETE 1,815,947 1,640,902

i HE P BT PR )

202248 )71
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24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

212

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The bank borrowings were secured by a deposit of Nil (2021: RMB7,936,900), certain
properties under development and completed properties held for sale with carrying
amount of RMB2,392,163,000 (2021: RMB1,941,765,000) and RMB435,752,000 (2021:
RMB79,085,000) respectively and investment properties with fair value of
RMB461,366,000 (2021: Nil).

The borrowings had interest bearing at rates 1.75% to 8.5% per annum (2021: 1.75%
to 7.64%) per annum, RMB Loan rates of 3-5 years (including 5 years) times 115% per
annum (2021: RMB Loan rates of 3-5 years (including 5 years) times 115% per annum)
and the PRC Loan Prime Rate plus 0.15% to 3.475% per annum (2021: PRC Loan Prime
Rate plus 0.15% to 3.325% per annum), repayable between 2023 to 2026 (2021:
repayable between 2022 to 2025), guaranteed by subsidiaries of the Company,
intermediate holding company of non-controlling shareholder and non-controlling
shareholders and personal guaranteed by directors of subsidiaries of the Company
and ultimate controlling shareholder.

The secured other borrowing was secured by 15% (2021: 15%) equity interest in a
subsidiary of the Company, interest bearing at 8% (2021: 8%) per annum and

repayable in 2024 (2021: repayable in 2022).

The amounts due were unsecured, interest bearing at 10% per annum and repayable
in 2023, or repayable on demand (2021: between 2022 to 2023).

As at 31 December 2022, the amounts due were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand except for the amounts due of RMB135,349,000 is interest
bearing at 7% to 8% per annum and repayable in 2023 (2021: RMB117,458,000 is
interest bearing at 7% to 8% per annum and repayable in 2022 and RMB11,143,000 is
interest bearing at 10% per annum and repayable in 2023) respectively.

The directors estimate the fair value of the Group’s borrowings at 31

December 2022 and 2021 approximate to their carrying amounts.
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24. RIT M
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0}

(i)

(i)

(iv)

HoAt Ak (

SRITIE AT (2021 F + AR¥7,9369007T)
WiEe - BREED I AAR 2392,163,0007T
(20214 + AR #1941,765000 7T ) B A R ¥
435,752,000 7T (2021 & = A R # 79,085,000 7T )
METHERTPDERBEHEDERDEN
BRAFEAANRE461,3660007T (20214 « F)
I E PSR -

1B TR IR F 2 1.750% = 8.5% (2021 4 FEH|=
175% 2= 7.64%) * 3ESF (BIESF)MARK

BERFIERFELA115% K FF K (2021 F : 3E5
E(@%Si)é’v\ﬁm% ST EIA115% Y
FHER)RPEERFZFEENEMN0ISNE
3.475% M EF|R (2021 F : PEERZESF]
ENN0.15% E 3.325% K FFIE) 5T 8+ WER
2023 4 52026 F H 18 38 (2021 FF : 20226
Z2025FHMER) AR RIMBAR -
FEFE AR AR B 6 AR R HE AR A R R R4S AR AR R 42
R YAARAMBRRNEERGRIZR
RR B IR EAER ©

B AR E H A {8 AR X R HTE A R EY 15%

(20214F : 15%) RBEEE | - R F F E8%
(2021 4F : 8%) 5t B K FE 7L 2024 & 18 38 (2021

F R 20202 FEIE) -

EREEEBERD  RFEFEI10%T8 0 I
FER 2023 FEE R EEKE R Q0216 « &
2022 F ZE 2023 FHIREE) ©

2026 12A31H  BERSBAEARE
135,349,000 7T &2 4 FI| % 7% 2 8% 51 2 R AR
2023 F{EIE (2021 F + AR¥ 117,458,000 7T1%
FFIR 7% E 0 at B RBNR202FEEUR
ARHE11,143,000 TTIRF FIZE 10% 51 B RER
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25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

25. %%

& BB IR DL Y BT A58

(@ Current tax assets/(liabilities) @ BPmisiEER(Alk)

2022 2021

2022 £ 20214

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ET T ARETTT

Prepaid CIT BN EEMFHR 40,777 25,583

Prepaid LAT FAf + IR ER 33,666 24,907

Current tax assets recognised in the RERE IS AR R R TR

consolidated statement of financial position B EAF: 184 & 74,443 50,490

Current CIT payable FEAS BN EATR ZEPRAS AR (10,900) (12,469)

Current LAT payable FEATBNER -t 3 (257,968) (201,192)
Current tax liabilities recognised in the RERE AR R R ER R

consolidated statement of financial position BIEAFRIE & & (268,868) (213,661)

Provision for LAT has been made pursuant to applicable tax laws
in the PRC. The Group considers the timing of settlement is
dependent on the practice of local tax bureaus. As a result of the
uncertainty of timing of payment of LAT, the provisions have been
recorded as current liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

T IR E R AR TR R R BE A B
TR RIED o $§%@Jﬁ% & E I [
BURRA M T T B A B R
ﬁéiimigﬁm,%ﬂﬁﬁﬁaﬂmm‘ﬁm
M FA20224F K 202112 A31H

B > i

THIRERRECRCESRB A

& o

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised (b) CHEZEEREER (A
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 6
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARBF T
Deferred tax assets recognised on the BB AR IERD
consolidated statement of financial position LL%RIEQE 54,084 40,543
Deferred tax liabilities recognised on the RERE B ISR R FERE
consolidated statement of financial position IRIEFRIBE & (465,501) (491,804)
(411,417) (451,261)

WA RA T 20224
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25. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

25. %%

r o B IR DL A BT AR (468)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised (Continued) b CHEZEEREEE (AF)
(%)
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in FERNGE BRI R ERNIEL
the consolidated statement of financial position and the BIBEE,/(BE) AR K&
movements during the year are as follows: mr
Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities
EELHEEE BEHESE
Temporary
differences Revaluation Revaluation Revaluation
arising from Other of arising from of
LAT  temporary investment Unused business LAT  investment
provision differences property taxlosses  combination provision property
THIREHR Ed
BEMELER Hft  REWE KEBA AfMEL  IHEER
BREZE  RREER By HEEE WEH B REMEER
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBFT ARETT ARETR
(Note i) (Note i) (Note iv) (Note iii)
GiED) Gk (Ftsxiv) (Bitsiin)
At 1 January 2021 #2021 E1A1H 2,364 6,186 1535 24,384 (243,647) (262552) (3327)
Disposal of subsidaries HERBAR - - - (4,165) - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary RN E AR 825 - - - - (825) -
Credited/(charged) toprofitorloss 5 A/ (MR8 B3 - 624 6,349 1941 7371 10031 1,145
At31 December 2021 R20215128318 3,689 6810 7,884 2,160  (236276)  (253,346) (2182)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 35(0)) &M AR (FizE35(0)) (2,864) - - - - 11,455 -
(Charged)/credited to profitorloss (MR E) /3t ARz - 5,756 5,528 5121 5,365 7,301 2,182
At31 December 2022 R02F12A318 825 12,566 13,412 27,281 (230,911) (234,590) -
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25.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised (Continued)

Notes:

(iif)

(iv)

“Temporary differences arising from LAT provision” represented deferred tax
assets recognised on the timing differences for the amount of LAT provision

made for property projects.

In recognising and measuring of deferred tax assets in respect of the Group’s
subsidiaries which suffered losses in current or preceding period,
management considered the projected future taxable income of these
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the Group has recognised deferred tax assets of
RMB27,281,000 and RMB22,160,000 as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
respectively as the Group estimates that these subsidiaries have properties
development projects which are probable to generate sufficient future
taxable profits to support their utilisation.

“LAT provision” in the deferred tax liability represents the amounts of LAT
recognised as an identifiable liability from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

The amount represents the deferred tax liability arising revaluation of assets
upon acquisition of Sanya FengHuang Xincheng Industrials Co., Ltd ("Sanya
Fenghuang Xincheng’) in 2008, after considered the effect of item (iii)
above which are tax deductible for CIT purpose.
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25.

216

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.4 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group has not
recognised deferred tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of
RMB229,131,000 and RMB194,085,000 as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 respectively. The directors consider it is not probable
that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised

will be available from these subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
unrecognised tax losses at the end of the reporting period would

expire in the following years:

25.
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(c) ARG ERE B E e

BRIBLGE T EREMF24FTEH
B E - 2022 F K 2021412
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R #194,085,000 TLHER BT IHE
E-BEEZRE  EIRAEARR
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RIBEES LT BENERER N
B NE RN KRR ERE R
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2022 2021
2022 F 2021 &
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRE ARBTT

Tax losses without expiration 4 iz o BARE A 5 18 B 18 25,935 11,585
Tax losses expiring in: R THNFEERETRIBERE
2022 2022 - 1,467
2023 2023 F 833 833
2024 2024 F 27,693 28,034
2025 2025 21,930 26,902
2026 2026 F 80,049 125,264
2027 2027 F 72,691 -
229,131 194,085

The tax losses for the subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong and
USA do not expire under current Hong Kong and USA tax

legislations.
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25.

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

According to the PRC CIT Law and its related regulations, the
Group is subject to a withholding tax at 10%, unless reduced by
tax treaties or arrangements, for dividends distributed by a PRC
enterprise to its immediate holding company outside the PRC for
earnings generated beginning on 1 January 2008. Undistributed
earnings generated prior to 1 January 2008 are exempt from such
withholding tax. According to the China-HK Tax Arrangement and
its relevant regulations, a qualified Hong Kong tax resident which
is the “beneficial owner” and holds 25% or more of a PRC
enterprise is entitled to a reduced withholding tax rate of 5%.

Deferred tax liabilities of RMB87,651,000 (2021: RMB80,310,000)
were not recognised in respect of the 10% PRC dividend
withholding tax that would be payable on the distribution of
retained profits of RMB876,512,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB803,109,000) in respect of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and it was determined that these profits would not be distributed
in the foreseeable future.

26. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
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Dividends (@ MBE
The board of directors does not recommend the distribution of a EEg T EBREEEZ202F12
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil). A31ALLFE 2 RERR S (20215 -
) o
Share capital (b) A
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Number Number
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ROEE AR%®TxR kg E AREFT
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WEERARAR 20229 % D7



Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
LR B R B E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

26. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

218

(o

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Share premium represents the difference between the total
amount of the par value of shares issued and the amount of
the net proceeds received from the public offering in 2016.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account of the Company is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company would be in a position to pay off
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Other reserve

Other reserve was created as a result of the transactions
with the Ultimate Controlling Shareholder in his capacity as
equity holder under reorganisation to rationalise the Group
structure in preparation for the initial listing of the
Company's shares on the Stock Exchange in 2016.

Transactions with non-controlling interests reserve

Transactions with non-controlling interests reserve has been
set up and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies adopted for the changes in the Group’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary which do not result in change in
control as set out in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Statutory surplus reserve

According to the PRC Company Law, the PRC subsidiaries of
the Group (excluding foreign investment enterprises) are
required to transfer 10% of their profit after taxation, as
determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of their registered capital.

The transfer to this reserve must be made before
distribution of a dividend to shareholders.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS
(Continued)

(o

(d

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(iv) Statutory surplus reserve (Continued)

Statutory reserve fund can be used to cover previous years’
losses, if any, and may be converted into share capital by
the issue of new shares to shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholdings or by increasing the par value
of the shares currently held by them, provided that the
balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the
registered capital.

(v) Exchangereserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of the Company and foreign operations having
functional currencies other than RMB. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out in
Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its property development projects, provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholders
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and securities afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

There was no externally imposed capital requirements on the
Group's subsidiaries in 2022 and 2021.
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SHARE AWARDS SCHEME

On 30 April 2021, the Board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company
adopted and approved a share award scheme (the “Scheme”). Upon the
authorisation of the Board, may from time to time, at its absolute
discretion select any individual or corporate entity being a director
(including executive and non-executive director), employee, officer and
consultant of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any company
wholly owned by any of the aforesaid participant(s) for participation in
the Scheme as a selected participants (the “Selected Participant(s)”),
and grant such number of awarded shares (the “Awarded Shares”) to
any Selected Participant. The Selected Participants are not required to
pay any price to receive the Awarded Shares.

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the
Board and the trustee of the Scheme (the “Trustee”) in accordance with
the rules of the Scheme and the trust deed. The Trustee shall hold the
trust fund in accordance with the terms of the trust deed.

The Board may from time to time cause to pay a contributed amount to
the Trust by way of settlement or otherwise which shall constitute part
of the trust fund, for the purchase or subscription (as the case may be) of
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) and other purposes set out in the
scheme rules and the trust deed. In connection with the implementation
of the Scheme, the Board may from time to time instruct the Trustee to
purchase the Shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
to hold them in trust for the benefit of the Selected Participants on and
subject to the terms and conditions of the rules of the Scheme and the
trust deed.

The purposes of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions by
Selected Participants and to provide incentives thereto in order to retain
them for the continuous operation and future development of the
Group; and (i) to attract suitable personnel for further development of
the Group. The Scheme shall be valid and effective for ten years
commencing from the adoption date.

As at 31 December 2022, no share was purchased and held on trust by
the Trustee (2021: Nil).

As at 31 December 2022, no share was granted to the Selected
Participants under the Scheme (2021: Nil).
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency and equity price risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group's
exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(@

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets on the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on these financial assets.

Trade receivables

The Group closely monitors the collection payments from
customers in accordance with payment schedule agreed with
customers and follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts,
if any. The Group's trade receivables relate to a certain number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL for
trade receivables and recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date. In estimating the ECL, the
Group has taken into account the historical actual credit loss
experience over the past three years and available press
information, adjusted for forward-looking factors that are specific
to the debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in
which the counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of
default of these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in
each case. The directors of the Company consider the ECL of these
financial assets to be insignificant after taking into account the
credit quality and repayment history of the counterparties.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
consolidated financial statements, represents the Group's
exposure to credit risk. The management considers the ECL of
trade receivable to be insignificant so that no significant
impairment loss was recognised during the year.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in Note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

222

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)
Restricted cash and bank balances

Substantially all of the Group's pledged bank deposits and bank
balances were deposited in creditworthy global banks and
licensed financial institutions in the PRC, which management
considers they are without significant credit risks.

Financial guarantee contracts issued

As at 31 December 2022, the Group'’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from the amount of
contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees issued by
the Group as disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. The management considers the credit risk exposure
to financial guarantees provided to property purchasers is limited
because the mortgage loan granted to the property buyers are
secured by the properties and the market prices of the properties
have no significant variance compared with the guaranteed
amounts.

Other receivables — third parties

The management determines that certain other receivables from
third parties are credit-impaired after taken into account the age
of these balances and the past settlement history of these parties.
An impairment loss in aggregate of RMB11,766,000 (2021:
RMB11,766,000) was made in respect of these balances as a result
of the ECL assessment conducted by the management of the
Company. The movements of accumulated impairment losses on
these balances are detailed in Note 20(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company considers that the remaining other receivables from
third parties as at 31 December 2022 have low credit risk based on
these parties’ strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and low risk of default. In estimating
the ECL and whether these balances are credit-impaired, the
Company has taken into account the historical actual credit loss
experience over the past 3 years and the financial position of
respective parties by reference to, among others, their
management accounts, adjusted for forward-looking factors, in
estimating the probability of default, as well as the loss upon
default. The management of the Company considers the ECL of
these balances to be insignificant so no loss allowance was
recognised in this respect.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables — Loan to third parties

The Group performs ECL assessment on loan to third parties based
on lifetime ECL.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
taken into account the financial capacity of the third parties,
adjusted for forward-looking factors that are specific to the
debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which
the third parties operate, in estimating the probability of default of
these financial assets, as well as the loss upon default. The
management of the Company considers the ECL of the loan to
third parties to be insignificant.

Other receivables — Loan to/amount due from related
parties

The Group considers that loan to/amount due from related parties
have low credit risk based on the borrowers' strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and
low risk of default. Impairment on loan to/amount due from
related parties measured on 12-month ECL and reflects the short
maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
whether the financial asset is credit-impaired, , the Group has
taken into account the historical actual credit loss experience over
the past 3 years and the financial position of the counterparties by
reference to, among others, their management or audited
accounts and available press information, adjusted for forward-
looking factors that are specific to the debtors and general
economic conditions of the industry in which the counterparties
operate, in estimating the probability of default of these financial
assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. The
management of the Company considers the ECL of these financial
assets to be insignificant after taking into account the financial
position and credit quality of the counterparties.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE

(Continued)

(b)

224

Liquidity risk

The Group’s management reviews the liquidity position of the
Group on an ongoing basis, including review of the expected cash
inflows and outflows, sale/pre-sale results of respective property
projects and the progress of the planned property development
projects in order to monitor the Group's liquidity requirements in

the short and longer terms.

Details of maturity analysis for financial liabilities are summarised

as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

S 5 J B e B T (L (4
(b) 97 B 7 4 A BG:
REEE
BHESHR -

48
=
FL

EERERMASENR
BREEHEHRSR

ARRE - HEYMERERNHE
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NERAEEEHLE
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T

202212 H831H

Carrying  Contractual Within
amount cash flow 1year 1-2 years 2-5years
FHE BHOASR —FHUR —EWF “ZIf
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE AR®TRT AR®TRT AR®TRT AR®T:R
Trade payables BHRAFE 1,158230  1,158230 1,158,230 - =
Other payables (excluded EtbERZUE (T RE
receipts inadvance forrental  FERFREWA -
income, accrued payroll and RE =
other tax payables) HipfErHE) 362,471 362,471 362,471 - -
Bank and other borrowings BITREMER 1,815,947 2,040,131 565,781 616,590 857,760
As at 31 December 2022 R202F12A31H 3,336,648 3,560,832 2,086,482 616,590 857,760
As at 31 December 2021 7A2021%F12A831H
Carrying Contractual Within
amount cash flow 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years
REE AORDR —FAR —EWF “ERF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Trade payables g5 ENFE 945,130 945,130 945,130 - -
Other payables (excluded Hip AR (T RE
receiptsinadvance forrental  FEARFAE A
income, accrued payrolland — JEEHEHE K
other tax payables) HiEMTIE) 801,606 803,264 803,264 - -
Bank and other borrowings BITREMER 1,640,902 1,909,043 524,028 539,824 845,191
As at 31 December 2021 2021128318 3,387,638 3657437 2272422 539,824 845,191

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»‘/]?

o I B R M T

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(o

(d

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rates risk arises primarily from restricted cash,
cash and cash equivalents and bank and other borrowings.
Restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents and bank and other
borrowings with floating interest rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk. For bank and other borrowings, the Group’s
policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and
floating rate debts, monitor closely its interest rate exposure and
the level of fixed rate and floating rate borrowings in consideration
of economic atmosphere and the strategies of the Group.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had been 100
(2021: 100) basis point higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's loss for the year would increase and
retained profits for the year would decrease by RMB3,410,000
(2021: profit for the year and retained profits for the year would
decrease RMB2,206,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred throughout the year and
had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for all
financial instruments in existence during the year. The 100 (2021:
100) basis point increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates over
the period until the next annual end of the reporting period.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
transactions which give rise to payables that are denominated in a
foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the functional currency
of the entity to which the transactions relate. Most of the Group’s
operating activities are carried out in the PRC and USA with most
of the transactions denominated in RMB and USD respectively.
Exposures to currency exchange rates arise from cash and cash
equivalents and other payables of certain entities of the Group
which are denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the these entities. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk. The Group
reviews its foreign currency exposures regularly and consider no
significant exposure on its foreign exchange risk.

S5 LR

(0

(d

BT ()

A 3 ) B

AEEONERREEAZREIR
® ReLREFEYRBITRE
1‘@{*%/\?% RS RER
ReEEYRRITREMZEMER
fle»‘%@ﬁﬁuniﬁimﬂ?ﬂ, fax o gt

RITREMERMET - AEEHNK
ﬁ%ﬁ%r&,ﬁ%@ﬁ—w}i$%lﬁ’l

B FAERENMFEEEBUNEEE
FBAA « B BER A K@ b K E
BREBERNEE -

REREBAR - WFEEH TR

100 (2021 4F = 100) {EE 2 Fr B E
] BFEARRFTE - BIAREER
FEEB BN N FERE &S
A AR 3,410,000 7T (2021 £ -
FERMREFERBEMNERDA
R#2,206,0007T) °

BRE DT TR LS E PN EE
FEBLE VEEAZFAGTED
Fﬁﬁiﬁ‘—ﬂlﬁﬁﬁnnm%”yﬂﬁ“ ©
100 (2021 4 : 100) fE E 2h &1 Anak
B AEREBYBARER TERS
HFERNOFI RN EIE A EE BT
1o

5 W Ja B

AEBEAZHNEERBRTIZHRE A
SNE(BIBRR S ZERREEN
MR EB AN ZEE)HENR S
PRE LR B FRIE - NEEAEED
RETESHNP B NBET - K
BAXZHRIAARE R ETE
B-EXRBREAEESTER
NZEBBINGEEENINZ B
BENRE LIRS EEMAREME
[HE - AEBWENBITES R
T RSP ESNS R - ARETE B
@ E E NS R - X RS ELSNE R
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

226

(d

Currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group's exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB,
translated using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

S5 LR

(d)

BT ()

£ W JE ks (48
TRADNEERBRERPAT
RAEREERINGEEE ZINME
%EﬂﬁﬂﬁaﬁﬁwéF%%L%\tEﬁ
ERERE - REREHR  AREE
MAREIR ﬁtﬁﬁﬁi%%;ﬁ
HBIERRE RIS o RIB SN SERE ) B
BHRRBEXNAEE2I|EE S|
HZEBETEREEN

2022 2021
2022 2021 4

HKD usD HKD usD

BT E BT ETT
Expressed in RMB’000 SHENAARYE TR
Other payables H M FERFUR (61,784) - (57,183) -
Sensitivity analysis BRED M
the foreign currency sensitivity analysis is calculated based on the BRE AR S BT METEE®
major net foreign currency exposure of the Group as at the end of (20214 : 5%) - SNEBERE ST
the reporting period, assuming 5% (2021: 5%) shift of RMB against BIEAEBERRE LRGN T EHNE
HKD and USD. [R\Be FER A E
Results from a 5% (2021: 5%) strengthening of the RMB against R202F12A31H WARKR
HKD and USD would increase the Group's loss for the year and the BT R ZETTFHES%(20214F 1 5%)

decrease retained profits as at 31 December 2022 by
approximately RMB2,317,000 (2021: decrease the Group's profit for
the year and retained profits by RMB2,144,000). A 5% (2021: 5%)
weakening of the RMB against HKD and USD as at the same dates
would have had the equal but opposite effect.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign
exchange rates had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including inter-
company payables and receivables within the Group which are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currencies of
the lender or the borrower. The analysis excludes differences that
would result from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations into the Group's presentation currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2021.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(e)

®

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from investments held
under financial asset at FVPL amounted to RMB3,852,000 (2021:
RMB2,607,000). The Group does not actively trade these
investments. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks and
different return profiles. No sensitivity analysis is prepared for the
price risk as the directors of the Company considered that the
Group is not subject to significant amount of risk for both years.

Fair value measurement

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a
recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used
in the valuation technique as follows:

—  Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

—  Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which

market data are not available.

—  Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant

unobservable inputs.

28. B R B B N A THE (A)

(e)

)

Lt £ 4% J B
REERAZIEATFEFABEZ S
BEEE NI EEENERE
& A 53,852,000 (2021 4F = A
R # 260700070 ) o AEBE I EFE
BEEZERE BEHEEBHRBER
ETERRETREHAEEHRE
ERZERE AR ARREERA
AEERZWEFEYESE AR
SRR MO E R E AR R B R RS
EoHT -

A F A R

TREREE U RE LN
BFEATEEE - NHRE AT
SHEARERANENHATFES B
=ERTFEBR - BRI E R
ERRANBRTITHRRAES
1t HAFEHEIERATHE -

— R HE:UNE-REAE
BAENQTE BN
HREESABMALE
AR EREEETSH
BB REHERE
%o

— B HE:AF_HBEAK

BAENAFEE BN

ATER g ABIR KA

BE—BBABKE

ko RARERERTAH

REGABIE - T BR

BB ASIE AT TS

BEUIE2ENH A E

% -

— BZHR HE:FRERATUHE

AR ENATE -

WA RA T 20224
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28.

228

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE
(Continued)

(f)  Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level 1
F—&
RMB'000
AREFT

28. B R B B N A THE (A)

2P G (4)
Level 2 Level 3 Total
-t 1} E=H Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBTT ARETRT

As at 31 December 2022 202212 H31H
Financial assets at FVPL EBEAFETABEN

SREE
Unlisted equity securities I ETRAE S 3,852 - 3,852
As at 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31H
Financial assets at FVPL BRAOFEFABEN
cRERE
Unlisted equity securities FLETRAFS 2,607 - 2,607

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements and no
transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Description of the valuation techniques and inputs used in
Level 2 fair value measurement

Unlisted equity securities

The fair value of the unlisted equity securities is evaluated by the
directors with reference to the net asset value as shown in the
latest financial statements of the investee.
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29.

30.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS 29. BAB UK
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2022 not provided RAEBIRERARN 202212 A31 BER
for in consolidated financial statements were as follows: SAITHE R EYENT ¢
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETF T
Contracted but not provided for BRI HE R B 2,235,997 1,966,897
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/GUARANTEES ISSUED 30. BURE TG

Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by
purchasers of the Group's properties. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owned by the
defaulted purchasers to the banks. The Group's guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and
ends upon the earlier of issue of the real estate ownership certificates
after the purchasers taking possession of the relevant properties; or the
full settlement of mortgage loans by the purchasers. The maximum
amount of guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities granted to
the purchasers of the Group's properties at the end of the reporting
period was RMB1,286,400,000 (2021: RMB974,201,000).

The directors consider that it is not probable that the Group will sustain
a loss under these guarantees as during the periods under guarantees,
the Group can take over the ownerships of the related properties and
sell the properties to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
banks. The directors also consider that the fair market value of the
underlying properties has no significant variance compared to the
outstanding mortgage loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the
purchasers default payments to the banks. In addition, the Group has
not encountered any incidents of default in payment of mortgage by
the purchasers since 2017, the directors consider that the likelihood of
default of payments by the purchasers is minimal and therefore the
financial guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of these
guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the directors.

o 45 b & 5 1R

AEBAETRIMAEEDEETRE]
UWMIERBERREMWIRIERE R HIE
R RBEREN  MZEEREXRIZL
BEN  AXEEEEFEEREER
BER  EREXERGERBITHEMA
JEETFIBE LRI  REBNERPER
HHEBAZBERZ AREEREF A
MERERFEEMBREFE LB REHE
BIRBER(UREEBE) IF - RS
IR AEEFRBETASEMEERY
RIBREMATRINESERESEA
A R #1,286,400,000 7T (2021 F + AR
974,201,000 7T ©

EERB ARETARAZSFERM
SREX ARAKERERARTE
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group, the Group entered into
the following significant related party transactions during the year ended
31 December 2022.

(@ Name and relationship with related parties/connected

R B TT 2 5 K B AL 5

MBAEBEGEMBHREREMIBYFED
Bl T BRI - AEBEZE 2029124
STHIEFERIIA TERBH IS -

@ R T7 TR T % B

parties Ji /R T i B

During the year ended 31 December 2022, transactions with the HE0NRFNANBLEFE - H

following parties were considered as related party transactions: WTEATHRSERBEE TR
5

Name of party Relationship with the Group

B BB ERAC SR B YRR R

Yeung Man Ultimate Controlling Shareholder

58 REPERRARER

Nanjing Huizhi Construction Installation Engineering Co., Ltd.
(‘Nanjing Huizhi")
AREERELETIRARAR(AREE])

Nanjing Diken Engineering Design Consultancy Co., Ltd.
("Nanjing Diken”)
ARBBRTRERIAFAERAG ((EHRAE])

Nanjing Hengjida Engineering Design Consultancy
Company Limited ("Nanjing Hengjida")
ArELET R HAGRAR (ARELE])

Lianyungang Hui Neng Foundation Construction
Engineering Co,, Ltd. (‘Lianyungang Hui Neng")
EEEBAERERIEARAR (EEBERE])

Nanjing Huiyao Decoration Construction Co,, Ltd.

("Nanjing Huiyao”)
AREREMS AR (FHRER])

230 HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
R R AE B B B

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
REERRRERINE R

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
R IRRAE S B e

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
R RAE B B B

Associate of a group controlled by the
Ultimate Controlling Shareholder

P A A4 22 i R BR 2 1 ) S B O Bt 28 1 )
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@ Name and relationship with related parties/connected RN L Vil LY EX YE A )

. EREATT A 5 KBRS B ()

parties (Continued)

Name of party
B B8

Ji /B 5 v R A ()

Relationship with the Group
BEALBHBER

Center Drive Investment LLC (“Center Drive”)
Center Drive Investment, LLC ([ Center Drive])
Chung Wai (Hong Kong) Investment Construction
Company Limited ("Chung Wai (Hong Kong)")
hE(BFB)REERBERAR([HE(ER)])

Zhou Li

)

b

Shenzhen Aolan

AR E
hEERERCRIDERAR (HEZE
hEERERCRIDERAB ((HEERE])

T REBEXARAR (EITRE
EITHREBEXARA T(D‘ESI$E§§J)

Zhonghui Investment North America Corp.
(“Zhonghui Investment”)

Zhonghui Investment North America Corp.
([ Zhonghui Investment | )

TREREERK(EMN BRAF (PRER

PRERFEEMZR(EMNBERAR(THRER])

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
RZZERBCRIEH N E R

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
REIE R IR R AE B B e

Executive director and Chief executive officer
of the Group
REBRITERRITHRER

Associate
/N

Entity controlled by the Executive director and
Chief executive officer

HITESERITBEHIEHNER

Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary

— R 2 R R

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
R R AE S B e

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
R IR AE B B B

WERERARAT 202248 D3
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31.

232

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@)

Name and relationship with related parties/connected

parties (Continued)

Name of party
S B8

. ERERATT 5 KB EE 5 (

)

@ BRI Ty G e B W

Ji /B 5 v R A ()

Relationship with the Group
BEALBEHBAE

Hunan Jinzhong Property Investment Group Co., Ltd.
(‘Hunan Jingzhong")

Hunan Jinzhong Property Investment Group Co,, Ltd.
([Hunan Jingzhong |)

ARBEBERMERBBERAR (GEER
ERBEERMEREARAR (EERR])
AR EREEERARAR (EARAER)
AR EREEERER AR ([RERES])
EAEBRMREEREEERATAR (EAER)
EREERHmREEREEFREELR((EEER])

AINEIIREBRAR (RYIEE"
YNNI EBR AR (RINEE )

Zhongtou Zhiye (Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd. ("Zhongtou Zhiye")
PIREX(EN)ERQG (PREE
REREE(EMN)ARAG(THREZE]
EEEMTXEEBRAR (EHEEY)
EEEMTXERAERA R ((EEEY])

EfRESGHMEREEARAR (ERER"
ErREGRMERERERA T(UEEE?@J)
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Holding entity of a former non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary

— B A B AT AR I B 88

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
R IRRAE S B B

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
BRI R IE Fl ) H 58

Non-controlling shareholder of a former
subsidiary
—FEV AT PH B A RIFEFE AR 3R

Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary

i lIENGIES

Non-controlling shareholder of a former
subsidiary
—EIRIFT B A RIFEFEAR AR R

Former non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary
— BB R R AT IR AR AR

Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary

— KB A IR
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 31. HKBAW 385 M BR#EAL 5 (%)
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(@ Name and relationship with related parties/connected RN L Vil LY EX YE A )

parties (Continued)

Name of party
S B8

i /B T3 B IR 4R (%)

Relationship with the Group
BEAREEABAR

FINTREREBRAA] (RERE")
PNHREREBRRAB ([ RERE )

CSM Capital LLC (“CSM")
CSM Capital LLC ([€SM )

ERRKRREEXERAT (BAEXBERE
FEOXBREEXARAR([EEXEBRE])

200 Ocean Boulevard I, LLC
200 Ocean Boulevard II, LLC

410 Sierra Vista Avenue, LLC (“410 Sierra Vista")
410 Sierra Vista Avenue, LLC ([ 410 Sierra Vista )

RYZBFERERAR (RYBZREE
FRINBFEXERAR(RNBREE])
MRTAEHERZEARAR (FARTE")

MRILAEFEREERAR (ARTE])

N/A (2021: Non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary)
@M (2021 F - — AT 2 B SEEEARPARER)

Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary

L IENGIES e

Non-controlling shareholder of a former
subsidiary
—FEV AT PH B A RIFEFE AR 3R

Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary

— BB R R FEIEIR AR

Non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary

— R B A B SRR R

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
RIEZERBRRIEHOE R

Entity controlled by the Ultimate Controlling
Shareholder
BRI R IE Hl ) H 58

WERERARAT 202248% D33



Notes to the Consolidated Finaneial Statements
SR A ISR M
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 31. HKBAW 385 M BR#EAL 5 (%)
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) FEEMMABHM
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, AEBEFEEBAETFH(RIER
including amounts paid to the Company's directors and certain of LA HRERMF 10BN RF]
the highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 10 to the EERETESFNEESINE
consolidated financial statements, is as follows: )T

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETE

Wages, salaries and other benefits I& - HehEHER 5,867 5,546
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIRTEFIET I 3R 395 277
6,262 5823
The above remuneration to key management personnel is FE R TFEEERAENHSE
included in “staff costs” (Note 8 to the consolidated financial RIEINRA] (& BTN TE
statements). 8) °
(c) Transactions with related parties/connected parties (¢ BLBAWETT BRI 2 5)
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTET

Repayment of lease liabilities (Note (i) BREEEEPIE0) 1,104 1,059
Corporate management fee income (Note (ii)) 72 =& 32 & Ut A (P} £F (i) 882 846
Building management fee (Note (iii) HEEIRE (i) 4,910 5,850
Consideration for disposal of subsidiaries HERBRARNRE - 116,063
Consideration for disposal of an associate HE B E QRN RE - 71,880
Consideration for acquisition of WS A AR E R R (E

non-controlling interests of subsidiaries (K3E 35(a))

(Notes 35(a)) 1,050 167,887
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(o

Transactions with related parties/connected parties

(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Repayment of lease liabilities

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
rented a premise from the following related party:

31. HERBA T I B

(0

(i)

L i
S WG T3, TR 2R B ()

/)

(%)

N

EEHEEE
HZE2022F12A31HILFE -
AEER T EESEEY
Egs

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTRT AR®BTET
Chung Wai (Hong Kong) FEEBD) 1,104 1,059
Corporate management fee income (i) ATREEERA
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group HE202F12A31HIEFE
provided corporate management services to the following REBEM T EE T RER
related parties: RAIE AR -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARETT
Chung Wai (Hong Kong) FRE(ES) 882 846
The related party transactions also constitute continuing BAEE T R S IR LT3 A
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the FUABERENHBEBER
Listing Rules. Z e
Building management fee (iii) BEYEEE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
provided corporate management services to the following
related parties:

HZE2022F12A31HILFE -
AEEE AT BB FIRER
AIEIE RIS

2022 2021
2022 & 2021 4

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T AREFIT

BERR BERR 4,910 5,850

The related party transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

RAEE 7 32 5 I is A LT AR Al
BUAERTNHEFRER
% °

WEEIA AR 20224
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31.

236

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

31. FERBAM T o I B o) (8])

(d) Balances with related parties/connected parties/ (d) SLBRWE TS BRI e
non-controlling shareholders/associates W 2 w5 B
(i)  Amounts due from connected parties/non-controlling (i) FEWEEER FEERBER B
shareholders/associates ENTENIE
Maximum

balance during

the year 2022 2021
FNR=EH 2022 F 2021 4F
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBEFTT AR%T AREFTT
Non-trade related: e Y
Associates BN T
Shenzhen Aolan (Note 15) RIIBEE (BisE15) 15,327 15,327 15327
Connected party WER
PRI K (Note 20(v) PR ER (M 206v)) 500 500 500
Center Drive (Note 20(v)) Center Drive (B #E20(v)) 16,167 14,152 16,167
29,979 31,994

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand except for the amounts due from R REEK is
interest bearing at 12% per annum and repayable in 2023
(2021: unsecured, interest bearing at 12% per annum and

repayable in 2022).
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»‘/T\

31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 31. HKBAW 385 M BR#EAL 5 (%)
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(d) Balances with related parties/connected parties/ () BB BT I B
non-controlling shareholders/associates (Continued) Wk oy w45 R (4
(ii) Amounts due to related parties/connected parties/ (i) FENEHE BER FEE
non-controlling shareholders % B SRR
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Trade related: Z SR8
Connected parties RaE T
Nanjing Huizhi HAREE 53,692 46,033
Lianyungang Hui Neng BEEREAL 17,102 17,102
Nanjing Hengjida EGUEr a3 516 516
Nanjing Huiyao R R 2,029 2,029
Nanjing Diken R EEs 4,351 4,350
HEER BEER 80 1,465
77,770 71,495
Non-trade related: EE S
Other payables and other JERT AT 377 09 B A FE - 508 J2
borrowings due to: HMER
Non-controlling shareholders SEIE R IR
BT T B (Note 22(iii)) )T T B (B & 22ii)) 42,840 59,940
Y2 8 (Note 22(iii)) ARIIE el (B EE 220i) 72,986 73,726
EmES =N - 473
CSM (Note 24(iv)) CSM (BT EE24(v)) - 1,712
200 Ocean Boulevard Il, LLC 200 Ocean Boulevard I, LLC 1,283 12,083
410 Sierra Vista 410 Sierra Vista = 564
Related parties 25l
FRE S A (Note 24(v)) hE SR (BT 24Gv) 726 726
FINBEE FNBRREHE 36,050 96,050
Connected parties BT
Zhonghui Investment (Note 22(ii)) Zhonghui Investment (B3 22(i)) 1,638 924
B AT (Note 22(i) AR TR (R % 2201) 59,511 59511
R ITTE (Note24(v)) B AERZ)) 148,208 119310
363,242 425,019

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand except for the amounts due to CSM and 410
Sierra Vista are interest bearing at 8% per annum, the
amount due to 200 Ocean Boulevard Il, LLC is interest
bearing at 10% per annum and the amount due to R JT
% B H# E is interest bearing at 7% to 8% (2021: the
amounts due to CSM and 410 Sierra Vista are interest
bearing at 8% per annum, and amount due to 200 Ocean
Boulevard II, LLC is interest bearing at 10% per annum and
the amount due to B S JT/BFE HbEE is interest bearing at
7% to 8%).

& FE 1~F CSM A2 410 Sierra Vista
IR FF KT B ~ B
200 Ocean Boulevard Il, LLC 3%
TE I % F R 10% 51 B % JE
R IL8 B E B IR F F
7% ZE 8% B (2021 FF ¢ JE
{5t CSM K2 410 Sierra Vista 28 8
B EF Rgwat & - E&’E\H2OO
Ocean Boulevard Il, LLC 3 1A 3%
F R E10%ET B M FES R
TSR ER IE¢§¢7FIJT7%
EQ%ETB) N B RIEB
IR - R B NEERERE -
WERERARAR 20224
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

32. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 32, HARB 4w E kR
(@ Reconciliation of (loss) profit before taxation to cash (@ BrBLHT OF ) A 5482 28 0%
from operations Fr 45 1) B 48 3 MR
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFT
Operating activities REEH
(Loss) profit before taxation M FE AT (E51) = A (474,894) 90,301
Adjustments for: FEE -
Written-off of property, plant MsEYZ - WE KRB
and equipment 42 8
Depreciation and amortisation of property, M - R NMERE AN ER
plant and equipment and BETE R
intangible assets 3,316 3,297
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEENE = 945
Share of results of associates DR E N R EE 941 2,784
Gain on disposal on subsidiaries HERB ARG (11,412) (17,142)
Gain on disposal on associates ek NI o - (4,720)
Exchange alignment PE 5 % (3,549) 8912
Finance costs B R R AN 27,766 32,197
Interest income FE A (8,936) (5827)
Realised gain on financial assets at fair BATEFABR 2 RmERE
value through profit or loss, net EEzEE fﬁqﬂl i F R (1,304) (8,538)
Changes in fair value of WEMERTEE
investment properties 31,596 29,978
Gain on revaluation upon transfer of HEEREMELENEHKE
investment properties (376) -
Write-down of properties under WO R EZ A # IR FE
development to net realisable value 692,981 -
Write-down of completed properties to net i35 2 & A 5 & A B IR (E
realisable value 18,875 -
Operating profit before changes in EEESEBAZ
working capital KRR 275,046 132,195
Changes in working capital HEESEH
Decrease/(Increase) in properties BREPMERD,(HE0)
under development 1,166,467 (1,425,656)
Increase in completed properties held FEHEE BN
for sale 0 (1,420,215) (119,542)
Increase in contract cost B IR RIS BN (25,087) (52,851)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 N Eo A FE IR Iﬁi hn (14,851) (364,005)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade B 5 RAMER KT
and other payables CRt) /18 hn (2,394) 437,979
Increase in contract liabilities BABEEN 305,885 1,655,437
Increase in restricted cash ZPRHIIR S 1E 0 (29,763) (149,689)
Cash generated from operations BEELNRSE 255,088 113,868
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32. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 32, HAbHE &R EER (4)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities (b) RIE IS B A EER
Amount due
Bankloans  Amountsdue  Amountdueto toa former
and other torelated  non-controling  non-controlling Lease
borrowings parties shareholders sharenolder liabilities Total
BIEFR  EAERA IFERR  ERAERR
Efbfaw HE 8 8 HEAE &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTL ARETTL ARETTL ARETTL ARETTL ARETTL
At 1January 2021 #2021€1 518 1,753,686 33368 270470 54423 1,049 2,112,99%
Net cash flows: BERFE:
New bank borrowings raised SENTRITER 592937 - - - - 592937
New other borrowings raised SEMFTEBER 12859 - - - - 12859
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (177,08) - - - - (177,08)
Repayment of other borrowings BELMET (758519) - - - - (758519)
Advance from non-controlling FERRRES
sharenolders - - 11755 - - 11755
Repayment tonon-controlling mIEERREER
shareholders - - (91,090) - - (97,000)
Repayment to a former MEFEERRRERN
non-controlling shareholder - - - (6,000) - (6,000)
Advance from related parties BEAZH - 176,564 - - - 176,564
Repayment of related parties BHTER - (50,980) - - - (50,980)
Repayment of lease liabilities ERfZaE - - - - (1,059) (1,059)
Other changes: Afheg
Acquisitions of a subsidiary e 100,063 - - - - 100063
Repayment upon acquisition of WENE L DR RER
non-controlling interest of a BER
subsidiaries - - (56,148) - - (56,148)
Derecognition upon disposal of HENBARBRILRED
subsidiaries - (5212) - - - (5212)
Accrued interests fEzH7S - 6,568 1,120 - 2% 7712
Exchange realignment {5 % 1373 124 (848) - (14) 635
At 31 December 2021 R2021F128318 1640902 160432 135259 48423 - 1985016

WEERARAE 20228% )30
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

32. OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) 32, A & ER ()
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing activities (b) BEHE WS B A EHR (4)
(Continued)
Amount due
Bankloans ~ Amountsdue  Amountdueto to a former
and other torelated non-controlling non-controlling Lease
borrowings parties  shareholders  shareholder liabilities Total
BIERR FEfR RS ERkER  EAREER
EftfEs HE RRFE RRFE HEEE @zt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 ®202%5181A 1,640,902 160,432 135,259 48,423 - 1,985,016
Net cash flows: ReRFE:
New bank borrowings raised SENTRITER 458,111 - - - - 458,111
New other borrowings raised SENFEMER 2,772 - - - - 2,172
Repayment of bank borrowings BREFITER (312,388) - - - - (312,388)
Repayment of other borrowings BRAMET (13,238) - - - - (13,238)
Advance from non-controlling FERBRER
sharenolders - - 900 - - 900
Repayment tonon-controlling RIEERRRE
sharenolders - - (18,155) - - (18,155)
Advance from related parties BE RS - 3,033 - - - 3,033
Repayment to related parties AEs T ER - (61,750) - - - (61,750)
Other changes: At
Accrued interests JESTAIE, - 9,626 - - - 9,626
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAT - - (428) - - (428)
Transfer of category PEER - - (1,750) 1,750 - -
Eichange realignment AR 19,788 - - - - 19,788
At 31 December 2022 R2022F128318 1,815,947 1m,341 115,826 50,173 - 2,093,287
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

33.

A F I BB IR LR

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
s ARET T ARET T
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG 3 1,331,739 1,486,751
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H MW FRIE 131,149 192,304
Financial assets at FVPL BATESABZY
DRLEE 1,751 1,607
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEEY 77,131 3,924
210,031 197,835
Current liabilities =R
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERNFIE 13,363 12,368
Net current assets REEESRE 196,668 185,467
NET ASSETS EERE 1,528,407 1,672,218
Capital and reserves EXRR#E
Share capital i@ 26(b) 2,585 2,585
Reserves e 33(a) 1,764,840 1,748,305
Accumulated losses Z25HEE 33(a) (239,018) (78,672)
TOTAL EQUITY MR 1,528,407 1,672,218

This statement of financial position was approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 and signed on its
behalf by:

Zhou Li
AF
Director

EF

I ERARE R 2023F3 A3 BESE
EgHERKETE  YAUATEER

REE

Fan Wenyi
3BT
Director

EF

i P A PR

20224k
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B Z2022F 12 A31 HILFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

242

COMPANY (Continued)

(@)

Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

A F I BB IR DL ()

(@) R A CER 23 B 52 )
$Elﬁ?/\$’§éﬁﬁ%% }ﬂZ‘B ZHJWJ
“@J% $ TE%DiiﬂE,HHFEEJﬁE
BEEARBYEBFBOT

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Reserves
ffE
Share Other Exchange Total  Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve reserves losses equity
RiEE Hib R HERE BRE ZiER BEs
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB1000 RMB1000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARBTR  AR¥TR  ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2021 R 1 A1 BRER 236,791 1,416,700 100279 1753770 (74:865) 1,678,905
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (3.807) (3807)
Other comprehensive loss for the year.  FREM 2 EEIHE :
Exchange differences on translation of BB HHEZ 27 E%
financial statements to presentation ~ BJE X £5
currency - - (5465) (5465) - (5465)
Total comprehensive loss FRRAERAE
for the year - - (5465) (5465) (3807) (9272)
Balance at 31 December 2021 and R0VENAIAR
1 January 2022 WNE1 R BNER 236,791 1,416,700 94,814 1,748,305 (78,672) 1,669,633
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (160,346) (160,346)
Other comprehensive loss for the year.  EREM 2 EER :
Echange differences on translation of R E B HHEZ 27 E%
financial statements to presentation MR Z5
currency - - 16,535 16,535 = 16,535
Total comprehensive loss FRRAERLE
for the year - - 16,535 16,535 (160,346) (143,811)
Balance at 31 December 2022 Ro2FE12A31BHES 236,791 1,416,700 111,349 1,764,840 (239,018) 1,525,822

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 EE2022F 12 A31 B ILFE

34.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and 2021

34.

T B JE 2 ) 1)
MR202F R 2021 EFE12A31BZ X EWE

ANEEENTR
are as follows: RAIFBIT
Place of incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and Particulars ofissued attributable equity interest
Name of company business and paid up capital EtREE D Principal activities
L ERTRAR
AAER SR REE N RAFE 2022 W1 ETEEE
2022 2001 F
Sanya FengHuang Xincheng The PRC RMB400,000,000 100% 100% Property development
ZRREHH # A 400,000,000 70 NRER
Sanya Feng Huang Shui Yun Real Estate The PRC RMB280,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co, Ltd. & AR 280,0000007C MERR
“hEEKERHEREERD
Hainan Nan Hai Xiang Long Real Estate The PRC RMB50,000,000 100% 100% Property development
Development Co, Ltd. & AR 500000007 ESE
BEES R EREERAF
Danzhou Shuang Lian The PRC RMB412,500,000 98.91% 88.09% Property development
) Eae e AR 4125000007 S
Hamilton Avenue Investment, LLC The USA USD8,450,000 75% 75%  Property development
Hamilton Avenue Investment, LLC e (2021: USD7,700,000) ES
8450000% 7T
(2021% : 7,700000%7T)
Zhan'\'ang Hailan Real Estate Co, Ltd. The PRC RMB18,180,000 53.20% 5320% Property development
ELEEERBRAT P AR 181800007 NEER
Nanjing Hailan Hao Yue Properties Co, Ltd  The PRC RMB6,250,000 (Note i) 60% 60% Property development
AR AEEHESXARAA HE AR%6,25000070 S
G
200 Ocean Boulevard, LLC The USA USD24,250,000 75% 75%  Property development
200 Ocean Boulevard, LLC 8 (2021: USD22,300,000) NEER
24250000 7T
(20215 + 22300000%7T)
Yuxi Jingwa Property Development Co, Ltd.  The PRC RMB9,990,000 70% 70%  Property development
FEFEEHEREERAT e AR#999000070 NEER
Danzhou Hailan Jinhong Real Estate The PRC RMB10,000,000 99.45 81.795%  Property development
Development Co, Ltd, F AR 10,000,000 7T MELR
('Danzhou Jinhong’)
ENEESEEHEREERAF
([EME% )y
Foshan Hailu Real Estate Co, Ltd. The PRC RMB50,000,000 (Note ii) 28.05% 2805% Property development
(‘Foshan Hailu) P AR 500000007 NEER
BIERESXBRAR ([HhLEHK])" (PiaTin)
Qinzhou Tianmao Properties Co,, Ltd* The PRC RMB3,333,000 Nil 41.83% Property development
(‘Qinzhou Tianmao’) HE ARE3333000T  (Note35(b) MERE
PMARXEZEERAA ([HNKE]) ‘
: (Bif£E35(0))
* These entities are PRC limited liability companies. The English translation of the " g‘ﬁﬁ*.ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ o DRIMTEX

company names is for reference only. The official names of the companies are in

Chinese.

%%1 #a=z .

i HE P BT PR )

TIE’K%%M%EPY °

20224k
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34.

244

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The registered share capital is RMB50,000,000 and the remaining registered share
capital of RMB26,500,000 is committed by the Group to inject on or before 10 August
2025.

(i) These companies are held by the Group through more than one tier of shareholding
structure which leads to effective equity interest attributable to the Group in these

companies to be less than 50% while penetrating to the bottom shareholding.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

The following table lists out the information relating to Danzhou Shuang
Lian and 200 Ocean Boulevard, LLC the subsidiaries of the Group which
have a material non-controlling interests (“NCI") either as at the 31
December 2022 or as at 31 December 2021. The summarised financial
information presented below represents the amounts before any inter-
company elimination.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

34. FAKTE S FRRELE (K8)

Wi

0] FEM A% B A R 50,000,000 7T + AN 58 [ A
720254 8 A 10 A sk z BlE AR T st A AR
ARHE 26,500,000 7T ©

(i) ZERRBMARERBER - EOFRER
FA  BHAKERZERRNEGHERRK
DI 50% @ REF2E B HKERK -

EZRB LRANAKRRRMBRETD

BYEFEXEIBERAEEEEF
BENEABINMELRT - EFRS
REEMHBARNFEEERRER
RILEK °

TRIREBEE 2022912 A31 HEE
E2021F 12 A3 BAEBEHE EAIEE
Pt RS ([FE4R IR MR ) 2 I B A B4 M
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34. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 34. BB A R RE SR (48)
(@ Danzhou Shuang Lian (@) & JH =
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 £
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETE

NCI percentage JEERERA DL 1.091% 11.91%
Current assets MEVEE 1,711,578 1,492,280
Non-current assets EMBEE 68,622 14,651
Current liabilities mEaE (1,259,859) (767,686)
Non-current liabilities FErEaE (279,002) (349,002)
Net assets BEFE 241,339 390,243
Carrying amount of NCl PR S A BRE (A 67,384 154,877
Revenue W %5 1,167 1,604
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year 4 A 518 & 2 [ &5 1B 4258 (172,932) (16,430)
(Loss) profit attributable to NCI VR M e FE A (5 18) ‘& 7 (15,457) 1,693
Cash flows used in operating activities KEEHITENIRE SR (69,789) (90,537)
Cash flows used in investing activities KEEHTANIESR (48) (191)
Cash flows from financing activities MEETHELENRESR 72,070 88,455

WEERARAE 20228 % D45
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34.

246

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@

Danzhou Shuang Lian (Continued)

In year 2013 and 2014, the Group entered into a series of
investment agreements with Nanjing San Long Cement Company
Limited (“Nanjing San Long") and Danzhou Shuang Lian, where
the Group eventually acquired 60% of the equity interests of
Danzhou Shuang Lian from Nanjing San Long in January 2014 (the
"Acquisition I"). The Danzhou Shuang Lian project is divided into
Danzhou Phase | and Danzhou Phase II. At the time of the
Acquisition |, Danzhou Phase | with an area of approximately 89
mu was partially under development and was in the process of
pre-sale, while Danzhou Phase Il with an area of approximately
569 mu was a piece of undeveloped land. Pursuant to the relevant
investment agreements, Nanjing San Long as the non-controlling
shareholder continued to manage, develop and undertake fully
the risk and reward of Danzhou Phase | until its completion and
disposal. The books and records, including ledgers and bank
accounts of Danzhou Phase | and Danzhou Phase Il are maintained
separately. Danzhou Phase | is an autonomous and operationally
distinct business division that would remain under the direction of
Nanjing San Long after the Acquisition |.

In 2020, the Group undergone a series of capital injection and
acquisitions, at 31 December 2020, the Group's effective equity
interest in Danzhou Shuang Lian was 80.09% through holding i)
100% equity interest in Sanya Zhongzekai Industrial Co., Ltd.
("Sanya Zhongzekai”) which holds 60% equity interests in
Danzhou Shuang Lian; ii) 65% equity interest in Hailan Shiye
(Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd. (‘Hailan Shiye Guangzhou") which holds
72.61% equity interests in Guangdong Jinzhong Hongpeng Zhiye
Co., Ltd ("Guangdong Jinzhong Hongpeng") which holds
29.208% equity interests in Danzhou Shuang Lian; and iii) 65%
equity interest in Hailan Shiye Guangzhou which holds 9.7%
equity interests in Danzhou Shuang Lian.

In September 2021, Hailan Hao Yue Holding (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd.
("Hailan Hao Yue Holding"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company acquired 27.39% equity interest of Guangdong
Jinzhong Hongpeng which holds 29.208% equity interests in
Danzhou Shuang Lian and the debts of RMB56,148,000 at a total
consideration of RMB74,837,000. At 31 December 2021, the
Group's effective equity interest in Danzhou Shuang Lian was
increased to 88.09%.

HAILAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

34.

T Bt JBg 2 I A HE A (A
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6 M B B5k (48 )
2013 % 2014FF > NEBHER
RoEKEBREEQAR(ER=
*EJ MAEMERET L — RIIEE
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34. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@

Danzhou Shuang Lian (Continued)

On 7 July 2022, Sanya Zhongzekai acquired 72.61% equity interest
of Guangdong Jinzhong Hongpeng from Hailan Shiye Guangzhou
at a total consideration of RMB1. Upon the completion of this
acquisition, the Company has 100% equity interest of Guangdong
Jinzhong Hongpeng through i) direct holding 100% equity
interest in Sanya Zhongzekai which holds 72.61% equity interests
in Guangdong Jinzhong Hongpeng; and ii) indirect holding 100%
equity interest in Hailan Hao Yue Holding which holds 27.39%
equity interests in Guangdong Jinzhong Hongpeng. This
acquisition constituted a change in the equity interest of a
subsidiary without a change in control and was accounted for as
an equity transaction. The difference of RMB958,000 between the
carrying amount of debit balance of the non-controlling interests
in Guangdong Jinzhong Hongpeng of RMB958,000 and the non-
controlling interests in Danzhou Shuang Lian of RMB49,606,000 at
the date of this acquisition and the fair value of the consideration
paid of RMB1 was recognised in the transaction with non-
controlling interests reserve within the equity.

On 10 November 2022, a group restructuring was carried out of
which Sanya Zhongzekai acquired 9.7% equity interests of
Danzhou Shuang Lian from Hailan Shiye Guangzhou at a total
consideration of RMB105,410,000. This acquisition constituted a
change in the equity interest of a subsidiary without a change in
control and was accounted for as an equity transaction.
RMB22,428,000 of the non-controlling interests in Danzhou
Shuang Lian, representing the non-controlling interests of 3.40%
held through Hailan Shiye Guangzhou before this acquisition, was
recognised in the transaction with non-controlling interests
reserve within the equity.

34, JAME A FIRORESS (48)

(@

6 ) 8 M (%)

R202F7H78  =ZasipiEEE
HEEEEMNRBEERSEBEW
7261% 5 - BREBARE 1T -
R TKE - NARBEB)E
EREAE-THREI(EFBEERD
EIEBE R 7261% 8 1) 2 P AE
Kii) B A 88 STk (K
BERSEEREMN2739%KE) 2
HpEKE - EEERSERBNEE
WEE‘ %?Kuﬁzﬁ%%ﬁfz#—ﬁﬁwgﬁ
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INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(@

Danzhou Shuang Lian (Continued)

Upon the completion of the two acquisitions in 2022, the
Company's effective equity interest of Danzhou Shuang Lian was
increased from 88.09% in 2021 to 98.908% as at 31 December
2022, through i) indirect holding 100% equity interest in
Guangdong Jinzhong Hongpeng which holds 29.208% equity
interest in Danzhou Shuang Lian; and direct holding 100% equity
interest in Sanya Zhongzekai which holds 69.70% equity interest in
Danzhou Shuang Lian.

These two acquisitions in 2022 constituted changes in the equity
interest of a subsidiary without a change in control and was
accounted for as an equity transaction. RMB72,034,000 of the non-
controlling interests in Danzhou Shuang Lian was recognised in
the transaction with non-controlling interests reserve within the
equity.

The assets and liabilities as well as revenue, cost of sales and other
items in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income related to Danzhou Phase | have been
included as part of the assets and liabilities as well as profit or loss
and other comprehensive income items of Danzhou Shuang Lian
as they are not legally separable from other assets and liabilities as
well as profit or loss and other comprehensive income items
related to Danzhou Phase II. Notwithstanding the fact that the
nominal NCI percentage of Danzhou Shuang Lian is 1.092% (2021:
11.91%) at the end of the reporting period, the economic interest
of the non-controlling shareholder of Danzhou Shuang Lian
represented 100% interest of Danzhou Phase | and 1.092% (2021:
11.91%) interest of Danzhou Phase Il at the end of the reporting
period.

The net profit or loss, net assets or liabilities arising from Danzhou
Phase | are wholly attributable to, and accordingly are deducted
through the inclusion of such amounts in, the non-controlling
interests in the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income and the consolidated statement
of changes in equity.
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34. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 34,
(b) 200 Ocean Boulevard, LLC

T 6 B R R A (48)
(b) 200 Ocean Boulevard, LLC

2022 2021

2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ TR ARKET T

NCI percentage R ERA DL 25% 25%
Non-current assets EMEEE 457,902 -
Current assets mEEE 1,666 340,912
Current liabilities mEBE (305,728) (158,972)
Non-current liabilities EREBAE - (44,572)
Net assets BEFE 153,840 137,368
Carrying amount of NCl| R R EREE 38,287 34,342
Revenue Uz 1,528 -
Loss for the year FREIE (9,696) (2,237)
Other comprehensive income (loss) Hih2EEA (E18) 12,991 (3/425)
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year A2 E A (E18) 4258 3,295 (5,662)
Loss attributable to NCl VTR e e FE (G 1R (2,424) (1.416)
Cash flows used in operating activities EEEFETANIE SR (127,847) (162,378)
Cash flows from investing activities RERELEMNRESR = 188
Cash flows from financing activities MEEFHELENRER 129,320 161,916
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35. ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

250

(@

(b)

Acquisition from NCI of Shenzhen Hailan Hao Yue
Investment Development Co., Ltd. (“Hao Yue
Investment”)

On 12 April 2022, Hailan Hao Yue Holding, an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired 35% equity interest in
Hao Yue Investment from the NCI at a total consideration of
RMB1,050,000. Upon the completion of this acquisition, the
Company has 100% effective equity interest in Hao Yue
Investment.

This acquisition of 35% equity interest in Hao Yue Investment
constituted a change in the equity interest of a subsidiary without
a change in control and was accounted for as an equity
transaction. The difference of RMB463,000 between the carrying
amount of the non-controlling interests in Hao Yue Investment of
credited balance of RMB1,513,000 at the date of this acquisition
and the fair value of the consideration paid was recognised in the
transaction with non-controlling interests reserve within the
equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 10 November 2022, the Group entered into a share transfer
agreement, to dispose of the entire equity interests of 65% in
Jiangxi Hailan Hongji Real Estate Development Co., Limited*
(“Jiangxi Hailan") and its subsidiary Qinzhou Tianmao (together
named as “Jiangxi Hailan Group”), to an independent third party
(the "Buyer”) at a total consideration of RMB39,210,172 which
comprises of RMB1 for the transfer of equity interest and debt
settlement arrangement for assigning a debt of RMB39,210,171
due from Jiangxi Hailan to the Buyer. The disposal was completed
on 15 November 2022 and Jiangxi Hailan Group ceased to be
subsidiaries of the Company. The financial results of Jiangxi Hailan
and Qinzhou Tianmao are not consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Group since the completion date.

At the end of the reporting period, the balance of RMB39,210,000
was recorded as amounts due from third parties and included in
other receivables.
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35. ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. B Ko S B A ) (48D
(Continued)
(b) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (b) HEMEBAE ()
The following summarised the consideration received and the AT EWREUAREERERE
carrying amount of assets and liabilities at the respective date of REHE R HNIREE :
disposal:
Total
et
RMB'000
AREBFT
Net liabilities disposed of: FrEEaEFE
Property, plant and equipment LEN NS 92
Deferred tax assets BEEIBEE 2,864
Properties under development BRPME 110,391
Trade and other receivables B 5 R A M EWGRIE 145
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITHEH 11
Prepaid value-added tax and other taxes TERHIEER R EAMTRIE 280
Payment in advance SEENEN 2,991
Trade and other payables 8 5 N E AR IR (61,639)
Consideration payables FERRE (57,370)
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBAE (11,455)
(13,690)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBARNKE :
Total consideration wRE 39,210
Net liabilities disposed of i EaETE 13,690
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR M 2 (2,278)
Less: debt settlement arrangement W EBEERHE (39,210)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries k=i NG 11,412
Analysis of net cash outflow on disposal of HEMBLARMNREREH
subsidiaries FEDN
Cash consideration RENE -
Cash and cash equivalent disposed of FEEReRBECEEY (1)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARNRSREFE (1)
* These entities are PRC limited liability company. The English translation of the * HEERBATRAERETAR - RAIMNEX

company name is for reference only. The official name of the company is in

Chinese.
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Financial Summary

A B 2

Results & For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20206 2021 £ 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT ARBTT ARBTT AR%TR
Revenue Uz 1410474 354,688 720,670 557,571 1,391,710
Profit (Loss) before taxation BRI ATRF (E518) 544,002 (9,140) 185,434 90,301 (474,894)
Income tax expenses Frisfipx (362,923) (47,497 (153,478) (132,021) (152,959)
Profit (Loss) for the year FERHEHM (E18) 181,079 (56,637) 31,956 (41,720) (627,853)
Attributable to: THALRE -
Owners of the Company KARHEEA 179,538 (18897) 64,034 15448 (631,634)
Non-controlling interests RS 1,541 (37,740) (32,078) (57,168) 3,781
Profit (Loss) for the year FRHEM (E18) 181,079 (56,637) 31,956 (41,720) (627,853)
Assets and Liabilities BEREE As at 31 December
Mm12H31H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184F 20194 20206 2021 5 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETT ARBTT ARBTLT AR%TxR
Total assets BEE 5,043,240 4943414 7,543,276 8925713 8,698,542
Total liabilities HBEE 2,893,816 2,826,229 5629318 7269188 7,661,974
Net assets BEEE 2,149,424 2,117,185 1,913,958 1656525 1,036,568
Equity attributable to the EREEB A
owners of the Company JElEHE R 1,811,257 1,852,442 1,484,553 1469,614 921,199
Non-controlling interests FEE i e 338,167 264,743 429,405 186,911 115,369
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